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~ NABI designs, produces and services buses and coachesand

~develops technology and business processes so as to deliver - .

 dependable and efficient transport solutions for our customers——

_ Every product s-designed to miimize operating costs and -

~.provide high levels of comfort o' make bus and coach travel

- attractivewhich assists our cistomers to win more passengers.

 We recognlze the "i'm;portah?e of stable and ‘cb‘n\spétiﬂt_"i‘ve, long-
term business r"éla'tibnshipsi with_all of our busines$ partners and

- that our futtjir:‘e"s‘u;cessfdép'elhdsf;qthr,tﬁé\‘cocmrﬁitment and .

| effectiveness of a motivited and highly tfai‘nedWOfoO’rce- g




200! Financial Highlights

Millions of US Dollars except ratios and where otherwise indicated

2001 2000
Overall performance
Vehicles sold (units) 1,319 960
Total revenue 345 248
Net income 8 2
Earnings per share 1.73 0.39
Operational performance
Gross profit 45 33
EBITDA 23 15
Operating income 4 1
Financial status
Cash and cash equivalents 2 3
Total assets 221 191
Long term debt 32 29
Net debt / Equity 0.93 1.28
Shareholders’ equity 71 63
Margins and ratios
EBITDA margin (%) 6.57 6.09
Operating margin (%) 4.12 4.24
Net margin (%) 2.31 0.70
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the Directors

Report of

Introduction

In 2001 the NABI Group, one of the ten largest
bus manufacturing groups in North America and
the European Union, significantly improved its
sales and consolidated its acquisition of Optare in
the United Kingdom.

It was a year in which, despite the economic
challenges following the terrorists’ attacks in the
United States in September, we were able to
make significant progress in securing the Group's
objective of positioning itself as a leading supplier
of buses and other passenger-carrying vehicles
on a global scale. This means that NABI:

* Is firmly established as the second-largest
supplier of transit buses in the US, with a
substantial increase in both sales and
market share;

¢ Has entered the private sector market in the
US, where it has not previously competed,
with an innovative fow-floor small bus;

* Has a major presence in the highly
competitive UK market for buses and small
coaches, and has now supplied all of the
country's largest privatized operating groups;

* Has an estimated market share of 18 percent
of the US heavy duty transit bus market and
8 percent of the UK city bus market;

Is developing revolutionary technologies,
particularly the introduction of the lighter and
more fuel-efficient CompoBus™;

Is building new, or significantly enhancing,
efficient manufacturing bases in the US, the
UK and Hungary;

Is harvesting the talents and capabilities of its
people - now numbering nearly 1,900 on two
Continents; and

¢ Is exploiting the product and market synergies
it has available throughout its worldwide
operations.

Results

Consolidated net sales value rose by 39 percent
year-on-year to US$ 344 million, resulting from a
more than 37 percent increase in unit vehicle
deliveries, up from 960 in 2000 to 1,319 in 2001,
together with a 21.3 percent growth in
aftermarket parts and service revenue to US$
38.2 million. Over 88 percent of total revenues
were derived from bus sales, with the remainder
coming from parts and service.

The revenue relating to 75 vehicles out of the
1,319 delivered during the year is being
recognized over the periods between five and
six years. The amount recognized in 2001 in
respect of these vehicles is US$ 0.8 million and is
in addition to the net sales value.

Gross profit grew by 34.9 percent while
operating income rose by 35.3 percent
compared to the same period of 2000.

Net income was US$ 7.95 million (US$ 2.78
million in 2000 reduced to US$ 1.74 million after
adjustment for the cumulative effect of a change
in accounting policy) and delivered a fourfold
increase in earnings per share to

US $1.73 in 200! (from US$ 0.39).

Significant expenditure continued to be incurred
on Research and Development to create new
products and manufacturing processes, providing
the Group with its own patented technology.
During the year new products were introduced
into series production; additional costs relating to
the pre production phase were charged as they
were incurred.

The improved results achieved in 200! were due
to two important factors - rising sales in the US,
where the Group is one of the few strong and
profitable suppliers in the transit bus market, and
the first full year of consolidation of Optare in
the UK, which was acquired in February 2000.

US transit bus market

Our strong performance in the North American
transit bus market continued - by the year-end
we had delivered a total of some 3,000 buses
since we entered the market and had a further
3,000 on order or on option. This order backlog
amounts to three year’s production and is worth
some US$ 1.1 billion.

The Company’s unique blend of manufacturing
and engineering capabilities in both the US and
Hungary gives it tremendous advantages and
resilience in challenging market conditions and
has enabled it to win sales from |9 of the 50
largest fleet operators.

Buses are designed and the shells built in
Hungary, where skills are high and manufacturing
costs are comparatively low with final assembly
and the installation of high-cost components
being undertaken in a state-of-the-art facility in
Alabama. Sales and marketing is managed from
California, close to many principal customers.

New technology - the
CompoBus™

NABI is a world leader in fiber-reinforced
composite technology for buses, which is set to
play a major role in improving the efficiency and
environmental friendliness of our customers’
operations. In both appearance and technology,
our advanced 45ft bus modei embodies this
approach, allowing more passengers to be
carried without a weight penalty, resulting in
improved fuel efficiency per passenger carried.

Qur reputation for cost-effective, reliable
products was initially won with conventional
buses using mostly steel construction. Now, at a
time when the imperative is to entice more
passengers out of their cars and on to public
transport, a new line of transit buses is being
produced called CompoBus™.

These vehicles offer such features as easy-access
low-floor designs built using SCRIMP®
technology, a revolutionary fiber-reinforced
composite construction process.

NABI has secured an exclusive worldwide license
for the application of this SCRIMP® technology
for buses from its originator, TPl Composites

Inc. During 2001, litigation between NABI and
TP was settled amicably allowing production of
the CompoBus™ line to commence. A prototype
vehicle successfully passed mandatory US testing
in 2000.

By the end of 2001, a total of | 14 CompoBus™
vehicles were on order, including 56 45C-LFW
LNG for the city of Phoenix, Arizona, 20 40C-
LFW CNG for Los Angeles County Metropolitan
Transportation Authority



and a further 8 45C-LFW LNG buses for
Tempe, Arizona. Additionally, in January 2002
Los Angeles awarded us a second contract for a
further 30 of the CompoBus™ design.

The US private sector

The delivery during 2001 of UK-built buses to a
major private sector US customer - American
Eagle Airlines (AEA) - takes the company into a
new sales arena and demonstrates the real
potential for exploiting our products in new
markets.

The NABI 30LFN model, developed from the
Optare Solo, is now in service at AEA's
operations at airports across the USA and in
Puerto Rico. Re-engineering the Solo to meet
US requirements proved to be a demanding
technical and production program but the
low-floor design offers the operator significant
competitive advantages. In particular, it delivers
for passengers - frequently encumbered with
luggage - easy access, with one low step to a
flat floor.

The AEA order, which has the advantage of
displaying NABI's new product at strategic sites
across the US, represented our first sales in the
private bus market. Selling into this fully
commercial market requires different techniques
than in the transit bus sector, where public
procurement tenders are used, and we have
been able to combine the local knowledge of
our US sales team with the private market
experience of their UK colleagues.

As a result, NABI started to establish a
nationwide dealer network during 2001 to sell
the 30LFN model. We received strong interest
in the product from a variety of potential
dealers and we expect to have appointed 10 by
the end of 2002, each capable of delivering the
levels of customer support and service that
NABI expects.

The UK marketplace

In the UK, our subsidiary, the Optare Group -
Britain's third largest transit bus maker when

it was acquired in 2000 - is also a business that
utilizes innovative design and technology.

It enjoys a reputation for producing attractive,
advanced vehicles and led the transition to
low-floor products. Despite strong competition,
Optare has increased its market share, with its
in-house designed line of integral buses in which
body and chassis form a single structure.

The latest model - the Optare Alero - features
lightweight and corrosion-proof composite
construction technology and is designed to
improve traveling conditions for many
disadvantaged passengers. Until the Alero was
introduced, those with impaired mobility had
little alternative to riding on what are effectively
converted trucks.

Deliveries of the Alero commenced towards
the end of 2001. Work began on a substantial
expansion of the Rotherham facility to
manufacture up to 500 units of the model each
year, enabling our total production of vehicles in
the UK to reach

) A HER

over |,000 units per year once the expansion

comes on stream in mid-2002.

For most of 2001 the UK bus market was
affected by lower investment levels by the big
operating groups and other economic factors,
but by the fourth quarter our order-backlog had
strengthened, with deliveries of some products,
including double deckers, scheduled through to
the end of 2002. During 2001, Stagecoach -
the last of the UK's major bus operators not
already on our customer list - took delivery of
its first 40 Optare vehicles while the large

UK operator, First Group, took delivery of its
100th Optare Solo.

In addition to its transit buses, Optare sells
severa! luxury midi coaches in the UK, an
important niche business that accounts for some
15 percent of UK turnover. Optare’s range of
coach-built vehicles is based on Mercedes-Benz
chassis and in 2001 deliveries of a new | 6-seat
vehicle began, a revised version of the larger
39-seat model was introduced and plans for a
new entry-level product were unveiled.

3
;
|
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Exploiting transatlantic
synergies

The NABI businesses share a philosophy of
product and technological innovation and are
working to jointly exploit a number of synergies.
The delivery of UK-sourced products into the
US private sector market has begun and
underframes for the Optare Alero are being
shipped from our production plant in Budapest.

Left-hand-drive versions of the Solo and Excel
have been developed since these models offer
an excellent platform for NABI’s entry into the
25,000 unit per year European bus and coach
market. Early in 2002 the company’s initial
order for the Excel was won, from a
Hungarian operator.

Customer service

In both the US and UK, NABI is committed to
providing its customers with the highest levels of
aftersales service and support as the way to
secure repeat business and ongoing customer
satisfaction.

In both countries the Group's share of
aftermarket parts sales for buses and coaches
exceeded our new vehicle market share,
indicating the growing business in selling parts for
other makes of vehicles.

In the UK, we have invested considerable
energies in establishing the UniTec brand, which
offers customers a ‘one stop shop’ approach to
their parts and service needs, enabling them to
control their maintenance costs and ensuring
that their requirements are met from inside our
organization without the involvement of third

party suppliers.

In North America, we have added to our
aftersales capability with the consolidation of the
parts operations on to a single site in Chio,

the

operating in conjunction with the established
Service Center in Upland, California. The
aftersales operation obtained the 1ISO9002
certification during 2001.

This emphasis on serving customer needs after
the vehicles are delivered is wholly appropriate
given that the service life of transit buses can be
as much as |5 years, with the supplier being
contracted to maintain supplies of parts together
with service expertise for at least this period in
many US public tenders.

Expanding production

While work is underway to increase output in
Rotherham and Anniston, Alabama, and to
streamline processes in Leeds, it is on the new
Kaposvar facility in Hungary that most
production management attention is being
focused. CompoBus™ production is scheduled
to commence there in mid 2002.

The first phase of construction at this ‘green-
field' site was completed on schedule. Before
the end of 2001 the process of transferring the
required technology from TPl to NABI had
begun and workers from Hungary were being
trained in SCRIMP® construction methods in
the USA.

The future

The Group’s sales growth in the North American
transit bus market and its successful
consolidation of the Optare business has
established a secure platform for future business
development. The Group is encouraged by the
high level of repeat business being won from
customers on both sides of the Atlantic.

Sales in the important US private sector have
begun, the installation of production capacity to
grow Alero sales is well underway, start-up of
the important new Kaposvar facility is on
schedule and work on developing sales on the

European Continent is beginning.

Directors

Last year the Group delivered significant growth
and is now harvesting the benefits of bringing
together the management teams of the NABI
businesses in Hungary, the UK and the US.
Together, our executives have a wealth of
experience and talent, enabling us to be leaner
and more agile than many of our larger
competitors, which tend to be slower to react
to technological advances and market
developments.

However, the inherent lack of liquidity in the
Budapest Stock Exchange, where the Company's
shares are listed, has played a critical role in the
continuing weakness in our share price.

The outlook for 2002 is good, despite overall
market conditions that remain less than strong in
the face of the global economic slowdown and
following the events of September 2001. With
our strong order-backlog, delivery rates are
improving as extensions to our production
capacity come on stream. These achievements,
with expansion into the US private and European
transit bus markets, should allow our Company
to grow at a rate of some |5 percent per annum
in the period 2002 to 2005.

In the year ahead, our combined management
team will be able to focus strongly on key
business issues following the satisfactory
resolution of a number of time-consuming and
unproductive issues last year.

On behalf of the Board of Directors we would
like to pay tribute to the ongoing commitment of
our combined workforces across two
Continents. We can keep ahead only by their
drive and enthusiasm and we take this
opportunity to thank them.

Pr 2o

Péter Réna
Founding Chairman

Andy Racz
Chief Executive Officer



Board of

Péter Rdona,

Founding Chairman

Age 60. Founded the NABI Group in 1992.

He is also Deputy Chairman of the First Hungary
Fund and Chief Executive of Rona & Co.

A former President and Chief Executive Officer
of IB) Schroeder Bank and Trust Co.

Andy Racz,

Age 55. Has held the position of Director,
President and Chief Executive Officer since
1992. With 30 years experience in the bus
industry, he was previously chief engineer of
tkarus.

Csaba Zoltan,

Age 39. Director, Chairman of the Audit &
Budget Committee. A Senior Investment
Manager at Rona & Co, he was formerly a
business consultant to the First Hungarian
Investrment Advisory Ltd.

John F. Horstmann,

Age 52. Director, Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. Has been a member since 1997,
With 25 years of legal experience, he is also a
Partner in the United States law firm of Duane,
Morris & Heckscher, where he is Chairman of
the Reorganization and Commercial Finance
Section.

Directors

Mark Pejacsevich,

Age 79. Director and a member since 1997.

He is also a member of the Securities Institute
in London, and holds a number of non-executive
positions. Until 1996, he was the Senior
European Advisor at Robert Fleming Securities,
London.

Tamas Felsen,

Age 62. A member since 1997, he manages his
own consultancy business in Hungary. A former
Senior Vice President of Hungaria Hotels Rt.
where he was responsible for strategic and
business planning.

Russell Richardson,

Age 53. Director and Chief Operations Officer
since 2000. The founder of Optare Holdings
where he has served as its Managing Director
since 1993. He brings to NABI, 30 years of
experience in the bus industry.

Scheduled Meetings

The Board of Directors holds four regular
meetings in a year as set out in the Corporate
Calendar. These meetings deal primarily with
strategic issues, business planning and
performance, the closing of the business year
and preparation for the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders. Written resolutions are passed
in between meetings and extraordinary meetings
or telephone conferences are held when the
need arises.

Board Committees

The Board of Directors has two permanent
committees. The Audit & Budget Committee
deals with reports, forecasts, plans and other
financial matters, while the Remuneration
Committee is responsible for compensation, the
granting of share options, nomination of
Directors and other personnel issues. The
committees typically meet prior to plenary
sessions of the entire Board of Directors to
consider relevant agenda items and develop
recommendations.

Left to right: (Back Row) Csaba Zoltan, Russell Richardson, Tamas Felsen, Mark Pejacsevich,
(Front Row) Andy Racz, Péter Rona, John F Horstmann,
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United States of America

Woodland Hills, CA Anniston, AL
Primary function: sales office Primary function: final assembly
Products: All NABI products for the US market of buses Delaware, OH
Office area: 2,700sq ft Products: 35/40/40C/45C/60-LFW
' and 40/60-SFW integral buses Primary function: aftermarket parts
Employees: 9 sales and distribution

Technologies applied: painting, electrical,
mechanical and final assembly Products: All makes and models of
transit buses operated in the US

Qualifications: ISO 9001

Site area: 256,180 sq ft covered, on 30 acres

Upland, CA of land Site area: 60,000 sq ft covered
Primary function: service workshop Employees: 569 Employees: 47
Site area: 1.5 acres of land, 16.500 sq ft covered Qualifications: 1SO 9001 Qualifications: 150 9002
Employees: |3
o
Delaware, OH
Upland, CA
[

® Woodland Hills, CA

Ahniston, AL
' °




United Kingdom
Leeds

Primary function: production of transit buses

Products: Solo, Excel, Spectra, sales and
distribution of spare parts
Technologies applied: welding, painting, Rotherham

electrical, mechanical and final assembty Primary function: production of vehicles

Site area: 150,000 sq ft covered, on 6.8 acres UNITEC Service Center, sales and distribution
of land of coaches

Employees: 359 Products: Nouvelle, customized Solo, Alero
Qualifieations: 15O 9001 Technologies applied: welding, painting,

electrical, mechanical and final assembly

Site area: 35,000 sq ft covered, on 4 acres
of land

Employees: 145
Qualifications: ISO 9001

@ Budapest

@ Kaposvar

@® Leeds

L J
Rotherham

Hungary
Budapest

Primary function: painted steel bus body
production

Products: 35/40/60-LFW and 40/60-SFW integral
bodies, and the Alero underframe

Technologies applied: welding, painting, body
assembly

Site area: 245,000 sq ft covered, on 14 acres
of land

Employees: 695
Special: Group head office operates on the site

Qualifications: ISO 9001, 1SO 14001

Kaposvar

Primary function: CompoBus™ body production
Products: 40C-LFW, 45C-LFW, composite
components

Technologies applied: SCRIMP®

Site area: 53,820 sq ft covered, of 56 acres
of land

Employees: 39
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Products, Markets and
Customer Service

NABI has a well-earned reputation for
delivering leading technology and advanced
product lines in the North American
marketplace. Our consolidation of Optare
in the UK, achieved during 2001, enables
the Group to also offer such products in
European markets.

North America

In North America these span two classes of
vehicles: public transit buses and buses designed
for the private sector, the first of which
represents our core market.

NABI achieved its initial sales success in the
USA through the design and manufacture of a
full line of transit buses built by conventional
techniques but utilizing the unique combination
of manufacturing resources in Hungary and in
the USA.

This combination provides certain inherent
advantages in meeting the demanding
requirements of North American transit bus
operators. Design, engineering and
manufacturing are divided between our
operations in Anniston, Alabama and - in
Hungary - at Budapest and, in the future
Kaposvar, allowing us to take advantage of the
relatively low-cost, high-skills base in Hungary
and the advanced facilities of our purpose-
designed assembly plant in Anniston. No other
supplier in the North American transit bus
market can draw upon such an advantage.

Based upon our current order backlog, we
anticipate a market share increase from |8
percent to our target of more than 20 percent in
2003, amounting to the defivery of almost [,000
buses a year, while continuing to focus on sales
to the larger transit bus operators.

The production advantages
of Hungary

The attributes of Hungary as a source for both
design and manufacturing expertise have not
been widely appreciated outside the country, but
this is changing rapidly. Already major motor
industry players such as Volkswagen/Audi,
General Motors/Opel and Suzuki have
established plants in Hungary in order to take
advantage of a well-educated, highly-skilled and
motivated workforce inspired by newly
westernized political and economic systems.

Hungary itself is already part of NATO and will
shortly join the EU as a full member, underlining
the pace at which it has moved forward since
the post-War period. However, even during that
era, Hungary claimed to be the world’s largest
bus producer, supplying vehicles throughout
Eastern Europe and many countries beyond.
indeed, the Technical University of Budapest is
one of a mere handful of elete engineering
universities in the world with a specialized bus
engineering curriculum. Graduates of this

program liberally populate the engineering staff
of NABI.

This history gives NABI a long experience in
transit bus design and manufacture and a deep
understanding of customer requirements. Initially
this led to conventional bus designs using proven
steel construction methods. However, NABI is
now breaking this mould and developing
revolutionary models entirely of its own concept
and design, using new materials and construction
methods destined to transform operating

practices and efficiencies.




The future for bus design:
CompoBus™

Many of these new principles are incorporated in
the CompoBus™ line, which is largely
constructed of advanced composite materials
using SCRIMP® technology. This is a patented
manufacturing process for which NABI holds the
worldwide rights for bus applications. Already
proven in such demanding roles as racing yacht
hulls and automated airport people-movers, this
approach gives bus operators dramatically lighter
vehicles from which the risk of structural
corrosion is eliminated.

In the\se times of environmental pressures on
operators who must run buses in congested
urban areas, achieving a lower overall weight
delivers real benefits. Less fuel is burned and less
pollutants are emitted, assisting operators and
regulatory agencies in achieving their ambitions
and commitments with regard to serious and
politically sensitive environmental issues.

The practical result is that, in the important full-
sized bus sector, NAB/ has added to its standard
vehicle line the forty-five foot 45C-LFW model.
Five feet longer than other vehicles in this
category, and able to carry 20 percent more
passengers, this vehicle weighs no more, and
thus uses no more fuel, than a typical forty foot
steel bus. Combining this new construction
material with an advanced low floor design
delivers greatly enhanced accessibility for all
passengers, particularly those whose mobility is
impaired.

NAB!'s product line is gradually switching to low
floor designs and its key new models - the
40C-LFW and the 45C-LFW - are both easy to
operate and easy to access. As well as composite
body structures, these vehicles have multiplexed
electrical systems offering enhanced reliability
and easy fault diagnosis. NAB! was the first to
introduce this to the transit bus market in the
US, and Optare also pioneered similar
technology in the UK.

New designs and concepts such as the
CompoBus™ are vital in what remains a
strongly competitive market. NABI currently
sells to 19 of the 50 largest fleet operators in
the USA, each having hundreds if not
thousands of vehicles in service.

Outlook in the US market

Funded up to 80 percent by Federal
Government subsidies - secured through the
multi-year Transportation Equity Act for the
2!st Century - the US transit bus market has
increased substantially from around 3,700 units
a year in 1997 to approximately 5,000 units in
2001. This increase has been supported

by a steady increase in ridership figures
demonstrating the changing attitudes towards
public transportation in urbanized areas of the
United States.

The Group expects the US transit market to
remain at its current level of 5,000 units per
annum for the foreseeable future resulting in a
steady demand for NABI products.

In the North American private sector - where
MNABI has not competed previously - the
challenges are different. This is a sector where
small, privately run fleets often purchase through
dealers who also provide service support. NABI
is now establishing a national network of dealers
and the first have already been appointed. As a
secondary sales channel, NABI will continue to
identify and bid upon direct sales opportunities
with major users of shuttle buses such as airlines
and automobile parking lot companies.

own Centre
Via Main Street

The private shuttie bus market sector

demands an entirely different type of vehicle
than the city transit operators and, until its
acquisition of Optare, NABI had no suitable
product with which to compete. However, in
2001 NABI was able to enter this sector with its
new 30LFN model. Derived from the award-
winning Optare Solo, this low-floor, mid- size
bus proved an instant success with its first
customer - American Eagle Airlines.

Together, NAB! and Optare engineers created
a product specifically configured for the North
American market. Equipped with left hand
drive, a new power unit and a powerful air-
conditioning system, the 30LFN operates ina
variety of climatic conditions across the USA
providing airside services for American Eagle
passengers. The sale of 75 of this new NABI
model to American Eagle constitutes an
important inroad in establishing a presence in
this specialized market.

This market segment is more sensitive to the

overall state of the economy than is the case in
public transit. Nevertheless, a strong possibility
exists for NABI to gain market share utilizing its
public transit reputation and superior products.
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Products, Markets and Customer Service continued

UK market

Selling to the private sector is the norm for
Optare since the British bus market is largely
deregulated and privatized. By 2001 Optare had
delivered buses to all seven of the country’s
largest operating companies, underlining the
strength of its wholly low-floor bus models. Its
three core and class-leading vehicle lines- the
Excel full-size single decker, Solo small bus and
revolutionary new Alero product - all feature
easy access designs and each led the market
even before legislation enforced low floor
models in all sectors.

In 2001 a significant update of the Excel design
took place to further enhance the appeal of this
model. The Solo continues to be a successful
product with more than 1,000 in service or
on order from operators throughout the

UK and now in the USA as the NABI 30LFN.
Its design - honored by both a Queen’s Award
for Innovation and a Design Council
“Millennium Product” Award - has proved a
winner in every sense and one which still has
few direct competitors.

The Alero effect

Optimum packaging of critical components to
allow for a wide doorway and low steps
immediately behind the front axle is the secret of
the Solo’s success, and the same approach has
played a vital role in the design of the new Alero.
This is a small vehicle - with space for 16 seated
or wheelchair bound passengers - but it has a
low floor, full climate control, air suspension and
integrated safety standards - all features normally
associated with big buses. Incorporating these
features in a package which is attractively priced
when compared with the truck conversions
normally sold in this sector of the market
provides the Alero’s unique selling proposition.

The Alero is now creating a new market sector
for itself, with principal purchasers being
companies and local authority-funded
organizations that run rural, community, dial-a-
ride and other services aimed at those
passengers unable to access other modes of
transport. Alero’s one-piece composite body
technology - a first in the UK for any class of
passenger vehicle - provides the same weight
and corrosion advantages as NABI's
CompoBus™ concept in the US.

Although both the Alero and the CompoBus™
projects were well advanced before Optare was
acquired by NABI, the two vehicles demonstrate
a common thought process on behalf of the

two engineering teams. Now those teams -
amounting to over 80 engineers in three
countries - are linked and share information

and expertise.

Coach models

Aside from its transit bus products, Optare has
several successful midicoach models. Until now
these products - principally, the Nouvelle, Solera
and Soroco - have had coach bodies mounted on
chassis sourced from Mercedes-Benz. However,
the most recent addition to the product line, the
|6-seat Bonito, which is a new entry level
model, is based upon the Ford Transit chassis.
These vehicles, several of which are built to
Optare's demanding specifications by a Spanish
coachbuilder, have earned themselves a useful
sales niche in the coach market, with their

strengths being particularly appreciated in the
hotel and airport transfer markets.




Aftermarket sales

Providing first rate access to aftermarket spare
parts is critical to success in the bus business for
two reasons. First, in an industry where typical
service life may be |5 years or more, bus
operators demand good service to ensure their
buses stay where they belong - on the road in
passenger-carrying operation, and secondly,
spare parts sales represent an important revenue
and margin stream for the manufacturer.

Established four years ago, NABI's Aftermarket
Division has achieved an estimated 8 percent
share of the US transit bus parts market which,
since this is larger than its vehicle market share,
confirms the company’s considerable success in
selling spare parts. In the UK, Optare achieved
14 percent of its total sales in 2001 from parts
sales, again underlining the importance of selling
aftermarket parts across the industry.

E-commerce purchasing technology will
eventually spread throughout the aftermarket
arena and will be readily adopted by the larger
transit operators. In the UK the Group is already
testing its own e-commerce marketplace.

A trend towards the outsourcing of bus fleet
maintenance is clear in the privatized UK
market, as operators focus more strongly upon
their core businesses of marketing and operating
bus services, and this may be expected to spread
to the US transit bus market. Contract
maintenance services offer NABI the chance of
participating in a stable, high value-added
business that is not capital intensive, secures
parts sales orders and provides operational and
maintenance information for bus manufacturing
and new product development.

W4755V1 |
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New markets

The Group's first step into the European
marketplace was the acquisition and
consolidation of Optare. We plan to further
diversify our geographic coverage and to
establish a market presence in the 25,000-unit
per annum (including intercity coaches) EU bus
market. The innovative product line, unique
composite technology, low-cost manufacturing
capability in Hungary and high quality standards
create an opportunity for the NABI Group to
become a recognized player in selected
segments of major European markets.

In the US, an important emerging market is
Bus Rapid Transit, or BRT. This is the utilization
of specialized, high-capacity low-floor buses,
sometimes in dedicated lanes or roadways, to
provide higher speed and higher capacity
services as a cost-effective alternative to light
rail. NABI finds itself ideally positioned to take
advantage of this new market not only with its
high capacity, low-floor full-sized buses, but
especially with its super-capacity 45C-LFW
Compobus™ as well as its mega-capacity
60LFW articulated bus.

NABI has already delivered hundreds of such
BRT vehicles to the second largest US transit
operator, the Los Angeles MTA. NABI 40LFW
buses are used exclusively by the MTA for its
highly popular “Rapid Bus” BRT service. These
vehicles are operated in specially designated
corridors using clean burning natural gas fuel,
unique kiosks for boarding and alighting
passengers, and traffic-signal priority systems
to eliminate unnecessary stops at boulevard
traffic lights. The MTA has also ordered

30 new 45C-LFW Compobus ™ vehicles to
expand this popular service. Marketing

efforts are now underway to make other

US operators and consultants aware of
the possibilities of NABI's 45C-LFW
and 60LFW models.
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Product

Philosophy

Introducing new technologies and devising
innovative solutions have always constituted
fundamental elements of NABI's and Optare’s
strategies. Our substantial market shares have
been won through carefully planned product
development programs that in 2001 bore several
fruits, further enriching the Group's product
portfolio.

New technologies

The introduction of SCRIMP®, the fiber-
reinforced composite technology used to
manufacture CompoBus™ bodies, together with
completion of the SCRIMP® factory at the
Kaposvar Manufacturing Facility, has led to the
increased application of composite components
on traditional steel structured vehicles. The
SCRIMP® license and its related design know-
how is being patented, transforming the
company into the only bus maker in the world to
possess substantial proprietary bus construction
technology.

2001 achievements

NABI is a pioneer in utilizing three-dimensional
CAD systems in design and continues to
strengthen its capabilities through co-operation
with technology-orientated educational
institutions in the countries in which the Group
operates. Virtual testing capabilities of both a
static and dynamic nature were considerably
enhanced during 2001.

i

Il

evelopment

Our steel-bodied traditional product line in the
USA was further developed with the completion
of two new models: the 30LFN and the 60LFW,
a low floor 60-foot articulated bus that extends
the product line into a new area.

This new model, together with the 30LFN, a
30-foot medium size low floor vehicle derived
from the multiple award winning Optare Solo
model from the UK, means that we are capable
of delivering to the US market an integrated
product line-up including both low and standard
floor height vehicles ranging from 30 to 60 foot
in length and powered by either diesel or

natural gas.

Completion of the design work on the 45C-LFW
model has produced the second vehicle in the
revolutionary CompoBus™ product line. This
45-foot long, tow-floor vehicle offers seating for
20 percent more passengers than traditional
40-foot buses yet still meets axle weight statutes
using a single pair of axles. This unique design
effectively fulfills the low overall life-cycle-cost
principle endorsed by the US Department of
Transportation.

Design engineering of Optare’s |6-seat small

bus, the Alero, was also completed during 2001.
The class-leading Alero attests to Optare’s
engineering capabilities,with its superior technical
features such as a stainless steel frame structure
combined with a single-piece, molded,
composite outer skin. The Alero provides a safe
and comfortable ride for passengers coupled
with the long lifetime and low maintenance

requirements demanded by operators.

Future goals

NABI will continue to introduce new products
with advanced features in the coming years, such
as hybrid drives, lightweight construction, lower
fuel consumption and enhanced styling and
comfort. These are drivers for success both for
our customers and for our products.

To deliver these advances we are continually
enhancing our engineering capabilities with new
software introductions and with an ongoing
intensive training regime being undertaken by
engineering staff. New products for the UK and
the Continental European market will be
introduced during 2002 that will provide the
impetus to reinforce our existing market
positions as well as providing opportunities in
new markets for the Group.
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Care for

the Environment

Approach

NABI designs, manufactures and markets
products and services in a safe, environmentally
sound and socially responsible manner. This
includes giving full consideration at all levels of
the decision-making process on the impacts of
our actions on the environment and on the
health and safety of our employees, customers
and the public. We believe that responsible
environmental, health and safety policies enhance
economic success and customer satisfaction as
well as ensuring that public expectations are
met.

The product line

NAB/'s products are a visible testament to the
company’s environmental commitment. Natural
gas fueled vehicles made up 77 percent of US
production, while stainless bodied buses - that
require substantially less chemical surface
treatment in the manufacturing process - made
up more than half of the vehicles delivered.
Environmental concerns are also addressed by
NABP’s new CompoBus™ product line which is
both lightweight and contains no steel in its body
structure.

™

Operating the more fuel efficient CompoBus™
models will not only improve the air quality of
inner cities but will constitute a major
improvement in steel production related
emissions as manufacture takes place using a
patented closed cycle technology.

CERTIFICATE NUMBER:
202013

Daily operations

"NABI ‘takes a comprehensive approach to

addressing the environment in which it operates.
Codified Environmental Management Systerns
(EMS) are being developed that affect not only
the production but workplace health and safety
issues as well. The Budapest Plant obtained the
ISO 14001 certification to its EMS in 2000 and
has since then prepared an annual audited
environmental report. It is also the one closest
to becoming accredited according to the BS8800
standard for workplace health and safety. It is
intended that our other plants will follow suit
during the coming years.

While NABI! routinely monitors its own
emissions, it was also subject to numerous
checks performed by regulatory authorities
during 2001. None of these found levels of
emissions to be in breach of statutory limits. As a
result of the multi-year investment program into
advanced technologies and environmental
protection measures, the use of resources such
as electricity, natural gas and water were all
carefully controlled and in some cases reduced
during 2001, while harmful emissions continued
to diminish.

Training

Associates and employees are routinely trained
in safe operating practices and in the safety and
environmental requirements applicable to

their areas of responsibility. NABI also provides
training to its customers regarding the
environmentally sound operation and
maintenance of its buses as part of the
training package provided under the terms
of its sales contract.

e
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Human Resources

The Group recognizes and appreciates the roles
of its employees in its successes. With this in
mind it devotes considerable attention to
maintaining the motivation and skills of the
workforce as well as providing a safe,
comfortable and efficient workplace. Good
communications and regular consultations
between management and employees are
encouraged so that everyone is regularly made
aware of all the factors which affect them as
employees, the impact of market conditions on
our overall business and the performance of
NABI's individual operating units.

Headcount

During 2000 employee headcount increased by
30.3 percent compared to 1999 in order to
meet the requirements of the increased order
backlog and a further 39.2 percent due to the
acquisition of Optare. In 2001 there was a
further 7.1 percent increase attributed to the UK
and Hungarian operations to support increased
levels output and the expansion in Kaposvar.

Compensation

During 2001 we continued to implement a
compensation systern, based upon individual
personal development and performance both in
respect of work quality and quantity of output.
This system has delivered substantial efficiency
increases, especially in the US.

Management is incentivized by a system utilizing
key performance indicators which are
benchmarked to business plan targets as well

as industry best practice.

A qualified workforce

NABI's workforce received substantial training to
enhance the qualifications of its skilled workers,
engineers and other professionals. For Hungarian
employees, an extensive English language program
aimed at improving Group integration continued,
with extracurricular learning on an individual basis
being supported. Over 250 employees of the
Group hold at least one university or college
degree.

Synergies

For the first time in 2001, the full benefits of the
Optare acquisition in terms of widening the
abilities of the management team could be seen.
Considerable exchange of ideas and operating
practices have taken place and a new senior
management group has been formed consisting
of Andy Racz, Chief Executive Officer, Russell
Richardson, Chief Operating Officer, Roger
Fossey, Chief Financial Officer and Peter
Horvath, Deputy Chief Financial Officer. This
group implements the strategy as agreed by the
Board, monitors the performance of each
operating unit and ensures that the full benefits
of the integrated businesses are delivered.

The harmony with which the entire management
group works is a good indicator of the potential
for the future expansion of the Group’s business

in new markets.

Recognition

NABI's Chief Operating Officer, and the
Managing Director of Optare, Mr Russell
Richardson, was awarded the prestigious
Wedlake Saint 2001 Award for his Services to
the UK Bus Industry. Mr. Richardsen, founder of
Optare, has 30-year experience of the UK bus
industry.



Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The management of NABI Rt. has prepared the accompanying financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2001and 2000, and is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. We maintain a
system of internal accounting controls, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance that,
amongst other things, transactions are properly executed and financial reports are dependable. Our
financial and accounting policies, practices and reports are regularly reviewed by the Audit & Budget
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Roger Fossey
Chief Financial Officer

March 7, 2002

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
North American Bus Industries Rt.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of North American Bus Industries Rt.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of
income and comprehensive income, consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of North American Bus Industries Rt. and its subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2001
and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for recognition of revenue effective January |, 2000.

5 Huomaawe 1Y
pme Y 3 4'\'

KPMG Hungaria Kft.

March i1, 2002



NAB! GROUP Annual Report and Accounts 2001

North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets December 31, 2001 and 2000

(alt amounts in thousands of US$)

Assets 2001 2000
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,988 2,648
Accounts receivable, net of 97 allowance for losses as of December 31, 2001

and 2 as of December 31, 2000 75,955 47,275
Inventories, net 64,727 76,767
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5813 2,529
Deferred income taxes 2914 1,660
Total Current Assets 151,397 130,879
Property and Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 50,263 38,683
Intangible Assets, net of accumulated amortization of 486 as at December 31, 2000 - 487

Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of |,807 as of December 31, 2001 and

855 as of December 31, 2000 18,728 19,239
Deferred Income Taxes 308 1,097
Deferred Debt Issuance Costs, net of accumnulated amortization of 199 as of December 3 1, ‘
2001 and 94 as of December 31, 2000 365 470
Other Non-Current Assets 119 120
Total Assets 221,180 190,975

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 60,010 36,102
Notes payable 32,018 48,059
Bank overdraft ’ 658 1,525
Current portion of long term debt 3,047 3,714
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities 4,598 4,979
Warranty provisions 6,282 4,250
Total Current Liabilities 106,613 98,629

Long-Term Liabilities
Long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations, net of discount of 3,742 as of December 31,

2001 and 4,506 as of December 31, 2000 31,678 29,417
Deferred income taxes 1,458 -
Obligations under residual value guarantees 3,046 -
Deferred revenue 7,647 -
Total Long-Term Liabilities 43,829 29,417

Negative Goodwill, net of accumulated accretion of 724 as of December 31, 2001
and 646 as of December 31, 2000 72 150

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15) - -

Shareholders’ Equity:
Share capital (4,624,600 and 4,616,600 shares at par value of HUF 1,000 per shares issued and

outstanding as at December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively) 25,474 25,433
Additional paid in capital 25,612 25,530
Retained earnings 20,351 12,398
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (771) (582)
Total Shareholders’ Equity 70,666 62,779
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 221,180 190,975

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

(all amounts in thousands of US$, except earings per share which is in US$)

2001 2000
Net Sales 344,034 247,602
Deferred Revenue Recognized 849 -
Total Revenue 344,883 247,602
Cost of Sales (300,051) (214,369)
Gross Profit 44,832 33,233
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses (29,737) (21,948)
Amortization of Goodwill (874) 777y
Operating Income 14,221 10,508
Interest Expense (4,983) (5,443)
Amortization of Debt Discount (764) (793)
Amortization of Deferred Debt Issue Costs (104) 94)
Interest Income ‘ 45 . 331
Other Income/(Expense) 947 (949)
Income before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy 9,362 3,560
Income Tax Expense (1,410) (781)
Net Income Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy 7,952 2,779
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy - (1,035)
Net Income 7,952 1,744
Comprehensive Loss Adjustment
Foreign currency translation loss (189) (582)
Total Comprehensive Income 7,763 1,162
Basic Earnings Per Share Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy 1.73 0.62
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy - (0.23)
Basic Earnings Per Share 1.73 0.39
Diluted Earnings Per Share Before Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy 1.67 0.61
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Policy - (0.23)
Diluted Earnings Per Share }.67 038

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 200} and 2000

(all amounts in thousands of US$, except earnings per share which is in US$)

Accumulated Total

Number of Share Additional Retained Other  Shareholders’

Shares Capital  Paid in Capital Earnings Comprehensive Equity

Loss -

December 31, 1999 4,470,000 24,951 18,859 10,655 - 54,465

{ssuance of warrants - - 5,300 - - 5,300

Stock options exercised 146,600 482 1,371 - - 1,853

Net income - - - 1,744 - 1,744

Foreign currency translation adjustment - - - - (582) (582)

December 31, 2000 4,616,600 25,433 25,530 12,398 (582) 62,779

Stock options exercised 8,000 28 41 - - 69

Purchase of treasury shares 65,162 (220) (659) - - (879)

Sale of treasury shares (65,162) 233 700 - - 933

Net income - - - 7,952 - 7,952

Foreign currency translation adjustment - - - - - (189) (189)

December 31, 2001 4,624,600 25,474 25,612 20,351 any 70,666
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

(all amounts in thousands of US$, except earnings per share which is in US$)

2000

2001
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income 7,952 1,744
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by (used in) Operating Activities:
Depreciation and amortization 5,782 4,425
Impairment loss 848 308
Amortization of deferred revenue (849) -
Warranties 2,032 1,395
Amortization of goodwill 952 855
Accretion of negative goodwill (78) (78)
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs 104 94
Amortization of debt discount 764 793
Deferred income taxes 997 (1,352)
Unrealized forward exchange loss 174 299
Foreign currency translation loss - 188
Adjustment to goodwill (441) -
Changes in Assets and Liabilities: Net of Effects of Purchased Business
Accounts receivable, net (28,680) (15,976)
Inventories 12,040 (33,689)
Prepaid expenses and other (3.284) (1,097)
Accounts payable 23,908 8,569
Accrued liabilities and other (381) 1,169
Increase in obligations under residual value guarantees 3,046 -
Increase in deferred revenue 8,496 -
Other (liabilities) assets - 161
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 33,382 (32,192)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of business, net of cash - (19,044)
Purchase of property and equipment (18,277) (6,093)
Net cash used in investing activities (18.277) (25,137)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of share capital 69 1,853
Purchase and sale of treasury shares, net 54 -
(Decrease) increase in bank overdraft (867) 1,525
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable 39,375 88,720
Principal payments on notes payable (55,805) (60,410)
Borrowings under long-term debt agreements 6,552 29,510
Repayments of long-term debt (3,767) (6,415)
Principal payments on capital leases (1,565) (1,028)
Payment of debt issuance costs - (563)
Net cash (used in} provided by financing activities (15,954) 53,192
Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes on Cash 189 582
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (660) (3,555)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 2,648 6,203
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 1,988 2,648
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North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

(all amounts in thousands of US$, except earnings per share which is in US$)

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: 2001 2000
Cash paid during the year for: interest, net of interest capitalized 4911 3,89
lncome taxes 4,131 4,050
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:

Notes to former optare shareholders - 7,944
Issirance of warrants - 5,300
Purchase of Optare:

Consideration paid - 28,373
Liabilities assumed - 24,793
Total - 53,166

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements December 3 I, 2001 and- 2000

(all amounts in thousands of US$, except earnings per share which is in US$)

|. Organization and Business

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of North American Bus
Industries Rt. (“NABI Rt.” on a stand-alone basis) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group” or “NABI") as of and for the years ended December
31, 2001 and 2000 consist of the accounts of NABI Rt. consolidated with
the following subsidiaries:

9% held as of December 31

2001 2000
Subsidiary
North American Bus Industries, Inc. 100% 100%
Optare Holdings Ltd. 100% 100%

The Group — headquartered in Budapest, Hungary — designs, manufactures
and sells buses and provides aftersales services and sells spare parts to its
customers in the USA and the United Kingdom.

The predecessor of NABI Rt. (NAB! Kft.) was established in 1992 by the
First Hungary Fund, a closed equity fund registered in the Channel Islands.
NABI Kft. was transformed into an Rt. (company limited by shares) and its
shares listed on the Budapest Stock Exchange on August |, 1997 In

Total revenue for the years ended December 31
consisted of the following:

2001 2000

Bus sales in the USA 264,859 171,004
Bus replacement part sales in the UK 28,705 23,654
Bus sales in the UK 40,943 45,136
Bus replacement part sales in the uk 8,583 7,328
Other sales 944 480
Deferred revenue recognized 849 -
344,883 247,602

The Group competes in public tenders for the opportunity to win contracts
for the construction and sale of transit buses to mass transit authorities in
the USA. A significant portion of the Group’s revenue during any specific
accounting period is received from those customers whose contracts are
being fulfilled during that period. The amount of bus sales revenue
attributable to the Group's major customers for the years ended December
31 is as follows:

) g ) United States 2001 2000

February 2000, North American Bus Industries, Inc. (“NABI inc.”) acquired
Optare Holdings Ltd. of Leeds, United Kingdom (“Optare”). LA CMTA (Los Angeles, CA) . 30% 31%
As of December 31,2001, 54% (December 31, 2000: 54%) of NABI Re's oo 1+ (Orange County, CA) 17% 4%
) ) ) City of San Antonio (San Antonio, TX) 11% -
share capital was o?vned by the First Hungary Fund Ltd.; the remainder of Metropolitan Dade County (Miami, FL) 6% 1%
the shares are publicly traded. City of Phoenix (Phoenix, AZ) 5% 5%
Property and equipment at December 3| was located: Riverside Transit Agency (Riverside, CA) 5% -
RTD (Denver, CO) 4% 17%
Mass Transit Authority (Baltimore, MD) 4% 7%
2001 2000 Other 5% 14%
Hungary 21,335 17317 United States, Total 87% 79%

United States of America 17,752 10,151

United Kingdom 11,176 11,215 United Kingdom 13% 21%
50,263 38,683 100% 100%

Also as a result of the nature of operations, typically a significant portion of
the Group's accounts receivable is due from those customers who took
delivery of buses within the preceding months in the USA. As of December
31, 2001 and 2000, 43% and 25%, respectively, of total accounts receivable
were due from one customer. Most of these accounts receivable were
collected subsequent to the year-end.
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North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements December 3 I, 200 l-' and 2000

(all amounts in thousands of US$, unless otherwise stated)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation - The accompanying consolidated financial
statements present the Group’s consolidated financial information in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America ("US GAAP”).

Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of NABI Rt., its wholly owned subsidiary NABI Inc. and
the wholly owned subsidiary of NAB! Inc., Optare Holdings Ltd. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Currency Translation - NABI Rt. maintains its books in Hungarian Forint
and uses the United States Dollar (*US$") as its functional currency to
reflect the primary currency in which the Group conducts its business.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities, principally inventories, prepaid
expenses, property and equipment and share capital, and any revenue and
expenses related to these items, have been remeasured into US$ using
historical exchange rates. Non US$ denominated monetary assets and
liabilities have been remeasured using the year-end exchange rates. The
related exchange gains and losses have been recognized in the consolidated
statements of income.

Optare maintains its books in British Pounds, its functional currency. The
assets and liabilities of Optare are translated into US$ at year-end exchange
rates and the results of Optare’s operations are translated at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. Foreign currency translation gains or
losses are recorded as a component of other comprehensive loss in the
accompanying consolidated statement of income and comprehensive
income. Cumulative foreign currency translation gains or losses are
recorded as a separate component of shareholder’s equity in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Cash Equivalents - All highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less at the time of purchase are treated as cash equivalents.

Inventories - Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out
method) or market value.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment, except
demonstration vehicles, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Demonstration vehicles are stated at the lower of cost or market value.
Depreciation is determined using the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which are generally as follows:

Buildings 20 to 50 years

Building and leasehold improvements 10 years

Plant and equipment 4to | years

Office furniture and equipment 5to |1l years

Vehicles 4 to 7 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Demonstration and rental vehicles 4 to 6 years
Buses leased to customers 10 years

The Group leases certain equipment under finance leases, which are
classified under broperty and equipment and depreciated using the straight-
line method over the lease term. The related obligations are recorded as
liabilities. The depreciation is included in depreciation expense.

Buses sold to customers on terms which include an option for the customer
to sell, under certain conditions, the buses back to the Group at a future
date are accounted for as assets leased to customers and are included in
property and equipment and depreciated on a straight line basis over their
expected useful lives of ten years (Note 6). The depreciation is included in
the depreciation expense.

The Group capitalizes expenditures for major renewals and betterments
and charges the cost of current maintenance and repairs to operating
expenses. Interest costs associated with major property additions are
capitalized while the projects are in the process of acquisition and
construction. During 2001 and 2000, the Group capitalized | and 0 of
interest expense, respectively.

Estimated Warranties - Provisions are made for the estimated warranty
costs on buses sold. The warranty period for buses sold is specifically stated
in the contract with the individual customer. Warranty terms and periods
for major components typicaily correlate to the warranty terms and
provisions provided to the Group by the component’s manufacturer.
During 200} and 2000, the Group incurred warranty costs of 3,709 and
3,378 respectively.

Goodwill and Negative Goodwill — Goodwill, which represents the
excess of purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired, is amortized
on a straight-line basis over 20 years, which represents the expected
periods to be benefited. The Group assesses the recoverability of this
intangible asset by determining whether the amortization of the goodwill
balance over its remaining life can be recovered through undiscounted
future operating cash flows of the acquired operation. The amount of
goodwill impairment, if any, is measured based on projected discounted
future operating cash flows using a discount rate reflecting the Group's
average cost of funds. The assessment of the recoverability of goodwill will
be impacted if estimated future operating cash flows are not achieved.

Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of NAB! Inc.’s net
identifiable assets over the cost of the 1992 NABI Inc acquisition and is
being accreted using the straight-line method over 10 years.



Impairment - The Group reviews long-lived assets for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of
these assets may not be recoverable based on its expectation of
undiscounted future cash flows associated with the operation of the assets.
If impairment is indicated, any impairment losses are reported in the period
in which the recognition criteria are first applied based on the difference
between the carrying value and the fair value of the assets. Long-lived assets
held for sale are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value, less
costs to sell such assets. During 2001, the Group recorded 848 of
impairment losses (2000: 308).

Debt Issuance Costs - Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized to
interest expense on a straight-line basis over the lives of the related debt
agreements, principally 2 to 6 years.

Debt Discount - Debt discount is amortized using the effective interest
method over 6-years, the life of the related senior notes payable.

Revenue Recognition - The Group recognizes revenue from the sale of
buses and replacement parts upon delivery to the customer except in
instances where the contract with the customer provides that the customer
may on certain conditions sell the bus back to the Group at a specified price
on a future date. Revenue on such sales is deferred and the difference
between the initial sales price and the future repurchase obligation is
recognized as income in equal installments over the period until the first
date on which the option can be exercised by the customer. The deferred
revenue and the Group's obligation under the buy-back option are reported
as long-term liabilities (Note 9).

Prior to 2000, NABI Inc. had recorded revenue at the time the bus was
completed and accepted for shipment by the customer. With effect from
January |, 2000, NAB! Inc. changed its accounting policy for revenue
recognition to comply with changes in accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The Group recorded an
adjustment in 2000 of 1,035, net of tax, as the cumulative effect for the
period prior to January |, 2000 of the change in accounting policy.

Forward Exchange Contracts - Forward exchange contracts are
accounted for as speculative forward exchange contracts and are marked to
market in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and
comprehensive income (Note 4).

Research and Development Expenses - The Group expenses research
and development costs as they occur. R&D expenses amounted to 2,297 for
the year ended December 31, 2001. (2000: 966).

Income Taxes - Deferred income taxes are recorded for differences in
book and tax bases of assets and liabilities based on the tax rates and laws
enacted as of each balance sheet date. The effects of future changes in tax
laws or rates are not anticipated. Deferred income taxes are classified
according to the classification of the related asset or liability for financial
reporting. '

Accounting Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Eamings per Share - Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted
average number of shares outstanding. The weighted average number of

shares used in computing basic earnings per share was 4,585,150 for the
year ended December 31, 2001 (2000: 4,512,758). Diluted earnings per
share considers the impact of potential common shares, unless the inclusion
of the potential common shares would have an anti-dilutive effect. The
weighted average number of shares used in calculating diluted earnings per
share were 4,755,950 for the year ended December 31, 200 (2000:
4,519,577).

Stock Based Compensation - Fixed stock option plans are accounted for
in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. ("APB") 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees", and related interpretations.
The Group adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. ("SFAS") 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation” (Note 14).

The Group accounts for variable stock option plans in terms of SFAS 123,

Recent Accounting Pronouncements - In june 2001, the FASB issued
SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS [42 requires that
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be
amortized, but are instead tested for impairment at least annually.
Impairment is measured as the excess of carrying value over the fair value
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life. As of January 1, 2002, the
Group will cease to amortize goodwill and will write off negative goodwill.
The amount of goodwill amortized in 2001 was 874 (2000: 777).

Reportable Segments - The Group operates in a single business segment,
the supply of buses and bus replacement parts. Analyses of sales by
country, major customers and the location of the Group's property and
equipment are set out in Note |.

Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2000
financial statements to conform to the 200} presentation.

3. Purchase of Optare

On February 9, 2000, NABI Inc. acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of
Optare, a United Kingdom based manufacturer of buses. Consideration
consisted of cash financed primarily through the issuance of long-term debt
and notes payable denominated in British Pounds Sterling (“GBP") issued to
the former Optare shareholders (the “Optare Notes”) (Note 8).

Goodwilt arising from this acquisition of 20,527 is being amortized using the
straight-line method over 20 years. Effective January |, 2002 NABI stopped
amortization of goodwill based on SFAS 142. The consolidated statement of
income and comprehensive income includes the operations of Optare from
the date of acquisition.

During 2001, the Group subsequently revised its allocation of the purchase
price related to adjustments for certain acquisition contingencies and to its
deferred tax position. The following summarizes the effects of the
adjustments:

Original Goodwill 20,093
Adjustment to:

Acquisition expenses (250)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 684
Adjusted Goodwill 20,527
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4. Foreign Exchange Contract

The Group utilizes forward exchange contracts to limit the impact of
exchange rate fluctuations on its consolidated results of operations. During
2001 and 2000 the Group entered into forward sale exchange contracts
with notional amounts as of December 31, 2001 of 439 (2000: 8,156)
denominated in U.S. dollars and British Pounds and various European
currencies. During 2001 and 2000 the Group entered into forward
purchase exchange contracts with notional amounts as of December 31,
2001 2,925 (2000: 5,935) denominated in US Dollars and British Pounds
and various European currencies. Such contracts expire on various dates
through February 2002. During 2001, the Group recorded a net unrealized
forward exchange rate loss of 174 (2000: 299) as a component of other
income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statement of income
and comprehensive income, on marking these forward exchange contracts
to market.

5. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following at December 31:

7. Intangible Assets

The Group had an agreement with a producer of composite structures
based in the United States of America under which it had made payments
for manufacturing rights to utilize the composite technology for bus shell
manufacturing. In August 2001, following a revision of the agreement,
amounts paid, net of accumulated amortization, have been reclassified to
prepaid expenses as the revised agreement provides that they will be
treated as advance payments in respect of royalty payments due on future
sales of buses manufactured using the composite technology.

8. Credit Agreements
Lines of Credit

During 2001, the Group had line of credit agreements (the Lines),
denominated in various currencies, with various banks. Information
pertaining to these by entity is as follows:

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000

Amount  Borrowings Amount  Borrowings

200! 2000 of Line  Outstanding of Line Qutstanding

Raw materials 29,290 36,005 NABI Inc. 44,000 28,500 47 600 39,100
Work-in-process 23,564 13,711 NABI Rt. 7,000 501 14,400 6,580
Finished goods 11,873 27,051 Optare 18,636 3,017 14,636 2,379
64,727 76,767 69,636 32,018 76,636 48,059

As at December 31, 2001, inventory is stated net of allowance for slow
moving and obsolete inventory of 1,421 (2000: 871).

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 3 1:

2001 2000

Real estate 18,877 19,639
Factory furniture, equipment and vehicles 21,608 16,891
Office furniture and equipment _ 10,219 9,028
Equipment under capital leases 651 651
Buses under lease (note 9.) 8,308 -
Demonstration vehicles 1,241 1,125
Rental vehicles 289 966
Construction in progress 5,207 1,320
66,400 49,620

Less: Accumulated depreciation (16,137) (10,937)
50,263 38,683

In 2001, the Group delivered buses to a US customer, which are a subject
to a conditional buy-back arrangement and have been treated as operating
leases (Note 9). At December 31, 2001 the gross amount of equipment
and related accumulated amortization recorded in property, plant, and
equipment under this transaction was as follows:

Buses under lease 8,308
Less: Accumulated depreciation (480)
7,828

Depreciation and amortization expense was 5,200 and 4,425 for the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

All of the Lines mature on or before December 31, 2002. Subsequent to
December 2001, a facility of 15,000, which matured in January 2002, has
been renewed for a further year.

NABI Rt.

The Lines require payment of interest periodically, ranging from one to
three months. Interest on borrowings is based on London Inter-Bank Offer
Rate (LIBOR) plus margin. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000 NAB! Rt.
had 501 and 9,579 in outstanding borrowings under the lines leaving 6,499
and 4,820 available for future borrowings.

NABI Inc.

The Lines require the payment of interest periodically, ranging from one to
three months. Interest on borrowings under the Lines are; at NABI Inc.’s
option, based on either LIBOR, Base Rate plus margin. As of December 31,
2001 and 2000, NABI Inc. had 28,500 and 39,100 in outstanding borrowings
under the Lines leaving 15,500 and 3,500 available for future borrowings.

Optare

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Line consisted of a 4,779 and
4,182, respectively, revolving facility to cover Optare’s overdrafts and a
10,455 revolving facility for spot and forward foreign exchange transactions
and for currency options (Exchange Facility). Outstanding borrowings under
the Line as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, related entirely to overdrafts.
As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, Optare had 2,001 and 2,379,
respectively, outstanding under the overdraft facility leaving 2,779 and
1,803, respectively, available for future borrowings. Interest is payable
quarterly on the Line, based on the base rate or LIBOR plus margin.
Optare also has short term facilities from Hungarian banks on LIBOR

plus margin basis and one of these facilities was partly utilized as of
December 31, 200).



The majority of the Lines (i) require the Group to provide to the banks,
within periods ranging from ninety to one hundred fifty days subsequent to
December 31 of each year, audited financial statements prepared in
accordance with US GAAP (i) place restrictions on the Group's ability to

change its business, create liens, guarantee or incur additional indebtedness,

pay dividends, repurchase its outstanding common stock, consolidate,
merge and dispose of its business and (iii) require the Group to maintain
certain financial ratios based on the Group’s US GAAP financial statements.
In addition, certain of the Lines include a cross default provision ("Cross
Default") whereby a default would occur if the Group was in default of any
covenants of any of their other Lines or long-term credit agreements.

As of December 31, 2001 the Group was in compliance with all the
requirement of its Credit Lines.

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt (*Debt”) consists of the following at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

2001 2000
Senior Notes payable, net of debt discount of 3,742 as of December 31, 2001 and 4,506 as of
December 3!, 2000 - annual principal payments of 6,667 commencing January 31, 2004 through
January 31, 2006 and interest at 9.3% (an effective rate of 14.6%) per annum payable semi-annually 16,258 15,494
Note payable to a Hungarian bank - quarterly principal payments of 500 commencing April 15, 2003
through January 15, 2006 with interest at LIBOR plus margin (an effective rate of 3.2% as of
December 31, 2001), payable monthly 6,000 6,000
Optare Notes denominated in GBP due December 7, 2002, interest at the Barclays Rate, as defined,
plus margin (an effective rate of 4.5% at December 31, 2001}, payable semi annually ‘ 1,858 4,524
Notes payable to a UK Bank denominated in GBP - quarterly principal payments of GBP121 thousand
through November 5, 2007 with interest at Base Rate, as defined, plus margin (an effective rate of 8.25%
at December 31, 2001) 2,826 3,485
Development loan - repayable in july 31, 2003, interest free 18 -
Eximbank term loan - repayable on December 15, 2003 with interest at LIBOR and LIBOR plus margin,
payable in December 2003 6,434 3,000
Capital lease obligations 1,231 628

Long term debt

34,725 33,131

Less: Current portion

(3.047)  (3.714)

Long-term portion

31,678 29,417

Senior Notes

On February 9, 2000 NABI Rt. and NABI Inc. entered into the Note and
Warrant Purchase Agreement with Metropolitan Life Insurance Company
and Metropolitan Property and Casualty Insurance Company (collectively
“Metropolitan”) (the “Metropolitan Agreement”) through which NABI Inc.
issued to Metropolitan 20,000 in senior notes, of which 13,045 were used
to fund the Optare acquisition (Note 3}, with the remainder used to fund
NABI Inc.’s general working capital needs. The Metropolitan Agreement
also required NABI Rt. to issue to Metropolitan a warrant to purchase
330,258 shares of its common stock for an exercise price of HUF 5,446
(US$ 20.91) per share. The value of the warrant of 5,300 at February 9,

2000, determined through the use of the Black Scholes Option Pricing
Model, was accounted for as a credit to additional paid in capital offset
against the par value of the senior notes (debt discount). The warrant is
currently exercisable, in whole or in part, and expires on January 31, 2006.
The Group is required, within 90 days from the exercise date, to issue the
Shares to Metropolitan and register the Shares with the Budapest stock
exchange. The Group has the option to purchase the Shares prior to such
issuance and registration for a price per share equal to the weighted average
share price as defined in the warrant agreement (Share Price). If the Group
does not issue, purchase, or register the Shares within 90 days from
exercise, the Group is required to pay Metropolitan an amount equal to the
Shares multiplied by the lower of the Share Price on the exercise date or

@
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90 days after the exercise date. Additionally, NABI Rt. has the option to
redeem the warrants, in whole or in part, for HUF 2,723 ($10.45) if the
Share Price equals or exceeds 150% of the exercise price for 20
consecutive days commencing February |, 2003. During 2001 and 2000,
no warrants were exercised.

Optare Notes

NABI Inc. issued 7,944 of Optare Notes to the former Optare shareholders
as partial consideration for the Optare acquisition (Note 3). The Optare
Notes are guaranteed through the issuance by a bank of a guarantee facility
in favor of the former Optare shareholders. The guarantee facility is
guaranteed by NABI Rt. and places restrictions on NAB! Rt.'s and NABI
Inc.’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, make loans, or provide
guarantees or indemnities. The facility also requires the Group to maintain
certain financial ratios based on its consolidated US GAAP audited financial
statermnents and includes a Cross Default provision.

NABI Inc. is required to redeem the Optare Notes at the option of the
Optare Note holders, on specified dates. During 2001, NABI Inc. redeemed
2,505 of the Optare Notes (2,934 in 2000). NABI Inc. recorded a foreign
currency gain of 162 on the Optare Notes in 2001 (486 in 2000).

Notes Payable to a Hungarian and a UK Bank

The Notes are guaranteed by NABI Rt.

Development Loan

NABI Rt. entered into an agreement with the Education Ministry in H‘ungary
for the finance of research and development related to its articulated low
floor bus (60-LFW) under the Central Technological Development Program.
This agreement provides a total facility of 243 of which 25 percent is a non-
refundable grant and the remaining 75 percent is an interest free loan
repayable in one lump sum on July 31, 2003. NABI Rt. received |56 during
2001 from which |18 is repayable and outstanding as of December 31,
2001, The grant element of 38 is included in other income.

Capital Lease Obligations

The Group is a lessee under certain capital leases for property, plant and
equipment. These agreements have varying maturity dates through
December 2002. Interest expense related to capital leases obligations
totaled 51 and 69 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Aggregate scheduled maturities of the Group’s long-term debt agreements
as of December 31, 2001, adding back debt discount of 3,742, are as
follows:

2001

2002 3,047

2003 9,477

2004 9,142

2005 8,989

2006 7,489
Thereafter 323
38,467

9. Obligations under Residual Value Guarantees
and Deferred Revenue

During 2001, the Group sold certain buses under agreements, which
provide the customer with an option to sell the buses back to the Group at
specified prices after a period of five years. In accordance with EITF Issue
95-1, Revenue Recognition on Sales with a Guaranteed Minimum Resale
Value, the transaction has been accounted for as an operating lease.
Amounts received in the transaction in excess of the Group's residual value
guarantee obligation are recorded as deferred revenue and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the period to the first exercise date of the guarantee.

In 2001 849 of the deferred revenue was recognized in total revenue
{Note I1).

10. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to the short
duration of these instruments. The carrying value of long-term debt,

" excluding the Metropolitan Agreement, approximates fair value due to their

variable nature. The estimated fair value of the Metropolitan Agreement
totaled 22,738 and 17,741 as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
based on interest rates avaifable for borrowings with similar provisions as
noted in the respective agreements. Considerable judgment is required in
developing the estimates for fair value of long-term debt and, therefore,
such values are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be
realized in a current market exchange.

I 1. Other Income/(Expense)

Other income/(expense) consists of the following for the years ended
December 31:

2001 2000
Net currency exchange and
remeasurement effects 487 674)
Other 460 (275)
947 (949)

12. Income Taxes

Income tax expense consists of the following for the years ended

December 31:
2001 2000
Current taxes 1,817 4,865
Deferred taxes (407) (4,084)
1,410 781

The Group is liable for corporate income taxes based on the tax laws of the
jurisdiction in which it operates. The corporate tax rate in Hungary is 18%
and NABI Rt. enjoyed a 60% tax holiday in 2001 and 2000, bringing its
effective tax rate down to 7.2%. NABI Rt.’s tax holiday expires in 2003.

In the US, NABI inc. pays state taxes at various rates and federal tax at the
34%. In the UK, the corporate tax rate is 30%.



income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 differ from the amounts computed by the tax rate of 18% to income before income taxes.

The reasons for the differences are the follows:

200! 2000
Computed “expected” tax expense at 18% 1,685 641
Increase/(decrease) in income taxes resuiting from:
- Tax holiday (827) (1,091)
— Research and development (381 37
- Effect of foreign income tax differences 307 2n
— Goodwill amortization 353 291
— Other taxes 62 (26)
— Others 211 1,024
Total tax expense 1,410 781
Deferred tax balances at December 31 were as follows: 2001 2000
Assets (Liabilities)
Deferred income 735 -
Revenue recognition 352 540
Inventory (215) (210
Accrued warranty 1,568 928
Accrued vacation 174 6l
Other accrued liabilities 300 241
Short-term deferred tax asset 2,914 1,660
Property, plant equipment - (1,624)
Foreign interest expense - 1,873
Research and development costs - 962
Negative goodwill 27 62
Other 281 (176)
Long-term deferred tax asset 308 1,097
Property, plant equipment (1,458) -
Long-term deferred tax (liabilities) (1,458) -

13. Employee Benefit Plans

NABI Rt. makes contributions to the state and private pension plans as
required by law. NAB! Rt. had no unfunded employee benefits at December
31, 2001 and 2000.

NABI Inc. sponsors a 401 (k) Plan (the “NABI Inc. Plan™), effective July I,
2000 NABI Inc. matches 20% of employee contributions. During 200!, the
Group contributed 175 and (2000: 109), to the NABI Inc. Plan.

Optare sponsors a defined contribution pension plan for its employees (the
“Optare Plan”). Optare matches 2 per cent of employee contributions and

contributes |.15 percent of employee compensation regardless of the level
of employee contribution. During 2001 Optare contributed 246 (2000:218)
to the Optare plan.

14. Employee Share Option Plan

In June 1997, Shareholders approved an employee share option plan. Under
the terms of the plan, the Board of Directors may grant employees options
in NABI Rt.'s common shares at a price equal to 100% of the weighted
average market price calculated over the 60 trading days preceding the date
on which the option is granted. The aggregate number of shares in respect

of which options are granted under the share option plan, whether
exercised or not, may not exceed 10% of the outstanding shares of NABI
Rt. At December 31, 200!, a total of 447,000 shares were reserved for
grants under the share option plan; including the options outstanding. The
option agreements with the employees provide that the employee is
responsible for any taxes payable upon exercise of the options. All stock
options have a 5-year term and vest and become fully exercisable
immediately after the date of grant.

The weighted average fair value in USD of the share options granted during
2001 and 2000 were $2.05 and $9.06, respectively. The fair values were
estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model based on the
weighted average assumptions of: risk-free interest rate of 7.95% for 2001,
and 8.0% for 2000; volatility of 35.10% for 2001 and 27.14 % for 2000;
expected life of 4 years; and a dividend yield of 0%.

The Group applies APB Opinion No. 25 in accounting for its Plan and,
accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for its stock options
in the financial statements. Had the Group determined compensation cost
based on the fair value at the grant date for its stock options under SFAS
No. 123, the Group’s net income would have been reduced to the pro
forma amounts indicated indicated opposite:
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2001 2000

Net income As reported 7,952 },744
. ‘Pro-forma 7,716 1,401

Basic earnings per share As reported 1.73 0.39
Pro-forma I.68 0.31

Pro forma net income reflects only options granted in the current year.
Therefore, the full impact of calculating compensation cost for stock options
under SFAS No. 123 is not reflected in the pro forma net income amounts
presented above because compensation cost is reflected over the options’

immediate vesting period and compensation cost for options granted prior
to this year are not considered.

The following table summarizes information about share options granted at
December 31, 2001 and 2000:

Options Weighted Average

Outstanding Price in US (*)

As at December 31, 1999 342,400 12.52
Granted 54,000 21.87
Exercised (146,600) 13.30
Cancelled (6,000) 9.50
As at December 31, 2000 243,800 13.24
Granted 115,162 15.30
Exercised (8,000) 8.97
Cancelled (65,000) 19.58
As at December 31, 2001 285,962 13.8%

(*) The original HUF based option exercise prices have been converted into
US using the applicable year-end US / HUF exchange rate.

The following table summarizes the share options outstanding at
December 31, 2001:

Exercise Price Options Average
in US (¥) Remaining Life
14.34 65,162 0.19

13.45 115,800 0.56

10.57 43,000 2.05

14.66 12,000 2.58

16.55 50,000 4.24
10.57-16.55 285,962 1.92

(*) The original HUF based option exercise prices have been converted into
US using the applicable year-end US/HUF exchange rate.

15. Commitments and Contingencies

The Group is involved in routine litigation and other proceedings in the

normal course of business. Management believes that the resolution of

these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Group's
_financial position or results of operations.



6-year Financial Summary
All figures in millions of US Dollars except where otherwise indicated

1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
Summary of Operations
Vehicles sold (units) 302 330 450 501 960 1,319
Vehicles sales 75 90 121 133 216 307
Aftermarket parts & services sales 3 8 14 17 3! 38
Net sales 78 99 134 151 248 345
Cost of sales 68 85 115 130 214 300
Gross Profit 10 14 19 21 33 45
EBITDA 5 5 9 8 15 23
Operating Income 3 3 6 6 I 14
income before Income Taxes 4 4 6 5 3 9
Net income 3 3 4 4 2 8
CAPEX 2 4 7 10 6 18*
Financial Status
Cash and cash equivalents 5 3 6 6 3 2
Current assets 28 46 62 62 31 151
Current habilities 18 I3 29 33 99 107
Working capital I 33 33 28 32 44
Total assets 41 60 81 88 191 221
Long-term debt 6 0 0 0 29 32
Net debt 7 2 9 8 80 65
Shareholders equity 16 46 5t 54 63 71
Margins and ratios
Gross margin (%) 12.93 13.98 14.33 14.14 13.42 13.00
EBITDA margin (%) 5.96 523 6.79 5.53 6.09 6.57
Operating margin (%) 4.12 319 4.72 3.96 4.24 4.12
Current ratio 1.6 3.6 2.1 1.9 1.3 1.4
Net debt / equity ratio 0.46 0.05 0.17 0.15 1.28 0.93
SG&A / Sales (%) 8.8l 10.79 9.62 10.18 8.86 8.62
Return on shareholders equity (%) 19.63 7.07 8.62 6.68 278 b1.25
Share data
Outstanding shares (pcs) 2,765,300 4,470,000 4,470,000 4,470,000 4,616,600 4,624,600
Book value per share (US$) 5.80 10.39 11.37 12.18 13.60 15.28
Earnings per share (US$) I.15 0.94 0.98 0.81 0.39 1.73
Share price (US$) High - 29.01 252 21.48 25.57 16.07
Low - 20.46 4.77 1.7 14.95 10.29
Close - 2452 12.33 20.99 16.29 13.19
P/E ratio High - 309 25.7 26.5 65.6 9.3
Low - 21.8 4.9 14.4 38.3 5.9
Close - 26.1 12.6 25.9 41.8 7.6
P/BV ratio High - 2.8 22 1.8 1.9 1.1
Low - 20 04 1.0 I.1 0.7
Close - 2.4 1 1.7 1.2 0.9

*Contains US$ 8 million in leased buses
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I. Changes in Investments, Presentation of Entities

From February 2000 the number of the consolidated subsidiaries increased
as a result of the acquisition of Optare in the UK.

2. Sales Revenue

Net sales increased by 39.0 percent to US$ 344.0 million from US$ 247.6
miltion in 2000 and this was attributable to two main factors - (i) an
increase in unit vehicle sales of 29.6 percent from 960 in 2000 to 1244 in
200! and (ii) an increase of 21.3 percent in aftermarket parts and service
revenues to US$ 38.2 million in 2001 from US$ 31.5 million in 2000. Total
sales revenue in 2001 also included an amount of US$ 0.8 million relating to
deferred revenues recognized in respect of 75 vehicles delivered during the
year where, because of a buy-back provision contained within the sale
agreement, the transaction has been accounted for as an operating lease.
The balance of the deferred revenue will be recognized in the years 2002
to 2007.

3. Gross profit

Gross profit increased by 34.9 percent to US$ 44.8 miillion from US$ 33.2
million in 2000 with a slight reduction in the gross margin from 13.42
percent in 2000 to 13.00 percent in the current year.

4. Operating income and EBITDA

A 35.3 percent increase in operating income to US$ 14.2 million was
realized during 2001 compared with US$ 10.5 million in 2000. The
operating margin declined slightly from 4.24 percent to 4.12 percent as
although there was a reduction in SG&A expenses of 0.24 percent of sales
revenue, there was also a reduction in the gross margin percentage of 0.42
percent. SG&A expenses included non recurring costs of US$ 3.05 million
relating to (i) a legal fee of US$ 2.2 million and (i) a write-off of US$ 0.85
million in respect of one item of tooling. Without these exceptional write-
offs, SG&A expenses would have been 7.74 percent of sales revenue
compared with 8.86 percent in 2000.

Earnings before interest, tax, amortization and depreciation increased to
US$ 22.67 million in 2001 from US$ 15.07 million in 2000, a 50.4 percent
improvement. EBITDA margin was 6.57 percent for 2001 and 6.09 percent
for 2000.

5. Interest expense (less income)

Due to a reduction in LIBOR in 2001, the Company replaced part of its
short-term loan facilities with a new long-term loan at a fixed rate. This,
together with a reduction in short term borrowings over the course of the
year, resulted in a net decrease in borrowing costs of 3.4 percent.

6. Profit before and after tax

Profit before tax increased by 163 percent to US$ 9.36 million in 2001 from
US$ 3.56 million in 2000. The effective tax rate in 200! was I5.1 percent
compared with 21.9 percent in 2000 due primarily to a change in the UK
tax treatment of research and development costs for which the relief for
both 2000 and 200! expenditure was given in 2001, no relief haQing been
given in 2000. Consequently, net income at US$ 7.95 million was 186
percent higher than the figure for 2000 of US$ 2.78 million with net margin
at 2.31 percent (2000: |.12 percent).

7. Receivables

Receivables increased to US$ 75.9 million from US$ 47.3 million in 2000
due to substantial additional deliveries in December 2001 compared with
the corresponding month of 2000.

8. Inventories

Inventory levels fell between 2000 and 2001 from US$ 76.8 million to US$
64.7 million as the Company accelerated finished vehicle deliveries.

9. Intangibles

The Group's intangible assets include manufacturing rights to utilize the
SCRIMP® composite technology for bus manufacturing. In 2001, following
revision of the Agreement relating to these rights, amounts paid net of
accumulated amortization have been reclassified to pre-paid expenses as
the revision provides that they are to be treated as advanced payments in
respect of royalty payments due on future sales of CompoBus™.

10. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment increased from US$ 38.7 million to US$ 50.3
million at December 2001, primarily due to the capitalization of buses
under lease but also to the continuation of investment in new equipment
and facilities. The Group commenced development of the first phase of the
new manufacturing site at Kaposvar, Hungary, initially for the production of
CompoBus™ products and other fiber-reinforced composite components.

At the end of 2001 this project and that of the capacity expansion at
Rotherham, England, were both in progress.

f1. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net
assets acquired in Optare as at its acquisition in 2000. Amortization of
goodwill is on a straight-line basis over 20 years, the period of its expected
benefit.



Effective January |, 2002 NABI wilt assess the recoverability of this
intangible asset by determining whether the amortization of the goodwill
balance over its remaining period of expected benefit can be recovered
through undiscounted future operating cash flows of the acquired
operation.

12. Short Term Loans

Short term borrowing decreased from US$ 48.1 million at the end of 2000
to US$ 32.0 million at the end of 2001, primarily due to the receipt of
progress payments under the terms of a major supply contract in the US.

I3. Accounts Payable

Accounts payable increased from US$ 36.1 million in 2000 to US$ 60.0
million in 2001 mainly due to the receipt of progress payments on a major
contract as referred to above.

14. Warranties

Warranty provisions increased primarily due to the increased number of
buses sold during 2001 compared with 2000.

I5. Long Term Loans

Long term loans include senior notes net of debt discount of a gross amount
of US$ 5.3 million on warrants relating to the notes issued by the Group
which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the notes.
Other changes related to the repayment of US$ 2.5 million of the Optare
Notes, whilst there was an increase in a term loan from a Hungarian bank
of US$ 3.4 million in respect of the first stage of investment at Kaposvar.

In total long-term debt increased from US$ 29.4 million in 2000 to US$
31.7 million in 2001.

16. Obligations under Residual Value Guarantees

Buses sold to customers on terms, which include an option for the
customer to sell, under certain conditions, the buses back to the Group at a
future date, are accounted for as operating leases. The Group's conditional
obligations in respect of residual value guarantees arising under such
agreements are included under this item and amounted to US$ 3.0 million
in 2001 (2000: nil).

17. Deferred Revenue

Amounts received under transactions accounted for as operating leases are
recorded as deferred revenue in excess of the Group's residual value
obligations. These amounts will be credited on a straight-line basis over the
period of the leases and stood at US$ 7.6 million in 2001 (2000: nil).

18. Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

In accordance with the Group's dividend policy the entire net income
earned during each year was transferred to retained earnings to finance the
Group's expansion.

In 2000 the number of shares increased by 146,600 related to the exercise
of management share options. For financing the Optare acquisition, the
Group issued US$ 20 million of senior notes together with warrants for
330,258 for NABI Rt shares. The warrants can be exercised, in whole or in
part, at any time until expiry on January 31, 2006. As Optare maintains
accounts in GBP, a foreign currency translation adjustment appears in
shareholders’ equity in both 2000 and 2001.

During the year 2001, the following changes occurred in shareholders’
equity (i} the authorized and issued number of shares increased by 8000
relating to the exercise of management share options and (ii) 65,162
treasury shares were purchased and sold.

19. Employee Headcount

The following table shows the year-end headcount by year and country:

2000 2001
HU : 647 734
us 696 638
UK 405 504
Total 1748 1876

20. Compensation

During 2001 the average annual salary of employees by country was as
follows:

HU HUF 2.8 miltion
us US$ 33.6 thousand
UK GBP 18.5 thousand
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Investor, Supervisory Board

Auditor Information

The Hungarian Stock Market and the NABI
share in 200!

2001 was characterized by declining share prices on the Budapest Stock
Exchange (BSE), as the BUX index of the BSE, descended 8% in US$
terms. NABI shares lost 19% during the year and the company’s market
value amounted to US$ 61 million on December 31.

The share also suffered from the general trend on the BSE in 2001 in terms
of trading volume. Trading activity became highly concentrated on the five
largest issues that accounted for approximately 909 of total turnover. The
daily average turnover of the share shrunk by é19% from approximately
14,545 in 2000, to 5,600 shares a day in 2001 .

NABI share: Facts and figures

2001 2000
Highest price (US$) 16.07 25.57
Lowest price (US$) 10.29 14.95
Price as of December 31, 2001 13.19 16.29
Market capitalization (US$ million) 61 75
Yield (%) (19.0) (22.4)
BUX yield (%) (8.0) (20.4)
Number of shares traded 1,374,323 3,650,821
Number of shares outstanding 4,624,600 4,616,600
Free float 2,124,600 2,116,600

Treasury share transactions and share structure

The Company executed two treasury share transactions in 2001, in which it
bought and sold 65,162 shares. [n the latter transaction seven additional
treasury shares were sold, obtained during the transformation of the shares
into dematerialized form during the previous year.

On March 27, the Company privately issued 8,000 shares within the
framework of its management share option plan. NABI's share capital is
currently divided into 4,624,600 registered ordinary shares with a nominal
value of HUF {,000 each in dematerialized form. The shares were listed on
the BSE in August |997. Shareholders’ rights are detailed in NABI's Articles
of Association.

ADR Information

ADR Depositary NABi1 ADR

The Bank of New York
101 Barclay Street, 22 West Exchange: OTC
New York, NY10286 Symbol: NABHY
USA CUSIP: 656761 10 3
Tel.: 1-888-269-2377 (within US)

+1-610-312-5315

Ratio: | ADR = | Ordinary Share

Dividend policy

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company are subject to
the discretion of the General Meeting of Shareholders following a
recommendation from the Board of Directors. While all shares are eligible
for any dividends declared, the Company has not paid a dividend to this
date, as earnings are retained to support the Group’s operations and to
finance expansion.

Shareholder structure

The shareholder structure of NABI Rt. has not changed significantly in 2001.
Alongside the majority owner, the First Hungary Fund (54.06%), the
domestic depositary Citibank (13.37%) is the only shareholder to own
shares in excess of 5% of the total number of outstanding shares. NABI's
shareholders include a total of 48 depositories, 8 foreign institutions, and
105 domestic institutions. Employees of NAB! owned 11,000 shares on
December 31, 2001.

December 31, 2000 December 31, 2001

Shareholder

% Shares(‘000) % Shares(‘000)
Institutional
. 73.52 3,394 71.05 3,286
mvestors
Domestic 13.51 624 13.65 631
Foreign 60.01 2,770 57.40 2,655
Depositaries 26.19 1,209 28.70 1,326
Employees 0.29 13 0.25 12
Total 100.00 4,616 100.00 4,624




Investor relations

The Corporate Office in Budapest provides information and assistance to
NABI investors. The Company publishes its news releases in the Hungarian
national daily newspaper Magyar Tokepiac and through the Internet
Communications System of the BSE (www.bse.hu). Direct mailing of news
releases may be requested directly from the Corporate Affairs Director
(Email: corporate.office@nabi.hu)

Supervisory Board

NAB!'s Supervisory Board meets regularly to oversee the Company’s
operations. The members of the Supervisory Board as follows:

Name Position Beginning of mandate Re-election due by
Charles A. Huebner Chairman 1997.03.31 2003.05.31
Blaga Laszlo Member 1997.03.31 2003.05.31
Matyas Laszlo Member 2000.04.27 2003.05.31
Szdke Zoltan Member (Employee representative) 2000.04.27 2003.05.31
Kenyeres Lajos Member (Employee representative) 2000.04.27 2003.05.31
Auditors

During 2001, the Company’s financial and environmental statements and
reports were audited by:

KPMG Hungaria Kft.
99. Vaci Gt

Budapest

1139

Tel.: +36-1-270-7100
Fax: +36-1-270-7101

Company Facts

Date of the effective Articles of Association

September 17, 2001

Place of the latest court registration

Budapest

Date of the latest court registration

February 19, 2002

Number of the latest court registration

01-10-043464/44

Share-capital of the Company at the closing of the year

4 624 600 000 Ft

Length of the Company’s existence

Since 1992

Business year of the Company

From January | to December 31

Carriers of Company publications

Magyar Tokepiac

Activities of the Company (based on TEAOR)

34.10 Manufacture of road vehicles
34.20 Manufacture of vehicle bodies
34.30 Manufacture of vehicle parts
50.10 Trade of vehicles

50.30 Trade of vehicle parts

71.21 Renta! of land vehicles
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Glossary

3D CAD system

30LFN

35LFW

40LFW

40C-LFW

45C-LFW

60LFW

Alero

Alero market
Alternative Fuel Vehicle

Articulated Bus

CNG

CompoBus ™
Double Decker

Excel
LNG
Hybrid

Low-floor Vehicle

Midi coach

Muliplex
Nouvelle, Soroco, Solera

and Bonito

SCRIMP®

Solo

Transit Bus

of Terms

Computer Aided Design technique which models three-dimensional forms on the screen for easier simulation of how
finished vehicles will look and behave.

30ft small bus (developed from the Optare Solo and sold in the US).

35ft fow floor transit bus.

40ft low floor transit bus.

40ft low floor transit bus of composite construction.

45ft low floor transit bus of composite construction.

60ft low floor articulated transit bus.

24 foot long ultra low floor integral bus.

The market for small size easy access buses, especially suitable for transportation of the disabled.
Any vehicle that operates with fuel other than diesel or gasoline.

Extra-long (typically 55 to 65 feet) bus with the rear body section connected to the main body by a joint mechanism
called a bellow. This allows the vehicle to bend when in operation for sharp turns and curves and yet have a continuous
interior.

Compressed natural gas; popular alternative fuel used in transit buses.

NABI’s fiber-reinforced composite material based integral of transit buses that are significantly lighter than
comparable steel bodied vehicles.

A high-capacity bus having two levels of seating, one over the other, connected by a stairway. Total bus height is usually
13.5 to 14.5 feet, and typical passenger seating capacity is usually for 80 people.

Optare low floor 39t single deck bus
Liquid natural gas; popular alternative fuel used in transit buses.
Vehicle which uses combination of diesel and electric power to minimise emissons

A vehicle which has a level floor without steps in the boarding area and at least in the front part of the vehicle, allowing
step-on boarding from the ground.

A bus with separate luggage compartments, usually with high-backed seats and sometimes restroom facilities for use
on high-speed long-distance services. A midi coach is generally 23-35ft in length and has a seating capacity of 10-40
passengers.

A system of electrical wiring, pioneered by NABI in the USA and Optare in the UK, using one ‘ring main’ which reduces
complexity of wiring looms.

Optare coach models supplied to the UK market.

Seemans Composite Resin Infusion Molding Process, used for the manufacturing of composite bus shells. NABI holds the
exclusive right to the bus industry application of this patented technology.

Small UK single-deck bus also known as NABI 30LFN in the US and holder of Queen’s Award for Innovation and
Millenium Products Award.

A bus normally with a rear-mounted engine, low-back seating and without luggage compartments or restroom facilities
for use on frequent-stop scheduled service.
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KPMG Hungéria Kft.

Vaci Ut 99. Telefon: (36-1) 270 7100 e-mail: info@kpmg.hu
H-1139 Budapest Telefax: {36-1) 270 7101 Internet: www.kpmg.hu
Hungary .

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Boafd of Directors and Shareholders
North American Bus Industries Rt.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of North American Bus
Industries Rt. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated
statements of income and comprehensive income, consolidated statements of shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of North American Bus Industries Rt. and its subsidiaries, as of December
31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method
of accounting for recognition of revenue effective January 1, 2000.

KM Hwwaaia [q;k

KPMG Hungéria Kft.
March 11, 2002

KPMG Hungdéria Konyvvizs gélé, Ado- és Kdzgazdaségi
Tan&csadé Kft., a company incorporated under the



Nortn American Bus Inaustries KHi. and Its subdsiqiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2001 and 2000
(all amounts in thousands of US$)

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net of 97 allowance for losses as of December 31,
2001 and 2 as of December 31, 2000

Inventories, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Deferred income taxes
Total current assets

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulated depreciation

INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net of accumulated amortization of 486 as at
December 31, 2000

GOODWILL, net of accumulated amortization of 1,807 as of December
31, 2001 and 855 as of December 31, 2000

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

DEFERRED DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS, net of accumulated amortization
of 199 as of December 31, 2001 and 94 as of December 31, 2000

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable
Notes payable
Bank overdraft
Current portion of long term debt
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities
Warranty provisions
Total current liabilities

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-term notes payable and capital lease obligations, net of discount of
3,742 as of December 31, 2001 and 4,506 as of December 31, 2000
Deferred income taxes
Obligations under residual value guarantees
Deferred revenue
Total long-term liabilities

NEGATIVE GOODWILL, net of accumulated accretion of 724 as of
December 31, 2001 and 646 as of December 31, 2000

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 15)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Share capital (4,624,600 and 4,616,600 shares at par value of HUF 1,000
per shares issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2001 and
December 31, 2000, respectively)

Additional paid in capital

Retained eamings

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2001 2000
1,988 2,648
75,955 47,275
64,727 76,767
5,813 2,529
2,914 1,660
151,397 130,879
50,263 38,683
487
18,728 19,239
308 1,097
365 470
119 120
221,180 190,975
60,010 36,102
32,018 48,059
658 1,525
3,047 3,714
4,598 4,979
6,282 4,250
106,613 98,629
31,678 29,417
1458 -
3,046
7,647 -
43,829 29,417
72 150
25,474 25,433
25,612 25,530
20,351 12,398
(771) (582)
70,666 62,779
221,180 190,975




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
{all amounts in thousands of US$, except eamings per share which is in US$)

2001 2000
NET SALES 344,034 247,602
DEFERRED REVENUE RECOGNIZED 849
TOTAL REVENUE 344,883 247,602
COST OF SALES (300,051) (214,369)
GROSS PROFIT 44,832 33,233
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES (29,737) (21,948)
AMORTIZATION OF GOODWILL (874) {777)
OPERATING INCOME 14,221 10,508
INTEREST EXPENSE (4,983) (5,443)
AMORTIZATION OF DEBT DISCOUNT (764) (793)
AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED DEBT ISSUE COSTS (104) (94)
INTEREST INCOME 45 331
OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE) 947 (949)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND CUMULATIVE 9,362 3,560
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
INCOME TAX EXPENSE {1,410) (781)
NET INCOME BEFORE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN 7 952 2779
ACCOUNTING POLICY : :
(1,038)

CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
NET INCOME 7,952 1,744
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS ADJUSTMENT

Foreign currency translation loss (189) (582)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 7,763 1,162
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE BEFORE CUMULATIVE 17 062
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY : :
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY - (0.23)
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 173 0.39
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE BEFORE CUMULATIVE 167 051
EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY : '
CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY - {0.23)
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 167 0.38

See notes to consolidated financial statements.




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
{all amounts in thousands of US$, except number of shares )

Accumulated
Other Total
Number of Additional Retained Comprehensive  Shareholders’
Shares Share Capital Paid in Capital Earnings Loss Equity
December 31, 1999 4,470,000 24,951 18,859 10,655 54,465
Issuance of warrants - - 5,300 5,300
Stock options exercised 146,600 482 1,37 1,853
Net income - - - 1,744 1,744
Foreign currency ;;?Ssstlfnt;onr: (582) (582)
December 31,2000 4,616,600 25,433 25,530 12,398 {582) 62,779
Stock options exercised 8,000 28 4 69
Purchase of treasury shares 65,162 (220) (659) {879)
Sale of treasury shares (65,162) 233 700 - 933
Net income - - - 7,952 7,952
Foreign currency ;;?S;Iz:ntg)nr: (189) (189)
December 31,2001 4,624,600 25,474 25,612 20,351 (M) 70,666

‘See notes to the consolidated financial statements.




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
(all amounts in thousands of US$)

2001 2000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 7,952 1,744
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 5782 4,425
Impaiment loss 848 308
Amortization of deferred revenue _ (849) :
Warranties 2,032 1,395
Amortization of goodwill 952 855
Accretion of negative goodwill (78) (78)
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs 104 94
Amortization of debt discount 764 793
Deferred income taxes 997 (1,352)
Unrealized forward exchange loss 174 299
Foreign currency translation loss . 188
Adjustment to goodwill (441) -
Changes in assets and liabilities: net of effects of
purchased business
Accounts receivable, net (28,680) (15,976)
Inventories 12,040 (33,689)
Prepaid expenses and other (3,284) (1,097)
Accounts payable 23,908 8,569
Accrued liabilities and other (381) 1,169
Increase in obligations under residual value guarantees 3,046 .
Increase in deferred revenue 8,496 -
Other (liabilities) assets - 161
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 33,382 (32,192
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of business, net of cash - (19,044)
Purchase of property and equipment (18,277) {6,093)
Net cash used in investing activities (18,277) (25,137)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of share capital 69 1,853
Purchase and sale of treasury shares, net 54 .
(Decrease) increase in bank overdraft {867) 1,525
Proceeds trom issuance of notes payable 39,375 88,720
Principal payments on notes payable (55,805) (60,410)
Borrowings under long-term debt agreements 6,552 29,510
Repayments of long-term debt (3,767) {6,415)
Principal payments on capital leases (1,565) {1,028)
Payment of debt issuance costs - (563}
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (15,954 53,192
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash 189 582
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS {660) (3,555)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 2,648 6,203
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,988 2,648
6




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

(alt amounts in thousands of US$)

2001 2000

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest, net of interest capitalized 4911 3,896

Income taxes 4131 4,050
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING
AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Notes to former Optare shareholders 7,944
Issuance of warrants 5,300
PURCHASE OF OPTARE:
Consideration paid 28,373
Liabilities assumed 24,793
TOTAL 53,166

See notes to consolidated financial statements.




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 200

_ {alt amounts in thousands of US$, unless otherwise stated)

ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of North American Bus Industries Rt. (“NABI
Rt.” on a stand-alone basis) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group” or “NABI") as of and for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 consist of the accounts of NABI Rt. consolidated with the
following subsidiaries:

% held as of December 31
2001 2000
Subsidiary
North American Bus Industries, Inc. 100% 100%
Optare Holdings Ltd. 100% 100%

The Group - headquartered in Budapest, Hungary - designs, manufactures and sells buses and
provides aftersales services and sells spare parts to its customers in the USA and the United
Kingdom.

The predecessor of NABI Rt. (NABI Kft.) was established in 1892 by the First Hungary Fund, a
closed equity fund registered in the Channel Islands. NABI Kft. was transformed into an Rt.
(company limited by shares) and its shares listed on the Budapest Stock Exchangé-on August 1,
1997. In February 2000, North American Bus Industries, Inc. (“NABI Inc.”) acquired Optare Holdings
Ltd. of Leeds, United Kingdom (“Optare”).

As of December 31, 2001, 54% (December 31, 2000: 54%) of NABI Rt.'s share capital was owned by
the First Hungary Fund Ltd.; the remainder of the shares are publicly traded.

Property and equipment at December 31, was located as follows;

2001 2000
Hungary 21,335 17,317
United States of America 17,752 10,151
United Kingdom 11,176 11,215

50,263 38,683

Total revenue for the years ended December 31 consisted of the following:

2001 2000

Bus sales in the USA 264,859 171,004
Bus replacement part sales in the USA 28,705 23,654
Bus sales in the UK 40,943 45,136
Bus replacement part sales in the UK 8,583 7,328
Other sales 944 480
Deferred revenue recognized 849 -

- 344,883 247,602




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2001 and 2000
(all amounts in thousands of US$, unless otherwise stated)

The Group competes in public tenders for the opportunity to win contracts for the construction and
sale of transit buses to mass transit authorities in the USA. A significant portion of the Group’s
revenue during any specific accounting period is received from those customers whose contracts are
being fulfilled during that period. The amount of bus sales revenue attributable to the Group's major
customers for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2001 2000

United States
LA CMTA (Los Angeles, CA) 30% 31%
OCTA (Orange County, CA) 17% 4%
City of San Antonio (San Antonio, TX) 11% -
Metropolitan Dade County (Miami, FL) 6% 1%
City of Phoenix (Phoenix, AZ) 5% 5%
Riverside Transit Agency (Riverside, CA) 5% -
RTD (Denver, CO) 4% 17%
Mass Transit Authority (Baltimore, MD} 4% %
Other 5% 14%
United States, total 87% 79%
United Kingdom 13% 21%

100% 100%

Also as a result of the nature of operations, typically a significant portion of the Group's accounts
receivable is due from those customers who took delivery of buses within the preceding months in
the USA. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, 43% and 25%, respectively, of total accounts
receivable were due from one customer. Most of these accounts receivable were collected
subsequent to year-end.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements present the Group’s
consolidated financial information in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“US GAAP”).

Principles of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NABI Rt.,
its wholly owned subsidiary NABI Inc. and the wholly owned subsidiary of NABI Inc., Optare Holdings
Ltd. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Currency Translation - NABI Rt. maintains its books in Hungarian Forint and uses the United States
Dollar (“US$”) as its functional currency to reflect the primary currency in which the Group conducts
its business. Non-monetary assets and liabilities, principally inventories, prepaid expenses, property
and equipment and share capital, and any revenue and expenses related to these items, have been
remeasured into US$ using historical exchange rates. Non US$ denominated monetary assets and
liabilities have been remeasured using the year-end exchange rates. The related exchange gains
and losses have been recognized in the consolidated statements of income.

Optare maintains its books in British Pounds, its functional currency. The assets and liabilities of
Optare are translated into US$ at year-end exchange rates and the results of Optare’s operations are
translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. Foreign currency translation gains or
losses are recorded as a component of other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income and comprehensive income. Cumulative foreign currency translation gains or
losses are recorded as a separate component of shareholder's equity in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2001 and 2000
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Cash Equivalents - All highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of
purchase are treated as cash equivalents.

Inventories - Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market value.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment, except demonstration vehicles, are carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation. Demonstration vehicles are stated at the lower of cost or market
value. Depreciation is determined using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives
of the assets, which are generally as follows:

Buildings 2010 50 years
Building and leasehold improvements 10 years
Plant and equipment 4to 11 years
Office fumiture and equipment 5to 11 years
Vehicles 4107 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Demonstration and rental vehicles 410 6 years
Buses leased to customers 10 years

The Group leases certain equipment under finance leases, which are classified under property and
equipment and depreciated using the straight-line method over the lease term. The related
obligations are recorded as liabilities. The depreciation is included in depreciation expense.

Buses sold to customers on terms which include an option for the customer to sell, under certain
conditions, the buses back to the Group at a future date are accounted for as assets leased to
customers and are included in property and equipment and depreciated on a straight line basis over
their expected useful lives of ten years (Note 6). The depreciation is included in the depreciation
expense.

The Group capitalizes expenditures for major renewals and betterments and charges the cost of
current maintenance and repairs to operating expenses. Interest costs associated with major
property additions are capitalized while the projects are in the process of acquisition and
construction. During 2001 and 2000, the Group capitalized 1 and 0 of interest expense, respectively.

Estimated Warranties - Provisions are made for the estimated warranty costs on buses sold. The
warranty period for buses sold is specifically stated in the contract with the individual customer.
Warranty terms and periods for major components typically correlate to the warranty terms and
provisions provided to the Group by the component’s manufacturer. During 2001 and 2000, the
Group incurred warranty costs of 3,709 and 3,378 respectively

Goodwill and Negative Goodwill - Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over fair
value of net assets acquired, is amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 years, which represents
the expected periods to be benefited. The Group assesses the recoverability of this intangible asset
by determining whether the amortization of the goodwill balance over its remaining life can be
recovered through undiscounted future operating cash flows of the acquired operation. The amount
of goodwill impairment, if any, is measured based on projected discounted future operating cash
flows using a discount rate reflecting the Group's average cost of funds. The assessment of the
recoverability of goodwill will be impacted if estimated future operating cash flows are not achieved.
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Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of NABI Inc.’s net identifiable assets over
the cost of the 1992 NABI Inc acquisition and is being accreted using the straight-line method over
10 years.

Impairment - The Group reviews long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be recoverable based on
its expectation of undiscounted future cash flows associated with the operation of the assets. If
impairment is indicated, any impairment losses are reported in the period in which the recognition
criteria are first applied based on the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the
assets. Long-lived assets held for sale are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value, less
costs to sell such assets. During 2001, the Group recorded 848 of impairment losses (2000: 308).

Debt Issuance Costs - Debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized to interest expense on a
straight-line basis over the lives of the related debt agreements, principally 2 to 6 years.

Debt Discount - Debt discount is amortized using the effective interest method over 6-years, the life
of the related senior notes payable.

Revenue Recognition - The Group recognizes revenue from the sale of buses and replacement
parts upon delivery to the customer except in instances where the contract with the customer
provides that the customer may on certain conditions sell the bus back to the Group at a specified
price on a future date. Revenue on such sales is deferred and the difference between the initial
sales price and the future repurchase obligation is recognized as income in equal installments over
the period until the first date on which the option can be exercised by the customer. The deferred
revenue and the Group’s obligation under the buy-back option are reported as long-term liabilities
(Note 9).

Prior to 2000, NABI Inc. had recorded revenue at the time the bus was compieted and accepted for
shipment by the customer. With effect from January 1, 2000, NABI Inc. changed its accounting
policy for revenue recognition to comply with changes in accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The Group recorded an adjustment in 2000 of 1,035, net of tax, as the
cumulative effect for the period prior to January 1, 2000 of the change in accounting policy.

Forward Exchange Contracts - Forward exchange contracts are accounted for as speculative forward
exchange contracts and are marked to market in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income and comprehensive income (Note 4).

Research and Development Expenses - The Group expenses research and development costs as
they occur. R&D expenses amounted to 2,297 for the year ended December 31, 2001. (2000: 966).

Income Taxes - Deferred income taxes are recorded for differences in book and tax bases of assets
and liabilities based on the tax rates and laws enacted as of each balance sheet date. The effects of
future changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipated. Deferred income taxes are classified
according to the classification of the related asset or liability for financial reporting.

Accounting Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires
management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

11




North American Bus Industries Rt. and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2001 and 2000
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Earmnings per Share - Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares
outstanding. The weighted average number of shares used in computing basic earnings per share
was 4,585,150 for the year ended December 31, 2001 (2000: 4,512,758). Diluted earnings per share
considers the impact of potential common shares, unless the inclusion of the potential common
shares would have an anti-dilutive effect. The weighted average number of shares used in
calculating diluted earnings per share were 4,755,950 for the year ended December 31, 2001 (2000:
4,519,577).

Stock Based Compensation - Fixed stock option plans are accounted for in accordance with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. (“APB”) 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”,
and related interpretations. The Group adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. (“SFAS") 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”
(Note 14).

The Group accounts for variable stock option plans in terms of SFAS 123.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements ~ In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets". SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives no longer be amortized, but are instead tested for impairment at least annually.
Impairment is measured as the excess of carrying value over the fair value of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life. As of January 1, 2002, the Group will cease to amortize goodwill and will write
off negative goodwill. The amount of goodwill amortized in 2001 was 874 (2000: 777).

Reportable Segments - The Group operates in a single business segment, the supply of buses and
bus replacement parts. Analyses of sales by country, major customers and the location of the
Group's property and equipment are set out in Note 1.

Reclassifications - Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2000 financial statements to
conform to the 2001 presentation.

PURCHASE OF OPTARE

On February 9, 2000, NABI Inc. acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of Optare, a United Kingdom
based manufacturer of buses. Consideration consisted of cash financed primarily through the
issuance of long-term debt and notes payable denominated in British Pounds Sterling (“GBP") issued
to the former Optare shareholders (the “Optare Notes”) (Note 8).

Goodwill arising from this acquisition of 20,527 is being amortized using the straight-line method over
20 years. Effective January 1, 2002 NABI stopped amortization of goodwill based on SFAS 142. The
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income includes the operations of Optare from
the date of acquisition.

12




North American Bus Industries Ht. and its supsidlaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2001 and 2000
(all amounts in thousands of US$, untess otherwise stated)

During 2001, the Group subsequently revised its allocation of the purchase price related to
adjustments for certain acquisition contingencies and to its deferred tax position. The following
summarizes the effects of the adjustments:

Original Goodwill 20,093
Adjustment to:
Acquisition expenses (250)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 684
Adjusted Goodwill 20,527

FOREIGN EXCHANGE CONTRACTS

The Group utilizes forward exchange contracts to limit the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on its
consolidated results of operations. During 2001 and 2000 the Group entered into forward sale
exchange contracts with notional amounts as of December 31, 2001 of 439 (2000: 8,156)
denominated in U.S. dollars and British Pounds and various European currencies. During 2001 and
2000 the Group entered into forward purchase exchange contracts with notional amounts as of
December 31, 2001 2,925 (2000: 5,935) denominated in US Dollars and British Pourids and various
European currencies. Such contracts expire on various dates through February 2002. During 2001,
the Group recorded a net unrealized forward exchange rate loss of 174 (2000: 299) as a component
of other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statement of income and
comprehensive income, on marking these forward exchange contracts to market.

INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following at December 31:

2001 2000
Raw materials 29,290 36,005
Work-in-process 23,564 13,711
Finished goods 11,873 27,051
64,727 76,767

As at December 31, 2001, inventory is stated net of allowance for slow moving and obsolete
inventory of 1,421 (2000: 871).

13




North American Bus Industries Kt. and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2001 and 2000
{all amounts in thousands of US$, unless otherwise stated)

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following at December 31:

2001 2000

Real estate 18,877 19,639
Factory fumiture, equipment and vehicles 21,608 16,891
Office fumiture and equipment 10,219 9,028
Equipment under capital leases 651 651
Buses under lease (note 9.) 8,308 -
Demonstration vehicles 1,241 1,125
Rental vehicles 289 966
Construction in progress 5,207 1,320

66,400 49,620
Less: Accumulated depreciation (16,137) (10,937) .

50,263 38,683

In 2001, the Group delivered buses to a US customer, which are a subject to a conditional buy-back
arrangement and have been treated as operating leases (Note 9). At December 31, 2001 the gross
amount of equipment and related accumulated amortization recorded in property, plant, and
equipment under this transaction was as follows:

Buses under lease 8,308

Less: Accumulated depreciation (480)
7,828

Depreciation and amortization expense was 5,200 and 4,425 for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

1. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group had an agreement with a producer of composite structures based in the United States of
America under which it had made payments for manufacturing rights to utilize the composite
technology for bus shell manufacturing. In August 2001, following a revision of the agreement,
amounts paid, net of accumulated amortization, have been reclassified to prepaid expenses as the
revised agreement provides that they will be treated as advance payments in respect of royalty
payments due on future sales of buses manufactured using the composite technology.
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CREDIT AGREEMENTS
Lines of Credit

During 2001, the Group had line of credit agreements (the Lines), denominated in various currencies,
with various banks. Information pertaining to these by entity is as follows:

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Amount Borrowings Amount Borrowings
of Line Qutstanding of Line Outstanding
NABI Inc. 44,000 28,500 47,600 39,100
NABIRt. 7,000 501 14,400 6,580
Optare ) 18,636 3,017 14,636 2,379
69,636 32,018 76,636 48,059

All of the Lines mature on or before December 31, 2002. Subsequent to December 2001, a facility of
15,000, which matured in January 2002, has been renewed for a further year.

NABI Rt.

The Lines require payment of interest periodically, ranging from one to three months. Interest on
borrowings is based on London Inter-Bank Offer Rate (LIBOR) plus margin. As of December 31,
2001 and 2000 NAB! Rt. had 501 and 9,579 in outstanding borrowings under the lines leaving 6,499
and 4,820 available for future borrowings.

NABI Inc.

The Lines require the payment of interest periodically, ranging from one to three months. interest on
borrowings under the Lines are, at NABI Inc.’s option, based on either LIBOR, Base Rate plus
margin. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, NABI Inc. had 28,500 and 39,100 in outstanding
borrowings under the Lines leaving 15,500 and 13,500 available for future borrowings.

Optare

As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Line consisted of a 4,779 and 4,182, respectively, revolving
facility to cover Optare’s overdrafts and a 10,455 revolving facility for spot and forward foreign
exchange transactions and for currency options (Exchange Facility). Outstanding borrowings under
the Line as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, related entirely to overdrafts. As of December 31, 2001
and 2000, Optare had 2,001 and 2,379, respectively, outstanding under the overdraft facility leaving
2,779 and 1,803, respectively, available for future borrowings. Interest is payable quarterly on the
Line, based on the base rate or LIBOR plus margin. Optare also has short term facilities from
Hungarian banks on LIBOR plus margin basis and one of these facilities was partly utilized as of
December 31, 2001.

The majority of the Lines (i) require the Group to provide to the banks, within periods ranging from
ninety to one hundred fifty days subsequent to December 31 of each year, audited financial
statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP (i) place restrictions on the Group’s ability to
change its business, create liens, guarantee or incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends,
repurchase its outstanding common stock, consolidate, merge and dispose of its business and (jii)
require the Group to maintain certain financial ratios based on the Group’s US GAAP financial
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statements. In addition, certain of the Lines include a cross default provision (“Cross Default”)
whereby a default would occur if the Group was in default of any covenants of any of their other Lines
or long-term credit agreements.

As of December 31, 2001 the Group was in compliance with all the requirement of its Credit Lines.

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt (“Debt”) consists of the following at December 31, 2001 and 2000:

2001 2000

Senior Notes payable, net of debt discount of 3,742 as of December 31, 2001 and
4,506 as of December 31, 2000 - annual principal payments of 6,667 commencing
January 31, 2004 through January 31, 2006 and interest at 9.3% (an effective rate of

; 16,258 15,494
14.6%) per annum payable semi-annually
Note payable to a Hungarian bank - quarterly principal payments of 500 commencing
April 15, 2003 through January 15, 2006 with interest at LIBOR plus margin (an
effective rate of 3.2% as of December 31, 2001), payable monthly 6,000 6,000
Optare Notes denominated in GBP due December 7, 2002, interest at the Barclays
Rate, as defined, plus margin (an effective rate of 4.5% at December 31, 2001),
payable semi annually 1,858 4,524
Notes payable to a UK Bank denominated in GBP - quarterly principal payments of
GBP121 thousand through November 5, 2007 with interest at Base Rate, as defined,
plus margin (an effective rate of 8.25% at December 31, 2001) 2,826 3,485
Development foan ~ repayabie in July 31, 2003, interest free 118
Eximbank term loan - repayable on December 15, 2003 with interest at LIBOR and 6.434 3,000
LIBOR plus margin, payable in December 2003 ' ’
Capital lease obligations 1,231 628
Long term debt 34,725 33,131
Less: Current portion (3,047) (3,714)
Long-term portion 31,678 29,417

Senior Notes

On February 9, 2000 NABI Rt. and NABI Inc. entered into the Note and Warrant Purchase
Agreement with Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and Metropolitan Property and Casualty
Insurance Company (collectively “Metropolitan”) (the “Metropolitan Agreement”) through which NABI
Inc. issued to Metropolitan 20,000 in senior notes, of which 13,045 were used to fund the Optare
acquisition (Note 3), with the remainder used to fund NABI Inc.’s general working capital needs. The
Metropolitan Agreement also required NABI Rt. to issue to Metropolitan a warrant to purchase
330,258 shares of its common stock for an exercise price of HUF 5,446 (US$ 20.91) per share. The
value of the warrant of 5,300 at February 9, 2000, determined through the use of the Black Scholes
Option Pricing Model, was accounted for as a credit to additional paid in capital offset against the par
value of the senior notes (debt discount). The warrant is currently exercisable, in whole or in part, and
expires on January 31, 2006. The Group is required, within 90 days from the exercise date, to issue
the Shares to Metropolitan and register the Shares with the Budapest stock exchange. The Group
has the option to purchase the Shares prior to such issuance and registration for a price per share
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equal to the weighted average share price as defined in the warrant agreement (Share Price). If the
Group does not issue, purchase, or register the Shares within 90 days from exercise, the Group is
required to pay Metropolitan an amount equal to the Shares multiplied by the lower of the Share
Price on the exercise date or 90 days after the exercise date. Additionally, NABI Rt. has the option to
redeem the warrants, in whole or in part, for HUF 2,723 ($10.45) if the Share Price equals or exceeds
150% of the exercise price for 20 consecutive days commencing February 1, 2003. During 2001 and
2000, no warrants were exercised.

Optare Notes

NABI Inc. issued 7,944 of Optare Notes to the former Optare shareholders as partial consideration
for the Optare acquisition (Note 3). The Optare Notes are guaranteed through the issuance by a
bank of a guarantee facility in favor of the former Optare shareholders. The guarantee facility is -
guaranteed by NAB! Rt. and places restrictions on NAB! Rt.’s and NABI Inc.’s ability to incur
additional indebtedness, make loans, or provide guarantees or indemnities. The facility also requires
the Group to maintain certain financial ratios based on its consolidated US GAAP audited financial
statements and includes a Cross Default provision.

NAB! Inc. is required to redeem the Optare Notes at the option of the Optare Note holders, on
specified dates. During 2001, NABI Inc. redeemed 2,505 of the Optare Notes (2,934 in 2000). NABI
Inc. recorded a foreign currency gain of 162 on the Optare Notes in 2001 (486 in 2000).

Notes Payable to a Hungarian and a UK Bank
The Notes are guaranteed by NABI Rt.
Development Loan

NABI Rt. entered into an agreement with the Education Ministry in Hungary for the finance of
research and development related to its articulated low floor bus (60-LFW) under the Central
Technological Development Program. This agreement provides a total facility of 243 of which 25 per
cent is a non-refundable grant and the remaining 75 per cent is an interest free loan repayable in one
lump sum on July 31, 2003. NABI Rt. received 156 during 2001 from which 118 is repayable and
outstanding as of December 31, 2001. The grant element of 38 is included in other income.

Capital Lease Obligations
The Group is a lessee under certain capital leases for property, plant and equipment. These
agreements have varying maturity dates through December 2002. Interest expense related to capital

leases obligations totaled 51 and 89 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Aggregate scheduled maturities of the Group’s long-term debt agreements as of December 31, 2001,
adding back debt discount of 3,742, are as follows:

2001
2002 3,047
2003 9,477
2004 9,142
2005 8,989
2006 7,489
Thereatter 323
38,467
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OBLIGATIONS UNDER RESIDUAL VALUE GUARANTEES AND DEFERRED REVENUE

During 2001, the Group sold certain buses under agreements, which provide the customer with an
option to sell the buses back to the Group at specified prices after periods of five and six years from
delivery. In accordance with EITF Issue 95-1, Revenue Recognition on Sales with a Guaranteed
Minimum Resale Value, the transaction has been accounted for as an operating lease. Amounts
received in the transaction in excess of the Group’s residual value guarantee obligation are recorded
as deferred revenue and amortized on a straight-line basis over the period to the first exercise date
of the guarantee. In 2001 849 of the deferred revenue was recognized in total revenue.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying value of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued
liabilities approximate fair value due to the short duration of these instruments. The carrying value of
long-term debt, excluding the Metropolitan Agreement, approximates fair value due to their variable
nature. The estimated fair value of the Metropolitan Agreement totaled 22,738 and 17,741 as of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, based on interest rates available for Eorrowings with
similar provisions as noted in the respective agreements. Considerable judgment is required in
developing the estimates for fair value of-long-term debt and, therefore, such values are not
necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange.

OTHER INCOME / (EXPENSE)

Other income / (expense) consists of the following for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000
Net currency exchange and remeasurement effects 487 (674)
Other 460 (275)
947 (949)

INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense consists of the following for the years ended December 31:

2001 2000
Current taxes 1,817 4,865
Deferred taxes (407) (4,084)
1,410 781

The Group is liable for corporate income taxes based on the tax laws of the jurisdiction in which it
operates. The corporate tax rate in Hungary is 18% and NABI Rt. enjoyed a 60% tax holiday in 2001
and 2000, bringing its effective tax rate down to 7.2%. NABI Rt.’s tax holiday expires in 2003. In the
US, NABI Inc. pays state taxes at various rates and federal tax at the 34%. In the UK, the corporate
tax rate is 30 %.
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Income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 differ from the amounts computed by
the tax rate of 18% to income before income taxes. The reasons for the differences are the follows:

2001 2000
Computed "expected” tax expense at 18% 1,685 641
Increase/(decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
- Tax holiday (827) (1,001)
-- Research and development (381) (37)
-- Effect of foreign income tax differences 307 (21}
-- Goodwill amortization 353 291
-- Other taxes 62 (26)
-- Others 211 1,024
Total tax expense 1,410 781
Deferred tax balances at December 31 were as follows:
Assets (Liabilities) 2001 2000
Deferred income 735 -
Revenue recognition 352 540
Inventory (215) {210)
Accrued warranty 1,568 928
Accrued vacation : 174 161
Other accrued liabilities 300 241
Short-term deferred tax asset 2914 1,660
Property, plant equipment - (1,624)
Foreign interest expense - 1,873
Research and development costs - 962
Negative goodwill 27 62
Other 281 (176}
Long-term deferred tax asset 308 1,097
Property, plant equipment (1,458)
Long-term deferred tax (liabilities) (1,458)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

NABI Rt. makes contributions to the state and private pension plans as required by law. NABI Rt. had
no unfunded employee benefits at December 31, 2001 and 2000.

NABI Inc. sponsors a 401(k) Plan (the “NABI Inc. Plan”), effective July 1, 2000 NABI Inc. matches
20% of employee contributions. During 2001, the Group contributed 175 and (2000: 109), to the
NABI Inc. Plan.

Optare sponsors a defined contribution pension plan for its employees (the “Optare Plan”). Optare
matches 2 per cent of employee contributions and contributes 1.15 per cent of employee
compensation regardless of the level of employee contribution. During 2001 Optare contributed 246
(2000:218) to the Optare plan.
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EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION PLAN

In June 1997, Shareholders approved an employee share option plan. Under the terms of the plan,
the Board of Directors may grant employees options in NABI Rt.'s common shares at a price equal to
100% of the weighted average market price calculated over the 60 trading days preceding the date
on which the option is granted. The aggregate number of shares in respect of which options are
granted under the share option plan, whether exercised or not, may not exceed 10% of the
outstanding shares of NABI Rt. At December 31, 2001, a total of 447,000 shares were reserved for
grants under the share option plan; including the options outstanding. The option agreements with
the employees provide that the employee is responsible for any taxes payable upon exercise of the
options. All stock options have a 5-year term and vest and become fully exercisable immediately
after the date of grant.

The weighted average fair value in USD of the share options granted during 2001 and 2000 were
$2.05 and $9.06, respectively. The fair values were estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing
Model based on the weighted average assumptions of: risk-free interest rate of 7.95% for 2001, and
8.0% for 2000; volatility of 35.10% for 2001 and 27.14 % for 2000; expected life of 4 years; and a
dividend yield of 0%.

The Group applies APB Opinion No. 25 in accounting for its Plan and, accordingly, no compensation
cost has been recognized for its stock options in the financial statements. Had the Group
determined compensation cost based on the fair value at the grant date for its stock options under
SFAS No. 123, the Group’s net income would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated
below:

2001 2000

Net income As reported 7,952 1,744
Pro-forma 7,716 1,401
Basic eamings per share As reported 1.73 0.39

Pro-forma 1.68 0.31

Pro forma net income reflects only options granted in the current year. Therefore, the full impact of
calculating compensation cost for stock options under SFAS No. 123 is not reflected in the pro forma
net income amounts presented above because compensation cost is reflected over the options’
immediate vesting period and compensation cost for options granted prior to this year are not
considered.

The following table summarizes information about share options granted at December 31, 2001 and
2000:

Options Weighted Average

Qutstanding Exercise Price in US (*)

As at December 31, 1999 342,400 12.52
Granted 54,000 21.87
Exercised (146,600) 13.30
Cancelled (6,000 9.50
As at December 31, 2000 243,800 13.24
Granted 115,162 15.30
Exercised (8,000} 8.97
Cancelled (65,000) 19.58
As at December 31, 2001 285,962 13.81

(") The original HUF based option exercise prices have been converted into US using the applicable year-end US / HUF
exchange rate.
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The following table summarizes the share options outstanding at December 31, 2001:

Exercise Price in US (*) Options Average Remaining Life
14.34 65,162 0.19
13.45 115,800 0.56
10.57 43,000 2.05
14.66 12,000 2.58
16.55 50,000 4.24
10.57-16.55 285,962 1.92

(*)  The original HUF based option exercise prices have been converted into US using the applicable year-end US / HUF
exchange rate.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Group is involved in routine litigation and other proceedings in the normal course of business.
Management believes that the resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on
the Group's financial position or results of operations.

*k kKK
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INVITATION TO THE

GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board of Directors of North American Bus Industries Rt. (1165 Budapest Ujszasz u. 45.) hereby notifies the honorable shareholders
that the Company’s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders at 9:30 a.m. on Friday, April 26, 2001.

Place of the meeting: Hotel Metropol
Budapest, VII. Rékoéczi at 58.

Agenda of meeting:

Business Report of the Board of Directors on the Company’s operations in 2001

The Board of Directors’ proposal on the 2001 non-consolidated and consolidated financial statements (HAS & US GAAP)
The Board of Directors’ proposal as to the allocation of the 2001 net income

Report of the Supervisory Board on the non-consolidated and consolidated financial statements and the allocation of net income
Report of the auditor on the non-consolidated and consoclidated financial statements and the allocation of net income.
Approval of the 2001 non-consolidated and consolidated financial statements

Allocation on the 2001 net income

Amendment of the Articles of Association to comply with the Capital Markets Law (2001. CXX tv)

9. Recall of a member of the Supervisory Board and election of a new member

10.  Decision on the remuneration of the Board of Directors.

11. Decision on the remuneration of the Supervisory Board.

12.  Approval of the remuneration of the auditor in 2002

13, Others

PN AW~

The important figures of NABI Rt’s 2001 Consolidated Balance Sheet (US GAAP):

figures in US$ millions

2001 2000 2001 2000
Total current assets 151.4 130.9 | Short term liabilities 106.6 98.6
Total non-current assets: 69.8 60.1 | Long term liabilities 43.8 29.4
Total assets 2212 191.0 | Shareholders’ equity 70.8 62.8
Total liabilities & shareholders’ equity[ 221.2 191.0

The important figures of NABI Rt’s 2001 Consolidated Income Statement (US GAAP):

figures in_USS$ millions except for where market with %

2001 2000 2001/2000
Net sales 344.0 247.6 139%
Gross profit 44.8 33.2 135%
Operating profit 14.2 10.5 135%
Net income 8.0 1.7 456%

The Company’s Supervisory Board has reviewed every recommendation of the Board of Directors regarding the above listed agenda
during its meeting on March 25, 2002, and recommends them for approval to the honorable sharcholders.

The shares of the Company are registered securities their transfer toward the Company is only valid after the name of the new owner has
been registered in the shareholders’ registry. Shareholders may be present at the General Meeting in person, or through a representative
or proxy. Authorization has to be submitted before the General Meeting begins in the form of a legally official document countersigned
by an attorney or notary public.

Participation and voting is possible only for those shareholders who’s name is in the Shareholders’ Registry on the day of the General
Meeting, or holds an equity account notice that certifies ownership of the shares issued on the day of the General Meeting.

Please appear at least one hour before the announced start of the Meeting for registration and voting machine issuance purposes.

The consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements of the Company as well as the background materials to the other proposals to
be considered by the General Meeting may be viewed at the offices of the company, at its web site at www.nabi.hu, or at the
Communication Center of the Budapest Stock Exchange.

In case a quorum of shareholders were not present, the meeting will be repeated at 10:30 a.m. on the day and place shown in this
invitation.
Board of Directors
North American Bus Industries Rt.




NABI Rt.
RESOLUTIONS

NAB! Rt's Annual General Meeting of Shareholders was held on April 26, 2002.
Shareholders owning 55.737 per cent of all shares attended the AGM. The AGM
adopted the following resolutions:

Resolution of the AGM No. 1/2002. (1V.26.)

" The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes for, 6.100 votes against and
without abstentions the report of the Board of Directors on the 2001
Business Report of the company.

Resolution of the AGM No. 2/2002. (1V.26.)

The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes and 6.100 abstentions the
proposal of the Board of Directors on the non-consolidated and
consolidated financial reports based on Hungarian accountancy rules
and the US GAAP Consolidated Financial Statements for the fiscal year
ended on December 31, 2002. All three financial statements for 2001 are
to be approved within a single resolution of the AGM.

Resolution of the AGM No. 3/2002. (1V.26.)
The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes for and 6.100 votes against the
report of the Board of Directors on the allocation of the 2001 net income.

Resolution of the AGM No. 4/2002. (1V.26.)

The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes and 6.100 abstentions the report of
the Supervisory Board on the non-consolidated and consolidated financial
statements, the US GAAP Consolidated Financial Statements and the
allocation of net income.

Resolution of the AGM No. 5/2002. (IV.26.)

The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes and 6.100 abstentions the report of
the auditor on the non-consolidated and consolidated financial
statements, the US GAAP Consolidated Financial Statements and the
allocation of net income.

Resolution of the AGM No. 6/2002. (1V.26.)

The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes and 6.100 abstentions the following

financial statements for the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2001:

o the US GAAP Consolidated Financial Statements with Total Assets of USD
221.180.000 and After-tax Result of USD 7.952.000,

e the non-consolidated financial statements based on Hungarian
accountancy rules with Total Assets of HUF 21.444.057.000 and After-tax
Result of HUF 1.725.616.000 and

s the consolidated financial statements based on Hungarian accountancy
rules with Total Assets of HUF 61.010.718.000 and After-tax Result of HUF

1/ 1



2.753.628.000.

Resolution of the AGM No. 7/2002. (1V.26.)
The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes for and 6.100 votes against the
allocation of the 2001 net income in retained earning as follows:

o After-tax Result of USD 7.952.000 of the US GAAP Consolidated Financial
Statements,

e After-tax Result of HUF 1.725.616.000 of non-consolidated financial
statements based on Hungarian accountancy rules and

o After-tax Result of HUF 2.753.628.000 of consolidated financial statements
based on Hungarian accountancy rules.

Resolution of the AGM No. 8/2002. (1V.26.)

The AGM approved unanimously with 2.577.600 votes the amendment of the
Articles of Association. This modification was necessary to comply Capital
Markets Law. The following sections were amended: 6.1; 6.2.2 (a); 6.3; 6.4; 7.1;
7.2;,7.6; 8.1,8.2,8.3,84,8.5;9. (I); 13.3; 13.5; 17.1 (g); 32.

Resolution of the AGM No. 10/2002. (1V.26.)

The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes for and 6.100 votes against to set the
monthly remuneration of the Chairman at HUF 357,500 and the monthly
remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors at HUF 214,500. The
AGM approved the remuneration of the Board Committee members of HUF
71,500 payable after each committee meeting but not more than four times a
year. The new remunerations are effective from May 1, 2002.

Resolution of the AGM No. 11/2002. (1V.26.)

The AGM approved with 2.551.500 votes for and 6.100 votes against to set the
monthly remuneration of the Chairman at HUF 77,000 and the monthly
remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board at HUF 55,000. The
new remunerations are effective from May 1, 2002.

Resolution of the AGM No. 12/2002. (1V.26.)
The AGM approved with 2.571.500 votes for and 6.100 votes against to
set the 2002 remuneration of the Auditor at HUF 13 million.

NABI hereby declares that the Company’s 2001 Annual Report has been completed
and it can be downloaded from the Company’s Internet homepage (www.nabi.hu),
mailing of a printed copy may be requested from the Corporate Office (1165
Budapest, Ujszasz utca 45. Fax: +36-1-407-2931, E-mail: corporate.office@nabi.hu)
or it may be viewed in person during normal working hours at the Company'’s offices in
Budapest.
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A TARSASAG CEGNEVE ES SZEKHELYE

1. A Tarsasag neve: NABI Eszak-Amerikai

Jarmuipari Részvénytarsasag
"+ réviditett neve: NABI Rt.

NABI North American Bus
Industries Rt

angolul:

2. ATarsasag székhelye:
1165 Budapest, Ujszasz u. 45.

A TARSASAG TARTAMA ES TEVEKENYSEGI
KORE

3. A Térsasag hatarozatian id6re alakult és
nyilvanos részvénytarsasagként mikédik. A
Tarsasdg a NAB| Eszak-Amerikai Jarmdipari
Kft. altalanos jogutddja, az atalakulds napja
1997. mércius 31.

4 ATarsasg tevékenységi kdre (TEAOR szerint):

3410 Kdz(ti gépjarmi gyartasa

3420 Gépjarmi-karosszéria, pétkocsi
gyartasa

3430 Kdz(ti jarmdmotor, -alkatrész gyértasa

50.10  Gépjarmi-kereskedelem

50.30 Gépjarmialkatrész-kereskedelem

71.21  Egyéb szarazfoldi jarmd kolcsénzése

ALAPTOKE ES RESZVENYEK

5. ATérsasag alaptdkéje:

4.624.600.000,- Ft, azaz  négymilliard
hatszazharmincmillié hatszazezer forint.

6.  ATéarsasag részvényei

6.1 A Tarsasag alaptdkeje 4.624.600 db, egyenként
1.000,- Ft, azaz egyezer forint névérték, névre
sz0l6, egyenld és azonos tagsagi jogokat
meglestesitd  dematerializalt tdrzsrészvénybdl
al. A Tarsasag a torzsrészvényeken Kivl
nyilvanosan dematerializalt, illetve zartkorli
kibocsatas esetén nyomtatott vagy
dematerializalt formaban is kibocsathat mas

NAME AND REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE
COMPANY

1. Full name of the Company: NABI Eszak-
Amerikai JarmUipari Részvenytarsasag

Abbreviated name: NABI Rt.

NABI North American Bus
Industries Rt.

In English:

2. Registered office:
H-1165 Budapest, Ujszész u. 45.

TERM AND OBJECTS OF THE COMPANY

3. The Company is founded for an indefinite term
and operates as a public company.
The Company is the general legal successor of
NABI North American Bus Industries Kit. The
effective date of transformation was March 31,
1997,

4. The objects of the Company are as follows
{according to TEAOR categories):

3410  Manufacture of public road vehicles

3420  Manufacture of vehicle bodies and
trailers

3430  Manufacture of engine and spare
parts for public road vehicles

50.10  Trade of vehicles

50.30  Trade of vehicle components

71.21

Rental of other land-vehicle

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

5. Share capital:

HUF 4,624,600,000 (i.e. four bitlion six
hundred and twentyfour million six hundred
thousand Hungarian forints).

B. Shares

6.1 The share capital consists of 4.624.600
dematerialized registered ordinary shares of
HUF 1,000 each representing equal and
identical rights. The Company may issue
shares other than registered ordinary shares
through public offering in dematerialized, or in
case of private placement in both printed and
dematerialised form. If the Company issues

2128
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6.2

fajtaj részvényeket. Amennyiben a Téarsasag
nyomdai Gton eldallitott részvényeket bocsat ki,
azok Osszevont cimleti  részvényként s
kibocsathatok. Az alaptéke teljes egészében be
van fizetve.

Az a részvény, amelyet a Tarsasdgnak vagy a

- felemelt alaptékének a cégjegyzékbe térténd

6.2.1

6.2.2

bejegyzése és az alaptike, illetve a részvények
kibocsatasi értékének teljes befizetése eldtt
allitanak ki (adnak at a részvényesnek vagy
irnak jova értékpapirszamiéjan), semmis.

A nyomdai Glon eldallitott részvényen legalabb
a kdvetkezdket kell feltiintetni:

(a) aTarsasag nevét és szekhelyét;

{b) a részvény sorszémat,  sorozatat,
névertékét és azt, hogy névre sz20!;

(¢ a részvenyfajtahoz, illetve
részvényosztalyhoz f0z6d6, az
Alapszabalyban meghatarozott jogokat;

{d} a kibocsétas idopontjal, az alaptke

nagysagat és a kibocsatott részvények
szamat;

az Igazgatdsag két tagjdnak alairasat,
amely lehet nyomdai uton sokszorositott
alairas; és

{f) arészvény értékpapir kodjat.

A Térsasag dematerializalt  reszvényeire
vonatkozoan a 6.2.1 pontban foglaitakat kell
alkalmazni, azzal az eltéréssel, hogy a
részvényen a részveny sorszamat feltiintetni
nem kell, valamint az (e) pontban meghatarozott
szemeélyek alairasa helyett amelyet a
Tarsasag altal  kidllitott és a Kozponti
Elszamolohaz és Ertéktar (Budapest) Rt-ben
(.KELER") elhelyezett okiraton kell feltintetni -,
a dematerializdlt részvényen az okiratot
cégszerlien alairok neve szerepel. A KELER-nél
elhelyezett okiral tartalmazza:

(@) a részvényesek neve kivételevel a
részvény jogszabalyban meghatarozott
valamennyi tartalmi kellékét;

a kibocsatasrol szold dontést;

6.2

shares represented by printed share
certificates, such share certificates may be
issued in the form of consolidated share
certificates (representing more than one
share). The shares are fully paid.

Shares issued (delivered or credited on a
securities account) prior to the registration of
the Company or of the increased capital by
the competent Court of Registration or prior to
the full payment of the share capital or the
issue price of the shares shall be null and
void.

6.2.1 As a minimum requirement the printed share

6.2.2

3/28

certificates  shall bear the

information:

following

{a) the name and seat of the Company;
(b) the serial number, series, nominal value
- of the share and the fact that it is
registered:

the rights attached to the type or class of
shares in question as set out in the
Articles of Association;

the date of issuance, amount of share
capital and number of shares issued;

the signatures of two members of the
Board of Directors, which can be printed
signatures; and

() the security identification code of the
share.

The provisions of 6.2.1 shall be applied with
respect to dematerialized shares of the
Company with the exception that the serial
number of the share need not to be indicated,
and instead of the signatures of the persons
specified under paragraph (e), their name
shall be indicated on the dematerialized
shares. The signatures of such persons shall
be placed on the document issued by the
Company and placed at the Kdzponti
Elszamolohaz és Ertéktar (Budapest) RL.
("KELER"). The document placed at KELER
shall contain the following information:

(a) except the shareholders' name, each
required particulars of shares specified
by law;

(b)

the decision on the issuance;
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63,

6.4

6.5

{c) akibocsatolt teljes sorozat Gssznévértékét;
(d) akibocsatott részvények szamat; és

(e) a Tarsasdg igazgatdsaga két tagjanak
alairasat.

A Tarsasdg az egy sorozatnak mindsild
részvenyeknek csak azonos névériéken és
azonos  mddon  tortend  elballitasardl
rendelkezhet.

Nyomdai Uton el8aflitott részvények esetén az
lgazgatésag dontése szerint a Tarsasag
kidllithat Osszevont cimleti részvényeket.
Osszevont cimleti részvények kiallitasara csak
azonos sorozatba tartozd és azonos névérték(
részvények esetében van lehetdség. Barmely
részvényes kérheti az lgazgatosagtol az
bsszevont  cimletl  részvényeinek  kisebb
6sszevont cimletl részvényekre, itletve. a jelen
Alapszabdlyban az adott részvénysorozatra
meghatarozott névértékl (alapcimletd)
részvenyre tortend felbontésat, amelyért az
lgazgatdsdg altal meghatérozott, indokolt
0sszegl dijat kell megfizetnie. Az Igazgatdsag a
részvényesek ilyen iranyQ irasbeli kérésének a
kérés kézhezvételéidl szamitott 30 napon belil
kételes eleget tenni, azaz az dsszevont cimletd
részvényt kisebb dsszevont cimletire, illetve
alapcimietl részvényekre becseréini, feltéve,
hogy a részvényes az ezzel kapcsolates dijat
elézetesen megfizeti a Tarsasagnak,

A Tarsasag torzsrészvényei dematerializalt
ériékpapirok. A Téarsasdg sorozalban csak
névreszolé részvényt bocsathat ki.

Abban az esetben, ha a Tarsasag kozgyllése
vagy, adott esetben Igazgatdsaga vj részvények
forgalomba hozatala Ofjan torténd alaptoke
emelést hataroz el, a vagyoni hozzajarulast (i) a
zartkord  alaptdke-emelés esetén a vételi
széndéknyilatkozat megtételekor, (i) nyilvanos
alaptéke-emelés esetén pedig a jegyzéskor kell
megtenni. Ennek elmulasztasa esetén az
lgazgatésag harminc (30) napos hatéridé
kitizésével teljesitésre hivia fel a veteli
szandéknyilatkozatot tett vagy a részvényt
jegyzett személyt és figyelmezteti hogy a
teljesités elmulasztasa a tagsagi jogviszony
megszinését eredmeényezi. Az a részvényes,
akinek tagsagi joga igy szlint meg, a vagyoni
hozzéjarulas teljesitésének elmulasztasa miatt a
Téarsasagnak okozott karért a polgari jog
altalanos  szabélyai szerinti  feleldsséggel
{artozik.

6.3

6.4

6.5

4/28

{¢)  total face value of the entire series
issued;
{d) number of issued shares; and

(e) signatures of two members of the
Board of Directors of the Company.

Within one series the Company may not issue
shares with different nominal values or in a
different form.

In the case of printed share cerfificates, the
Company may issue consclidated share
cerfificates upon the decision of the Board of
Directors, provided that such consolidation may
only be carried out for shares belonging to same
series of shares having the same nominal value.
Any shareholder may request from the Board of
Directors the splifing of the consolidated share
certficates into consolidated share certificates
representing @ smaller number of shares, or into
share certificates representing one share having
the nominal velue defined in these Asricles of
Association for such series of shares against a
reasonable fee to be established by the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors shall comply with
such request, ie. to exchange the consclidated
share certificates for a consolidated share certificate
of a smaller number of shares or into certificates
representing one share within 30 days from receipt
of the witten request and issue such certificates,
provided the shareholder pays the fee of such
spiiting to the Company in advance.

The ordinary shares of the Company are
dematerialized securities. The Company may
issue in series registered shares only.

In the event the General Meeting or, as the
case may be, the Board of Directors of the
Company approves a share capital increase
by way of issuance of new shares, the
contribution shall be due at the time of ()
submission of the declaration of intent to
purchase the shares in the case of a closed
capital increase or (i) at the time of the
subscription of the shares in the case of a
public capital increase. In the event that the
person who declared his/her intention to
purchase the shares or subscribed shares
fails to provide his/her  undertaken
contribution, the Board of Directors shall notify
such shareholder, which notice shall request
payment of his/her contribution within 30
days, and shall inform the shareholder that
failure to do so will result in termination of the
shareholders” fegal relationship with the
Company. The shareholder whose legal
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RESZVENYKONYV ES A RESZVENYES!

JOGOK GYAKORLASA
7. Részvénykdnyv
7.1 Az lgazgat0sag a névre szélo részvényesekrdl,

7.2

7.3

7.4

az ideiglenes részvények tulajdonosairdl, illetve
a reszvényesi meghatalmazottakrdl
részvénysorozatonként Részvénykdnyvet vezet,
amely valamennyi részvényesre vonatkczban
legaldbb a kdvetkezOket tartalmazza:

(a) a részvényes/részvényesi
meghatalmazott  (jogszabalyban
meghatarozott esetben mindkettd)
(kdzs tulajdonban &lld részveny

esetén a  koézds  képviseld)
cége/neve;
(b) a részvényes/részvényesi

meghatalmazott  (jogszabalyban
meghatarozott esetben mindkettd)
(kézds tulajdonban allo részvény

esetén a kdzds  képviseld)
szekhelyeflakcime;
{c) a részvényes  részvényeinek

darabszama (és amennyiben a
részvényt nyomdai Uton allitottak
el, a sorszama).

Az igazgatosag a részvényes irasbeli kérésére
a Részvénykdnyvbl! a részvényesre vonatkozd
adatokré! kivonatot készit.

A Tarsasag lgazgatdsédga a Részvénykdnyv
vezetésére elszamoldhaznak = és befektetési
vallalkozasnak, pénzigyi intézménynek
megbizast adhat. A megbizas tényét a
Cégkdzldnyben és a Magyar Tékepiacban
kdzzé kell tenni.,

akinek a neve a
szerepel, ellenkezd
Tarsasag reszvényesének

Az a személy,
Részvénykdnyvben
bizonyitasig a
tekintendgd.

Az lgazgatdsag kiteles a KELER, mint letéti

relationship has been terminated this way
shall be liable in accordance with the general
rules of civil law on damages caused to the
Company by his/her failure to provide the
contribution.

REGISTER OF SHARES AND
EXERCISE OF SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS

7.

7.1

7.2

73

7.4

5/28

Register of Shares

The Board of Directors shall keep a Register
of Shares of all registered shareholders, the
owners of interim shares, and the
shareholder's  representatives, if  any
containing as a minimum the following

information in respect of each such
shareholder:
(a) Name of the

shareholder/shareholder's (or
both, if it is so required by law)
representative (in the case of
jointly owned shares, the name of
the joint representative);

{b) Registered office (address) of the
shareholder/shareholder's
representative (or both, if it is so
required by law) (in the case of

jointly owned  shares, the
registered office (address) of the
joint representative);

{c) Number of shares held by the
shareholder (and, in the case of
shares represented by printed
share certificates, the serial
number of such shares).

Upon written request by a shareholder, the
Board of Directors shall issue an extract of the
Register of Shares containing data in respect
of that shareholder.

The Board of Directors of the Company may
appoint a clearinghouse, an investment
enterprise or a financial institution to
administer the Register of Shares. Notice of
this appointment must be published in the
CégkozIony and in the Magyar T8kepiac.

The person whose name is registered in the
Register of Shares shall be regarded as the
shareholder of the Company as long as no
evidence lo the contrary exists.

As evidence of ownership, the Company shall
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hely &ltal, illetve mas szervezet altal a KELER
igazolasa alapjan kiallitott leteti igazolast,
valamint a  dematerializalt  értékpapirok
tekintetében a megfeleld idSpontra kiallitott
értékpapirszamia-kivonatot a részvénytulajdont
igazolé bizonyitékként elfogadni.

. A Részvénykényvbe bejegyzett adatainak
megvaltozésa esetén a részvényes kiteles
haladéktalanul értesiteni az Igazgatosagot és
nyilatkozni az Uj adatokrol.  Amennyiben a
részvényes ezt a kotelezettsegét elmulasztja,
gy az ebbdl eredd vagy ezzel okozott karokért
minden feleldsseég a részvenyest terheli.

A Részvénykdnyvbe térténd bejegyzést kérd
(tovabbiakban a "Kerelmez$") a bejegyzési
kérelmében, illetve ahhoz kapcsolédoan az
lgazgatdsagnak a kdvetkezd adatokat koteles
barmilyen irdsos formaban megadni:

i) részvényfajtanként a részvények
szama, névértéke  (valamint
nyomdai tton el6allitott

részvények esetében a sorszama);

(i) a fenti 7.4 pont szerini
értékpapirszamla-kivonat,  letéti
igazolas vagy hailyen nincs, akkor
a megfeleld forgatmannyal ellatott
részveny bemutatasa;

(iii) részvénytulajdonos/részvényesi
meghataimazott  (jogszabalyban
meghatarozott esetben mindkettd)

cége/neve,

{iv) reszvénytulajdonos/részvényesi
meghatalmazott  (jogszabalyban
meghatarozott esetben

mindkettd)székhelye/lakcime; €s
V) részvényszerzés idépontja.

A Részvénykonyvre vonatkozd rendelkezések
abban az esetben is alkalmazanddk, ha a
részvény feletti tulajdonjog nem &truhazas dtjan
valtozolt meg.

accept the cerlificate of deposit issued by
KELER or issued by another entity on the
basis of a certificate issued by the KELER or,
with respect to dematerialized shares, the
securities account extract issued as of the
relevant date.

In the event of a change in its data contained
in the Register of Shares the shareholder shall
immediately notify the Board of Directors and
supply information on the changes. If the
shareholder fails to comply with this provision
the shareholder shall be liable for all the less
and damage arising out of or in connection
with that non-compliance.

A person who is applying for registration in the
Register of Shares (hereinafter the
"Applicant”) shall submit the following
information to the Board of Directors in any
written form:

(i) the number and the nominal value
of the shares acquired per class (in
the case of printed share
certificates, the serial number of
such share certificates);

(i) the securities account extract issued

' by the securities account holder, the
certificate of deposit of such shares
pursuant to Section 7.4 above, or if
that is not available, the share
certificates showing the properly
executed endorsements;

{iiy  the name of the
shareholder/shareholder
representative if any (or both, if it is
s0 required by law);

(iv)  registered office (address) of the
shareholder/shareholder
representative, if any (or both, if it is
50 required by law); and

(v)  date of acquisition.

The provisions applicable to the Register of
Shares shall apply also in case the owner of
the share has been changed other than by
means of a transfer.

A RESZVENYEK ATRUHAZASA TRANSFER OF SHARES
8. Arészvények atruhazasa 8. Transfer of Shares
8.1 A Tarsasag részvényei szabadon atruhazhaték. 81 Shares are freely transferable without

A dematerializalt torzsrészvények atruhazasa restrictions. Dematerialized ordinary shares
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az eladd értékpapirszamiajanak are transferred by debiting the securities
megterhelésével és a vevé értekpapirszamiajan account of the seller and crediting the
torténd jévairassal tortenik azzal, hogy az securities account of the purchaser provided
atruhazas a Térsasaggal szemben attdl az that such transfer shall become effective vis-
idSponttol kezdve hatalyos és a részvényes a a-vis the Company and the shareholders may
Tarsasaggal szemben a részvényesi jogait csak exercise their rights vis-a-vis the Company
akkortol  gyakorclhatja, amikor az U only when the name of the transferee or its

- részvenytulajdonos, illetve a  részvényesi shareholder representative (or both, if it is so
meghatalmazott neve (jogszabalyban required by law), is entered in the Register of
meghatarozott  esetben  mindketté) a Shares. Printed registered shares are
Reszvénykdnyvbe bevezetésre kerll. A transferred by a full or blank endorsement on
nyomdai uton el@allitott névre szold részvények the back side of the share certificate or the
atruhazésa a részvények hatoldalara vagy sheet (allonge) attached to the share provided
toldatéra irt telies vagy Ures forgatmannyal that such transfer shall become effective vis-
torténik azzal, hogy az atruhazas a Tarsaséggal a-vis the Company and the shareholders may
szemben attdl az idéponttdl kezdve hatélyos és exercise their rights vis-a-vis the Company
a részvényes a Téarsasdggal szemben a only when the name of the transferee or its
részvényesi jogait csak akkortol gyakorolhatja, shareholder representative, is entered in the
amikor az U részvénylulajdonos, illetve a Register of Shares. The parties who have
részvényesi  meghatamazott neve a acquired their shares in breach of applicable
Részvénykdnyvbe bevezetésre keril. Nem laws may not be entered into the Register of
jegyezhetd be a Részvénykonyvbe az, aki Shares. The shareholders entered into the
reszvényét torvénybe (itkdzé mbdon szerezte. A Register of Shares shall report the transfer of
Részvénykényvbe  bejegyzelt  reszvényes their shares to the Board of Directors of the
részvénye atruhdzéasat annak megtdrténtétdl Company within eight days after such transfer.
szémitott nyolc napon bellil kdteles bejelenteni If the shareholders fail to meet their disclosure
a Tarsasag lgazgatdsaganak. Ha a részvényes obligations, they shall be obliged to pay a
& Dejelentési kotelezettségét elmulasztja, akkor daily late payment penalty equal to 0.5per
az atruhazott részvények Ossznévértéke 0,5 cent per cent of the nominal value of the
szézalékanak megfeleld napi kotbért koteles transferred shares for each day of the delay.
fizetni a késedelem minden napjara. A The new owner of dematerialized shares shall
dematerializalt részvény U] tulajdonosa az be obliged to notify the Board of Directors of
értékpapirszamla-vezetéje  altal  kiallitott the acquisition of shares by presenting the
szamlakivonattal a2 nyomdai dton eldéallitott securities account extract issued by the
részvény Uj tulajdonosa pedig a forgatmannyal securities account holder. The new owner of
ellatott részvények vagy a letéti igazolas the shares represented by printed share
bemutatédséval  koteles  részvényszerzését certificates shall be obliged to notify the Board
bejelenteni és megadni a 7.6 pontban foglalt cf Directors of the acquisition of shares by
adatokat. presenting endorsed share certificate or

certificate of deposit and the information set
out in Section 7.6 above.

82 A Tarsasagban 33%-ot, illetve a tdkepiacrd! 82 For the acquisition of an influence in the
52616 2001. évi CXX. torvény ("Tpt.") 68. § (1) Company exceeding 33% or, in the case set
bekezdésében meghatarozott esetben 25%-ot out in Section 68 (1) of Act CXX of 2001 on
meghaladé mértek( befolyds megszerzésére capital market ("Capital Market Act"), 25%, a
csak a Tpt. szerinti nyilvanos veteli ajanlat public purchase offer must be made in
keretében kerlihet sor. accordance with the Capital Market Act.

8.3 Az |Igazgatosag koteles megtagadni a 8.3  The Board of Directors is obliged to deny the

Részvénykdnyvbe torténd bejegyzést abban az
esetben, ha a befolyasszerzésre a Tpt-nek a
nyilvanosan  mikodé  részvénytarsasagban
t6rténd befolyasszerzésre vonatkozé
szabalyaitdl eltérd modon kerlilt sor. Ebben az
esetben a Térsasaggal szemben a tagsagi
jogok nem gyakorothatdak. A befolyast szerzé a
33, illetve a 25 %-ot meghaladé mertéki
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registration into the Book of Shares when the
acquisition of an influence takes place in
breach of the regulations of the Capitat Market
Act regarding the acquisition of influence in
public companies. In such a case the
shareholders rights cannot be exercised vis-a-
vis the Company. The acquiror shall alienate
those shares embodying voling rights in
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8.4

. meghozatalat

szavazati jogot megtestesitd részvenyeit kiteles
a szerzést vagy a Pénzlgyi Szervezetek Allami

Fellgyelete ('Felligyelet) a Tptnek a
nyilvanosan  mikodé  részvénytarsasagban
torténd befolyasszerzésre vonatkozo
szabalyaitdl elterd befolyasszerzés

kévetkezményeit megallapitd hatarozatanak
kovetd hatvan napon belll

elidegeniteni.

Nyilvanos vételi ajanlat esetén:

(a) az ajanlattevének a
befolyasszerzés  lebonyolitasara
forgalmazot kell megbiznia,

{b) az gjanlattevének a Tarsasag
jovBbeni mikédésére vonatkozdan
a Tpt. szerinti mdkddesi tervet kell
készitenie, illetve ha az ajanlattevé

akar  kilféldi, akar  belfldi
gazdalkodd szervezet gazdasagi
tevékenységérél  jelentést  kell
készitenie;

{c}) a vételi ajanlatot a Fellgyeletnek
jova kell hagynia;

{d) a vételi gjanlat elfogadasara nyitva

alld hataridé legaldbb harminc,
legfeljebb negyvendt nap lehet. Az
elfogado nyilatkozatok megtételére
nyitva allé hatariddé kezddnapja
nem lehet korabbi idépont, mint a
Feligyelet  nyilvanos  vételi
ajanlatot jovahagyd hatérozaténak
kozzétetelére vonatkozo
hirdetmény megjelenését kovetd
masodik nap, és nem lehet
kesobbi iddpont mint a kozzétételt
kovetd otodik nap.

(e) A nyilvanos vételi ajanlatot a
Téarsasadg valamennyi szavazali
jogot megtestesitd részvényére,
valamennyi  szavazati  joggal
rendelkezd részvényesének kell
megtenni.

! az ajaniati kotottség ideje alatt az
gjanlatot elfogadd részvényesek
kotelesek annal az lgazgatosag
altal kijelolt budapesti székhelyl
hitelintézetnél vagy befekletési
tarsasagnél részvényeiket letetbe
helyezni, ahol majd a vételar
kifizetése torténik. Az ajanlattevé a
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excess of 33% or 25%, respectively, of the
voting rights of the Company within sixty days
from the day of the acquisition or from the
date of the resolution of the State Supervision
of  Financial  Crganisations  {"SSFQO")
determining the consequences of the unlawful
acquisition of influence in a public company.

In case of an acquisition of influence through
compulsory public purchase offer

(a) the offeror must hire an
investment enterprise to manage
the implementation of the
acquisition of influence;

(b) the offeror, in accordance with the
regulations of the Capital Market
Act, must prepare a plan for the
Company's future operation and if
the offeror is a foreign or a
domestic business organization, it
must prepare a report of its
business activity,

(c) the public purchase offer has to
be approved by the SSFO;
(d) the pericd for the acceptance of

the public purchase offer shall be
at least 30 and not more than 45
days. The first day of the
acceptance period of the public
purchase offer cannot be earlier
than the second and cannot be
later than the fifth day from the
date of the publication of the
announcement regarding  the
SSFQ's approval. of the public
purchase offer;

(e) the public purchase offer shall be
made for all of the shares
representing voting rights and for
all of the shareholders holding
shares representing voting rights;

{f) during the acceptance period
those shareholders who accept
the offer shall deposit their shares
with a credit institution or an
investment company, respec-
tively, to be designated by the
Board of Oirectors in Budapest
where the payment of the
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vételar  0Osszegenek, iletve
fedezetének rendelkezésre
allasardl a fenti hitelintézet vagy
befektetési tarsasag altal hivatalos
banki  igazolast kdteles az
lgazgatdsag részére bemutatni.

A vételi ajanlatban az ajanlat
targyat képezd részvényeknek
ellenértéke nem lehet kevesebb
mint a részvényeknek a vételi
agjanlat Fellgyelet részere térténd
benyujtasat megel6zd
széznyolevan nap forgalommal
sllyozott t6zsdei atlagara és az
ajanlattevd, valamint a Tpt-ben
meghatarozott kapcsolt személyek
altal a vételi ajanlat benytjtasat
megel6z0 szdznyolcvan - napon
belll a Téarsasag részvényeire
ellenérték fejében kotdtt truhazasi
szerzédés legmagasabb ara, vagy
a vételi, visszavasarlasi jog
érvényesitése esetén a szerz6dés
lehivasi éra és dija egylttes
6sszege Kkozil a magasabb
ésszeq.

Az gjanlattevé megkeresésére a
Tarsasag lgazgatdséga jogosult,
de nem koteles a Tarsaség
milkddésére vonatkozd informaciot
az ajaniattevd részére atadni. Az
ilyen informaciot az ajanlattevd, az
agjanlattevd meghatalmazotja,
valamint a forgalmazé koteles az

Uzleti titokra, az ertékpapirtitokra,

valamint a bennfentes
kereskedelem tilalmara vonatkozé
szabalyoknak megfelelden kezelni.

Az ajanlattevé
felajanlott
megvasarolni, kivéve, ha az
elfogadd nyilatkozaltok alapjan az
agjanlattevd, illetve a Tpt-ben
meghatarozott kapcselt személyek
nem szereznek a Térsasagban
6tven  szazalékot  meghaladd
befolyast és a vételi ajanlat erre az
esetre tartalmazta az eléllas
joganak fenntartasat. Tilos a
részvényesek kGz6tt a vételi

valamennyi
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részvényt  koteles

purchase price will take place.
The offeror has to submit a
certificate to be issued by the
above credit institution or
investment company to the Board
of Direclors confirming the
availability of the purchase price
or its coverage.

The purchase price shall not be
less than the highest of the
following prices: (i) the weighted
average price of the shares of the
Company on the Budapest Stock
Exchange during the one hundred
eighty (180) days period
immediately ~ preceding  the
submission of the public offer to
the SSFO; (i) the highest price of
share sale purchase agreements
concluded by the offeror or the
connected persons, as defined by
the Capital Market Act for the
shares of the Company during the
one hundred eighty (180) days
period immediately preceding the
submission of the public offer to
the SSFO; and iii) in the case of
exercising an option or a
repurchase right during the above
period, the cumulated amount of
the purchase price and the option
fee.

Upon request of the offeror, the
Board of Directors is entitied, but
not  obliged, to  disclose
information  concerning  the
operation of the Company to the
offeror. Such information shall be
handled.by the offeror, his proxy
and the investment enterprise in
compliance with the provisions on
business secrets and securities
related secrecy obligations and
the prohibition of insider dealing.

The offeror must purchase all the
offered shares except if the
offeror and the connected
perscns, as defined by the Capital
Market Act, do not acquire
influence in excess of 50% and
the offeror stipulated the right of
rescission for such a case. It is
prohibited to discriminate among
shareholders in relation to their
exercising rights in the course of
the acceptance of the purchase
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gjanlat elfogaddsara vonatkozd
jogosultsag  gyakorlasa  soran

hatranyos megkulonbdztetést
tenni.
0 Az ajanlattevd és az elfogadé

nyilatkozatot  tevd  részvényes
kozott a  részvény-atruhazasi
szerzddés az elfogado nyilatkozat
megtételere nyitva alld hataridd
zéarbénapjan jon létre, kivéve, ha az
esetlegesen sziikseéges verseny-
felligyeleti eljards ezen a napon
még nem zarult le. Ez utobbi
esetben a szerzGdés a verseny-
feligyeleti engedély megadasanak
napjan jon létre.

(k) Az gjanlattevd az ellenérték
teliesitésére a  vételi ajanlat
elfogadéséra nyitva allé hatéridé
zarbnapjat - verseny-felligyeleti
eligras  esetén a  verseny-
feligyeleti engedély megadasanak
napjat - kovetd &t munkanapon
belul kételes.

Az lgazgatésag koteles a véleli ajénlatot
véleményezni és azt a részvényesek szaméra a
Tpt-ben meghatérozott médon kbzzétenni. Az
lgazgatosdg jogosult a  vételi ajaniat
értékelésével a Tarsasag koltségen figgetlen
pénziigyi szakértdt megbizni. A szakériéi
értékelést az Igazgatdsag a sajat véleményevel
azonos moédon teszi kbzzé.

Az alaptékének “Uj részvények nyilvanos
forgalomba hozatalaval torténd felemelése
soran a Tarsasag részvényeseit jegyzési
elsébbség illeli meg az alaptéke-emelésrdl
donté kdzgyiési hatarozatban foglalt feltételek
szerint.

offer.

(i) The contract between the offeror
and the shareholder submitting
the declarations of acceptance
shall come into existence on the
last day of the period available for
the submission of the declaration
of acceptance, except if the
necessary Competition  Office
proceeding has not yet completed
on that day. In the latter case the
contract comes into existence on
the day of the granting of the
Competition Office's approval.

(k) The offeror shall pay the
purchase price within five days of
the last day of the acceptance
period of the purchase offer. In
the case of a Competition Office
proceeding, this deadiine shall
commence on the day of the
granting of the Competition Office
approval.

The Board of Directors shall form an opinion
on the purchase offer to the shareholders and
publish it in accordance with the rules of the
Capital Market Act. The Board of Directors is
entitled to appoint an independent financial
advisor, at the Company's costs, to evaluate
the purchase offer. The report on the
evaluation of such an expert must be
published by the Board of Directors in the
same way as the Board of Directors has
published its own opinion on the purchase
offer.

[n case of increasing the share capital by way
of issuance of new shares, the shareholders
of the Company shall be given priority for the
subscription according to conditions to be
specified in a resolution of the General
Meeting deciding on the capital increase.

KOZGYULES, SZAVAZATOK GENERAL MEETING, VOTES

9. Kozgyltés 9. General Meeting
The General Meeting is the principal body of

the Company, which comprises all the
shareholders.  The following activities shall

A Tarsasaq legfébb szerve a kdzgylilés, amely
a részvényesek Osszességebdl all. Az aldbbi
déntések a kdzgydlés kizardlagos hataskdrébe
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tartoznak:

(a)

jelen Alapszabaly megéllapitasa és
madositasa;
makddési

déntés a  Tarsasag

‘forméjanak megvaltoztatasardl,

a Tarsasag atalakulasanak és joguted
nélkili megsz(inésének elhatérozasa;

az lgazgatosag, a Felligyeld Bizottsag
tagjainak és a kdnywvizsgalonak a
megvalasztasa, visszahivasa,
valamint dijazasuk megallapitasa;

a szamviteli  térvény  szerinti
beszamol¢ elfogadésa, ideértve az
adozott eredmény felhasznalasara
vonatkozé déntést is;

déntés osztalékelbleg fizetesérdl;

dontés a részvények tipusanak
atalakitasarol;
déntés nyomdai Gton  eldallitott

részvény dematerializalt részvénnyé
torténd atalakitasérol;

az egyes részvény-sorozatokhoz
fliz6dé jogok megvélitoztatésa, illetve
az egyes részvenyfajtak, osztalyok
atalakitasa;

dontés atvaltoztathatd vagy jegyzési
jogot biztositd kdtvény kibocsatasardl;

amennyiben a tarsasagi torvény
masképp nem rendelkezik, dontés a
sajat  részvény  megszerzésérdl,
tovabba a sajat részvényre kapott
nyilvanos vételi ajanlat elfogadasard!;

‘dontés a Tarsasdg részvényeinek

barmely t6zsdérél, illetve jegyzési
rendszerbdl torténd  kivezetésének
kérelmezésérdl, kivéve ha van olyan
részvényes aki legaldbb 75 %-0s

szavazali joggal rendelkezik a
kivezetni kivant sorozat
vonatkozasaban, mert ebben az

esetben ezen részvényes a telies

fall within the exclusive authority of the
General Meeting.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(@)
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establishing and amending these
Articles;

decision on the change of the form
of operation of the Company;

decision on the transformation or
termination of the Company without
legal successor;

electing and dismissing members of
the Board of Directors, Supervisory
Board and the auditor, and
determining their remuneration;

approval of the annual financial
report prepared according to the
Accounting Act, including a decision
on the appropriation of after-tax
profits;

decision to pay interim dividends;

decision on whether to alter the type
of a share,

decision to transform printed shares
into dematerialized shares;

variation of the rights attached to a
certain series of shares and the
transformation of categories or
classes of shares;

decision on the issue of convertible
bonds or bonds with subscription
rights;

decision on the acquisition by the
Company of its own shares, unless
otherwise  provided by the
Companies Act and on the
acceptance of a public offer to
purchase the Company shares
owned by the Company.

decision on delisting the shares of
the Company from any stock
exchange or any listing system,
except if there is a shareholder who
has at least 75 % of the voting rights
in connection with the series that
are subject fto the proposed
delisting, in which case such
shareholder, in the form of a legal
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bizonyitd erejli maganckiratba foglalt declaration set forth in a private
jognyilatkozataval maga is dénthet a instrument with full probative force,
részvenyek kivezetéserd!; can also decide on the delisting of
the shares;
{m) a vezetli részvény program €s a. (m) approving the Management Share
részvényosztalék pragram Option Plan and the Stock Dividend
. ‘jovahagyasa és modositasa (ide nem Plan of the Company or amending
értve az ilyen programok altal az same other than those amendments
lgazgatésag  jogaként fenntartott reserved for the Board of Directors
médositasokat); in such Plans;
{n) dontés a Feliigyeld  Bizottsag {n) approving the adopted or amended
elfogadott dgyrendjének, illetve az rules  of  procedure of the
Ugyrend barmely  médositasanak Supervisory Board following the
jovahagyasardl; és approval by the Supervisory Board;
and '
(o) dontés minden olyan kérdésben, {0) deciding on all issues referred by
amelyet a vonatkozd jogszabalyok, the law or these Articles to the
illetve a jelen Alapszabaly a kdzgylés exclusive sphere of authority of the
kizarolagos hataskdrébe utal. General Meeting.
10.  Evirendes kdzgylilés Annual General Meeting

Evi rendes kozgydlést minden évben The Annual General Meeting (AGM) shall

egyszer kell tartani. be held once a year.

Az évi rendes kozgylilés napirendjén The following must be on the agenda of the

legalabb a kdvetkezknek kell szerepelnie: AGM as a minimum:

(a) a Tarsasag szamviteli torvény {a) approval of the annual financial
szerinti  beszamoldjanak és az report prepared in accordance
adozott eredmeny felhasznalasara with the Accounting Act and the
vonatkozo igazgatosagi proposal of the Board of Directors
javaslatnak az elfogadasa; on the appropriation of after-tax

profits;

(b) az |gazgatosdg lgyvezetésrdl, a (b) approval of the report of the
Tarsasag vagyoni helyzetérdl és Board of Directors on the day-to-

-« Uzletpolitikajard! készitett day management, financial status
jelentésének elfogadasa; and business policy of the
Company,

(c) a szamviteli térvény szerinti (c) approval of the report of the
beszamolé és az  addzott Supervisory Board and the
eredmény felhasznalasardl szold Auditor's repert on the annual
felligyeld bizottsagi és financial report prepared in
kényvvizsgaloi jelentés accordance with the Accounting
elfogadasa. Act and the appropriation of after-

tax profits;
11, Rendkivili kdzgydlés Extraordinary General Méeting

Rendkivili  kézgyllés hivandd 0Ossze az
lgazgatosag, tovabba a tarsaségi tdrvényben
(az 1997. évi CXLIV. tv. és annak barmely
médositasa, illetve a  helyébe  1épé
jogszabalyok) meghatarozott eselekben a
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An Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM)
shall be convened upon the resolution of
the Board of Directors and the Supervisory
Board, or the Court of Registration, or upon
the request of the Auditor in the cases
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Feligyel6 Bizottsag vagy a Cégbirosag specified by the Companies Act (Act CXLIV
hatarozata, illetve a konywvizsgélo kérése of 1997 including any amendments or
eseten, valamint a szavazatok 1/10-ed részét replacement thereto), and if requested by a
képviselé részvényes vagy részvényesek shareholder or shareholders representing at
kérelmére, ha azt az ok és a cél irasbeli least one-tenth of the votes if they indicate
megjelolésével, részvényesi mivoltuk igazolasa the reason and objective of the meeting and
mellett kérik. Az Igazgalosdg a kozgyllési certify their shareholder status. The Board

- . hirdetményt az ilyen kérés kézhezvételétd! of Directors shall publish the notice for the
szamitott 15 napon beliil kételes kdzzétenni. EGM within 15 days from the receipt of
such request.

12. Akoézgyllés &sszehivasa 12.  Notice of the General Meeting

12.1 A kozgyllésre szolo meghivdt a Tarsaség 12.1 The notice for the General Meeting shall be
hirdelményeire  meghatarozott médon, a publicly announced by the Board of Directors
tervezett kdzgydlést megeldzéen legalabb 30 or other authorized persons or bodies
nappal az lgazgatdsag, illetve a 11. pont indicated in Section 11 above in accordance
vonatkozéd  rendelkezéseivel  6sszhangban with Section 32, but at least thirty days prior to
megjelolt mas jogosult nyilvanosan kbzzéteszi a the date of the proposed General Meeting.

32. pontban foglaltak szerinti médon.

122 Minden kozgyUlési hirdetményben meg kell 12.2 The published notice for the General Meeting
jelolni a Tarsasag cégnevét és székhelyét, a shall contain the name and registered office of
kdzgyilés helyét, napjat és idpontjat, a the Company, the venue, date and time of the
kdzgydtés napirendjét, valamint a szavazati jog General Meeting, the agenda of the General
gyakorlasanak Alapszabélyban elgirt feltételeit, Meeting, the conditions of exercising voting
tovabbd a  hatarozatképtelenség  miatt rights as specified in the Articles of
megismétlendd kozgydlés helyét és idejét. Evi Association, and the venue and date of a
rendes kozgylles esetében hirdetményben kell second General Meeting in case the General
kOzzétenni a Tarsasag szamviteli torvény Meeting has no quorum. The published notice
szerinti beszamoldjanak és az lgazgatdsag, for the Annual General Meeting shall contain
valamint a Fellgyeld Bizotisag jelentésének the substantial information of the annual
lényeges adatait. Amennyiben a kdzgydlés financial report prepared in accordance with
napirendjén  alaptéke-emeles  szerepel, a the Accounting Act and the reports of the
kdvetkezd adatokat is fel kell tintetni a Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board.
hirdetményben: az alaptdke-emelés médjat, Should a capital increase be on the agenda of
tervezelt legkisebb &sszegét, a kapcsolédd the General Meeting, the following shail be
Alapszabdly  modositds  tervezetét, a also indicated in the published notice for the
kibocsatandé U] részvények szamat, sorozatat, General Meeting and the relevant public
a sorozatba tartozd részvények fajtajahoz, announcement: the method of the registered
Hetve részvényoszidlyahoz kapcsolddd jogokat, capital increase, the minimum amount of the
a részvények eldallitasanak modjat, névértékét, increase, the draft amendment to the Articles
iletve kibocsatasi értékét és befizetésének of Association refated to the capital increase,
feltételeit. the number and series of the new shares to

be issued, the rights atlached to the new
shares, the method of issue, the nominal
value and/or issue price of the shares, as well
as {he conditions of payment.

12.3 A kdzzélett napirenden nem szerepld (gyben a 12.3 The General Meeting can only adopt
kdzgylés csak akkor hozhat dontést, ha resolutions regarding items that do not appear
valamennyi részvényes jelen van és az (j on the announced agenda if all shareholders
napirendi  pont felvéleléhez  egyhangulag are present at the General Meeting and
hozzéjarulnak. unanimously assent to include that item on the

agenda of the meeting.

124 Amennyiben a magyar jog a kdzgytlés valamely 12.4 In the event that Hungarian law requires the

hatarozatahoz a részvényesek vagy valamely

13128

preliminary approval of the shareholders or of
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részvényesi csoport elbzetes hozzajarulasat irja
eld, ezen hozzdjarulasra vagy a hozzéjarulas
megtagadasara vonatkozd nyilatkozatokat a
kovetkezbképpen kell megtenni: az érintett
részvényesek a Tarsasag lgazgatésaganak az
adott kdzgyilés napja elétt legalabb 15 nappal a
részvényeseknek  kézbesitett  felhivasara

. nyilatkozhatnak. A nyilatkozatot a felhivashoz

13.

13.1

13.2

133

csatolt szavazdlapon, kdzokirati vagy teljes
bizonyito ereji magénokirati formaban, irdsban
tehetik meg. A nyilatkozat leadasi hatarideje a
kdzgydlés megkezdésének idGpontia. A
nyilatkozatot a Térsasag székhelyére, az
lgazgatosagnak  cimezve  kell  postan
megkildeni vagy a kdzgyllés helyszinén az
lgazgatoséag elnokének vagy a
vezérigazgatonak a kdzgyllés megkezdése
el6tt atadni. Azon részvényesek hozzajarulasat,
melyektél az erre rendelkezésre allo hataridén
bellll nyilatkozat nem érkezik, megadottnak kell
tekinteni. :

Hatarozatképesség, szavazas a kdzgydlésen

A kdzgylilés hatarozatképes, ha azon a
Szavazasra jogositd részvények tobb mint felét
képviseld részvényes személyesen, vagy
meghatalmazott képviseldje utjan jelen van. Az
ilyen képviseletre szolé meghatalmazést
kozokiratba vagy telies bizonyitd erejl
magénokiratba kell foglalni és azt a kdzgydlési
meghivoban megjeldlt helyen és idében, de
legkésébb a  kdzgyllés kezdetekor a
jegyz6konyvvezetdnek at kell adni.

Amennyiben a kdzgy(lés a kit(z6tt idGpontot
kdvetben 30 perccel sem hatarozatképes, agy
az azonos napirenddel tartandd megismételt
kdzgydtést az eredeti kdzgyUtési hirdetményben
megjeldlt hataridén belil, az ott megjelslt
idépontban és helyszinen kell megtartani.

A hatarozatképtelenség miatt megismételt
kozgyllés az eredeti napirenden szerepld
lgyekben  donthet  és  hatérozatképes
figgetlendl az ilyen megismételt kozgyllésen
képviselt alaptdke aranyatdl. '

A kdzgyllésen valo részvételre és szavazésra
az a reszvényes jogosult, akinek neve a
kdzgyllést megel6zé tulajdonosi megfeleltetés
fordulonapjan a Részvénykdnyvben szerepel,
8s a szavazali jogot biziositd részvény a
birtokaban van, illetve rendelkezik a 7.4
pontban meghatarozolt letéli igazolassal vagy

a group of shareholders to a resolution of the
General Meeting, the statements concerning
the granting or the refusal of such approval
shall be made in the following manner; the
affected shareholders are entitled to make a
statement on the appeal of the Board of
Directors of the Company delivered at least 15
days before the day of the given General
Meeting to the shareholders together with the
request to vote. They can make a statement in
writing on a voting sheet attached to the
request letter in the form of a notary document
or a private document with full probative force.
The deadline for filing the statements is the
time of starting of the General Meeting. The
statements shall be sent by post to the
registered seat of the Company, addressed to
the Board of Directors or they shall be handed
over to the chairman of the Board of Directors
or the Chief Executive Officer at the place of
the General Meeting before its start. The
approval is deemed to be given by those
shareholders who do not respond by the
deadline specified for such response.

13. Quorum, Voting

13.1

13.2

133
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A General Meeting shall have a quorum if the
attending shareholders or their authorized
representatives represent more than half of
the share capital which carries with it a right to
vote. Proxies for the General Meeting must
be in form of a legal document or in a fully
verifiable private deed and must be submitted
to the keeper of the minutes at the place and
time as indicated in the notice for the General
Meeting, but not later than at the beginning of
the General Meeting.

Where the General Meeting does nof have a
quorum 30 minutes after the announced time
of the meeting, a second General Meeting
shall be convened and held on the date and
venue set forth in the announcement of the
original General Meeting.

Such second General Meeting shall have a
quorum to discuss and decide on the same
agenda regardless of the amount of share
capital represented at such second meeting.

Those shareholders whose names are listed
in the Register of Shares on the turning day of
process for verifying the shareholders and
their holdings that is taken place before the
General Meeting, and possess the shares
representing the voting rights, or possess the
appropriate securities account extract or
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13.5

138

13.7

értekpapir-szamia kivonattal. A Részvénykényv
adatal alapjan a Tarsasdg lgazgatdsaga a
kdzgyllés helyszinén biztositja a
részvényenkénti szavazas lebonyolithatosagat.

A kozgy(lés nyilt szavazéssal szavaz. A
szavazas vagy az eldre kiosztott szavazéjegyek
leadasaval, vagy elektronikus Uton torténhet. A
kdzgylilés szavazatszamlalo bizottsagot valaszt,
melynek tagjaira a kozgydlés elndke lesz
javaslatot. A szavazatszdmlald bizottsag tagjai
aldirasukkal  hitelesitik  a  szavazasok
eredményét, amelyeket csatolni kell a
kézgyulési jegyzékdnyvhdz.

A kbzgyllés hatarozatait a 6.3 és 9. (a), (b).
(), (i), (m), és (I) pontokban felsorolt igyekben
a leadott szavazatok legaldbb haromnegyedes
6bbségével (ide nem értve a Fiiggetlen
lgazgatd megvalasztasat, ami a leadott
szavazatok 90 szazalékat igényli, valamint a
vezetli részvény program egyes, ezen
programban  meghatarozott ~ modositasait,
amelyek a telies alaptéke  legalabb
haromnegyed részét képviselé részvényesek
jovahagyasahoz kotott), mas dgyekben pedig a
leadott szavazatok egyszer( {6bbségével hozza
meg. A részvényeknek a BET-rél toriénd
kivezeteset (. {l) pont) csak akkor hagyhatja
jova a kozgyllés, ha a BET Bevezetési és
Forgalombantartasi Szabélyzatanak
rendelkezései szerinti t6zsdei ajanlat keriilt
megtételre, vagy el6zetes kdtelezetiségvallalas
toriént t8zsdei ajanlat megtetelére, feltéve, hogy
a BET Bevezetési és Forgalombantartasi
Szabdlyzata a tdzsdei ajanlat megtételét a
tozsdei értékpapir listardl vald toriés feltételéll
szabja. Ha van olyan részvényes, aki a
kivezetni  kivant sorczat vonatkozasaban
legalabb 75 %-0s szavazali joggal rendelkezik,
a telies bizonyitd erejli maganokiratba foglalt
jognyilatkozataval maga is donthet a
reszvények kivezetésérdl. A tartdzkodas nem
mindsiil - leadott  szavazatnak és a
hatarozatképességet nem befolyasolja.

A fenti 13.5 pontban felsorolt rendelkezések
kozll  azok  mddositasahoz,  amelyek
haromnegyedes mindsitett t0bbségnél
magasabb aranyl kézgyllési jovahagyast imak
eld, ugyanilyen magas arénys kozgydlési
hatérozat sziikséges.

Egy részvény egy szavazalra jogosit. Az
ideiglenes részvények utan jard szavazatli
jogosultsag ardnyos az ideiglenes részvény

134
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13.6

13.7
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certificate of deposit, as determined in section
7.4 shall have the right to attend the General
Meeting and to vote. Based on data of the
Register of Shares, the Board of Directors
shall provide appropriate means of voting per
share for the shareholders.

The General Meeting shall vote openly. The
votes shall be cast on previously distributed
voting ballots or through electronic means. A
committee shall be elected based on the
proposal by the chairman of the General
Meeting to count the votes. The members of
the committee counting the votes shall verify
the results of each vote by countersigning
such results, which must be attached to the
minutes of the General Meeting.

The General Meeting shall adopt resolutions
by at least a three-quarters majerity of votes
cast regarding items listed under Sections 6.3,
and 9(a), (b), (c), (i), (m) and (I) (with the
exception of the election of an independent
Director which requires a S0per cent majority
of the votes cast and certain amendments to
the Management Share Option Plan as
provided for in such Plan, which require the
approval of shareholders representing at least
a three quarter majority of the share capital of
the Company) while on other matters it shall
adopt resolutions by simple majority of votes
cast. The General Meeting may only approve
the de-listing of the shares of the Company
from the BSE (Section 9 (1) if a delisting offer
was made under the BSE Listing Rules, or a
delisting offer was undertaken, provided that
the BSE Listing Rules require to make such
an offer for the de-listing of the shares. If there
is a shareholder who has at least 75 % of the
voting rights in connection with the series that
are subject to the proposed delisting, such
shareholder, in the form of a legal declaration
set forth in a private instrument with full
probative force, can also decide on the
delisting of the shares. Abstention shall not be
considered as a vote cast and shall not affect
the quorum.

The General Meeting shall only adopt a
resolution to amend the provisions contained
in Section 13.5 above which require more
than a three quarter qualified majority of votes
cast by the same percentage of the voles
cast.

One share entitles the holder to one vole. In
case of interim share certificates the voting
right of holders of interim shares will be
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tulajdonosa altal a részvényért a Tarsasdg
részére befizetett dsszeggel.

13.8 A kozgydlésrdl jegyzGkonyvet kell vezetni a
tarsasagi torvény rendelkezéseivel
dsszhangban.

14. . AKdzgydlés elndke

141 A kOzgyllés elndkét a kozgydlésen jeleniévok
kdzil a kozgylles egyszerli szotdbbséggel
véalasztia. Ugyanez az eljaras irdnyadd a
szavazatsz&mlalok és jegyzOkdnyv hitelesitdk
vélasztasara is, azzal, hogy a kozgyilési
jegyzokonyv hitelesitdje csak részvényes, illetve
annak meghataimazottja lehet.

142 A kdzgydlés elnbke kijeloli a
jegyzOkonyvvezetdt, elndkol a tandcskozéson a
napirend alapjan, megadja és megvonja a szét,
elfrendeli a szavazast és ismerteti annak
eredményét, kihirdeti a kdzgy(lés hatarozatait,

IGAZGATOSAG
15.  Igazgatdsag tagjai

15.1 Az lgazgatésag 5-7 tagbol all. Az Igazgatosag
tagjai kdzUl legalabb egy tagot Figgetlen
lgazgatonak kell megvalasztani  azzal, hogy
ezen személy(ek) meg kell, hogy feleljen{ek) az
aldbbi 15.2 pontban foglait feltételeknek. Az
lgazgatdsag tagjait a kozgylilés vélasztia meg
harom (3) éves id6tartamra. Az Igazgatésagi
tagok valasztasanal a kozgylilés koteles
megjeldini, hogy mely igazgatésagi tag(ok)
mindsil{nek) Figgetlen Igazgato(kjnak. Az
lgazgatdsag tagjai megbizatasuk lejarta utan
Ujravalaszthatok. |d8kozi  valaszlassal az
lgazgatosag tagjava vélasziott igazgatdsagi tag
megbizatdsa az Igazgalosadg tobbi tagja
megbizatasanak lejartaig tart.

15.2 Egy személy akkor valaszthatd Flggetlen
lgazgatonak, ha nem tisziségviseldje vagy
alkalmazottja a Tarsasagnak, valamely Tarsult
Véllalkozésanak vagy Leényvallalatanak (a
Tarsult Vallalkozas és a Leanyvallalat fogalmat
a 16.5 pont hatarozza meg)(kiveve azt a tényt,
hogy maga is igazgatdsagi lag), ha nem
tulajdonosa vagy haszonélvezéje a Tarsasag,
valamely ~ Téarsult  Véllalkozasa  vagy
Leanyvéllalata  bérmely részvényfajtsia S
szazalékanak vagy ezt meghaladd mértékben

16/28

13.8

proportional to the percentage which is paid
up by the holders.

Minutes of the General Meeting shall be kept,
according to provisions of the Companies Act.

14. Chairman of the General Meeting

14.1

14.2

The Chairman of the General Meeting is
elected from among the persons present at
the General Meeting by simple majority of the
votes cast. The same applies to election of
persons counting the voles and persons
authenticating the minutes, except that only a
shareholder or its proxy may be appointed to
authenticate the minutes of the meeting.

The Chairman of the General Meeting
appoints the keeper of the minutes, presides
over the meeting on the basis of the agenda,
invites  for speaking or refuses the
shareholder's request for speaking, orders
voling, presents the outcome of voting and
announces resolutions of the General
Meeting.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

15. Members of the Board of Directors

15.1

15.2

The Board of Directors shail consist of 5 to 7
members, at least one of whom shall be
designated as an Independent Director, who
shall qualify as such under Section 15.2
below. Members of the Board of Directors are
elected by the General Meeting for a three-
year period. When electing the Board of
Directors members the General Meeting shall
name the person(s) who wil act as
independent Director(s). Members of the
Board of Directors may be re-elected following
expiry of their term. The term of a member of
the Board of Directors who was appointed by
an interim election shall cease upon the expiry
of the term of the other Board of Directors
members.

A person shall be eligible to be elected as the
"Independent Director” if he or she is not an
officer or employee of the Company or any
Subsidiary or Associated Company of the
Company  (Associated  Company  and
Subsidiary are defined by Section 16.5 below)
(with the exception of his or her Board of
Directors membership) or the legal or
beneficial owner, directly or indirectly through
any Subsidiary or Associated Company, of
Sper cent or more of any class of the
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akar kOzvetlentl akar kozvetve valamely
Leanyvéllalaton vagy Tarsult Vallalkozason
keresztll és ha nem kozeli hozzatartozdja ezen
személyeknek.

Barmelyik részvényes, akinek az alaptéke tobb,
mint 0,5 szazaléka van a tulajdonaban, kérheti

- . az lgazgatosagtol, hogy vegye fel a kdzgyllés

15.4

18.

16.1

napirendjére a  Flggetlen  Igazgato(k)
megvélasztasat vagy visszahivasat. Ebben az
esetben az Igazgatdsag ezt a kérdést koteles az
ilyen kérés kézhezvételét kovetd legkdzelebbi
kdzgyllés napirendjére tizni. Amennyiben az
lgazgatosag az ilyen kérést kevesebb, mint
harom munkanappal a kdvetkezd kozgylles
dsszehivasardl szold hirdetmény megjelenését
megeldzéen kapja kézhez, a szdban forgd
kérést az ezt kovetd kdzgyllés napirendjére kell
felvenni.

Az lgazgatésag sajat tagjai kozill egyszerd
tobbséggel valasztia meg elnokét.

Az Igazgatésag Ugyrendje

Az lgazgatésag maga allapitjia meg szervezeti
és mikodési rendjgt (Ugyrend) a jelen
Alapszabaly keretei k0zott. Az lgazgatosag
akkor hatarozatképes, ha az igazgatosagi tagok
tobbsége, de legalabb harom (3) igazgatosagi
tag jelen van az dlésen vagy az egyéb médon
torténd donteshozatalnal azzal, hogy abban az
esetben, ha az lgazgatosag olyan kérdéseket
targyal, amelyek a 164 pontban foglaltak
szerint a Fuggetlen lgazgatd vagy, adott
esetben, legaldbb egy Figgetien Igazgato
hozzéjarulasat igénylik, az Igazgatdsag csak
akkor hatarozatkepes, ha bizonyithatd, hogy a
Flggetlen igazgatot illetve, adot! esetben a
Figgetlen lgazgatdk mindegyikét az Ulésrél
vagy a jelen 16. pontban meghatérozott mas
dontéshozatalrol az lgazgatosag részére a
Fuggetlen lgazgatok) altal megadott cimen,
telefon-  és telefax szamon megfelelen
értesitettek az Ugyrendben foglalt szabalyokkal
dsszhangban és a Flggetien Igazgatd nem volt,
iletve tobb Figgetlen lgazgaté esetén nem
mindegyikik volt akadélyoztatva az {ilésen

iletve az egyéb dontéshczatalban vald
részvételben, A jelen Alapszabalyban
"akadalyoztatas" valamely cselekmény

elvégzésére vald képtelenséget jelent orvosi
igazoldssal bizonyitott sllyos betegség vagy
mas elharithatatlan esemény (vis maior) miatt,

Az lgazgatdsag Ugyrendiének tartaimaznia kell,

15.3

15.4

Company's or any such Subsidiary's or
Associated Company's capital stock or a
member of the immediate family of any such
person.

Any shareholder holding more than 0.5 per
cent of the share capital shall be entitied to
request the Board of Directors to include on
the agenda for any General Meeting of the
Company the election or dismissal of the {an)
independent Director(s). If so requested, the
Board of Directors shall include such business
on the agenda of the next General Meeting to
be held after the date of receipt of such
request. If such request is received less than

three business days prior to the date of the

notice of such General Meetling, such
business shall be included on the agenda of
the following General Meeting.

The Board of Directors shall elect its
Chairman from among its members by simple
majority of the members of the Board of
Directors.

16. Rules of the Board of Directors

16.1

17128

The Board of Directors shall establish its own
rules of procedure in accordance with the
provisions of these Articles. The Board of
Directors shall have a quorum if the majority
of the Board of Directors members but at least
3 members are present, provided that in the
event the Board of Directors is to discuss
matters which are subject to the affirmative
vote of the (an) Independent Director as set
out in Section 16.4 below, the Board of
Directors shall have a quorum only if it can be
proven that (all of) the Independent Director(s)
was (were) properly notified of the meeting or
other method of discussing the subject matter
{as described in this Section 16) at an
address, telephone and telefax number
provided by the Independent Director(s) to the
Board of Directors in accordance with the
rules of procedure and, further provided that
the Independent Director was not, or, if the
Company has more than one Independent
Directors, not all of them were in a situation of
incapacity preventing him/her (them) from
participating at the meeting or in the other
method of discussion of the subject matter.
For the purposes of these Articles "incapacity"
means being prevented from acting as a result
of a serious sickness evidenced by medical
certificate or as a result of an event of force
major.

The rules of procedure of the Board of
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16.2

16.3

hogy az lIgazgatdsdg dontésehez sziikseges
dokumentumokat az lgazgatésag minden egyes
tagjanak  harom  (3) munkanappal az
lgazgatosag Ulése eldtt meg kell killdeni, kivéve,
ha az lgazgatosag adott tagjaval masként
allapodnak meg. :

Az lgazgatosag Ulését az Igazgatosag elndke
vagy barmely két tagja hivhatja dssze. Az erre
vonatkozd értesitést az (lés napirendjével
egyltt nyolc (8) nappal az (lés idSpontjat
megelzéen kell az erintettekhez eljuttatni,
hacsak az Igazgatosag Ugyrendie masképp
nem rendelkezik. Az Igazgatésag az
lgazgatésag elndkének vagy barmely két
tagjanak kezdeményezésére jogosult irasban,
ilés tartdsa nélkil is hatarozatot hozni. Az
lgazgatésag telefonon is  megtargyalhat
kérdeseket és hozhat hatérozatokat az
Ugyrendben foglaitakkal dsszhangban. A 16.1
pontban  foglalt, a hatarozatképességre
vonatkoz6 rendelkezeseket az ilyen alternativ
dontéshozatali mechanizmusok esetén s
alkalmazni kell, egyébként az ez esetben
kovetendé eljardsi rendet az I|gazgatosag
Ugyrendje tartalmazza. lgazgatosagi (st
negyedévente legalabb egyszer kell tartani.

Az Igazgatosag elndke Gsszehivia és vezeli az
lgazgatosag (lését, kieldli az lgazgatdsagi
lesrél  készitendd jegyzbkdnyv vezetdjét,
elrendeli a szavazast és megallapitia annak
eredményét és ellatia az Ugyrendben foglalt
egyéb feladatokat.

Az  Igazgalosdg  hatédrozatait  egyszerl
szotobbséggel hozza azzal, hogy legalabb egy
Figgellen Igazgatd hozzajarulé szavazata is
szitkséges az alabbiakban meghatérozott tarsult
igyletek jovahagyasahoz, valamint a Tarsasag
részvényeinek  barmely tdzsdérdl  (Grténd
kivezetesére, tovabba a jelen Alapszabalynak a
Fuggetlen igazgato(kira vonatkozé, valamint
egyéb olyan alapszabalyi rendelkezések
moédositasara  vonatkozo  javaslattételhez,
amelyet a kdzgyllésnek az Alapszabaly 13.5
pontja alapjan mindsitelt tobbséggel kell
elfogadnia, kivéve ha a Fuggellen Igazgatd,
iletve adott esetben a Flggellen [gazgatok
mindegyike megfelelden érlesitve volt a 16.1
pontban foglaltakkal dsszhangban, de a
ddntéshozatatban barmely okbd! (ide nem értve
a 16.1 pontban meghalérozolt akadalyoztatast)

16.2

16.3

16.4
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Directors must stipulate that the documents
necessary for the decision of the Board of
Directors must be sent to each member of the
Board of Directors at least 3 business days
prior to the meeting of the Board of Directors,
unless an agreement to the contrary is
reached with a particular member of the Board
of Directors.

The Chairman or any two members of the
Board of Directors shall be entitied to convene
a meeting of the Board of Directors. The
relevant announcement and the agenda must
reach those concerned at least 8 days prior to
the proposed date of meeting, unless the rules
of procedure of the Board of Directors provide
otherwise. The Board of Directors is entitled
to adopt a written resolution upon the proposal
of the Chairman or any other two members of
the Board of Directors in writing without the
necessity to convene a meeting. The Board of
Directors may also discuss matters and bring
a decision over the telephone in accordance
with its rules of procedure. The provisions
regarding the quorum of the Board of
Directors as set out in Section 16.1 shall also
apply to any such alternative decision making
procedure and the detailed rules of this
procedure shall be regulated by the rules of
procedure of the Board of Directors. Board of
Directors meetings shall be held at minimum
once every three months.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall
convene and chair the meetings of the Board
of Directors, assign the person who keeps
minutes of the meeting, order voting,
announce the results and perform all other
duties prescribed by the rules of procedure of
the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors shall adopt resolutions
by simple majority, provided that, the
affirmative vote of at least one Independent
Director is also required to approve related
parly transactions as defined below, and any
recommendation to the General Meeting
regarding the de-listing of shares of the
Company from any stock exchange or the
modification of any provisions of these Articles
relating to the Independent Director(s) cr any
resolution which is required to be adopted by
a qualified majority of the votes, as described
in Section 13.5, except if the Independent
Director was or if it is the case, all of the
Independent Directors were properly notified
in accordance with Section 16.1 but not
participating in the decision making process
for reasons cther than as a result of incapacity
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nem vesz, illetve tobb Flggetlen Igazgatd
esetén legalabb egyikik nem vesz reészt
Szavazategyenldség esetén az elndk szavazata
dont.

Amennyiben az Igazgatésag tagja személyesen
vagy egy vallalkozason vagy befektetésen

» . keresztill, kdzvetve vagy kozvellend! érdekelt

18.5

vagy feltehetden elfogult egy  (ggyel
kapcsolatban, az a tag az adott Uggyel
kapcsolatban nem szavazhat.

A jelen Alapszabalyban a "tarsult lgylet' a
Tarsasdg és a Tarsasagban 33 %-os mértéket
meghaladé befolyassal rendelkezé részvényes
("Meglévd Ellendrzd Reészvényes") vagy a
Térsasag alabbiakban meghatarozott jelentds
részvényese vagy a Téarsasdg és a Meglévd
Ellen6rz8 Részvényes vagy mas jelentds
részvényes viszonylataban Térsult Személynek
mindsilé személy kozdtt kdtendé igyleteket
jelenti. A jelen Alapszabalyban ‘jelentfs
részvényes" olyan személyt jelent, aki a
Térsasagban 25%-0s mértéket meghaladd
befolyassal rendelkezik.

Az lgazgatdség koteles biztositani, hogy a
Térsasag és annak barmely részvényese, illetve
a Tarsasag és annak, illetve részvényeseinek
Térsult Személyei kozott kotendd (gyletek
tisztességes piaci alapon kialkudott feltételeket
tartalmaznak és ezen az alapon keriinek
teljesitésre is.

A jelen Alapszabaly szempontjabdl “"Tarsult
Személynek" mindsil a maganszemély esetén
annak a Polgari Toérvénykdnyv 685. § b)
pontjdban meghatarozott kozeli hozzatartozdja
vagy barmely mas személy vagy személyek,
akik  valamely  (irésos vagy  szlbel)
megéallapodas alapjan aktivan egyittmikodnek
az adott maganszeméilyel a Tarsasagban
megleve részvénytulajdonukon keresztil vagy
ilyen megszerzésével annak érdekében, hogy a
Tarsasag iranyitasa felett ellendrzési jogot
szerezzenek  vagy azt ilyen  mddon
konszolidaljak.

A jelen Alapszabdly szempontjabdl szervezet
(barmely jogi személy vagy gazdasagi tarsasag,
ideérive a jogi személyiség nélkilli gazdasagi
tarsasagokat is; a tovabbiakban: “tarsasag”)
eselében Tarsult Személynek mindsil az a
személy vagy tarsasag,

(i) amely legalabb 15 szazalékos
Erdekeltséggel rendelkezik a tarsasagban;

vagy

16.5.
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as defined in Section 16.1. In case of a tie
vote, the vote of the Chairman shall decide.

If a member of the Board of Directors is
personally or directly or indirectly through a
business or investment, is interested, or
foreseeable biased in the outcome of a matter
he/she shall not be entitled to vote in
connection with that matter.

For the purpose of these Articles a "related
party transaction” means a transaction
between the Company and the shareholder
having influence in the Company exceeding
33% ('Existing Controlling Shareholder") or
any other significant shareholder of the
Company (as defined below) or between the
Company and any Asscciated Person in
relaion to  the Existing  Controlling
Sharehoider or any other significant
shareholder of the Company. For the
purposes of these Articles, a "significant
shareholder” means a person who has an
influence in the Company exceeding 25%.

The Board of Directors shall make sure that
any transaction to be entered into between the
Company and any of its shareholders or
between the Company and its or ils
shareholders' Associated Persons contains
arms length conditions and is performed on
such basis.

For the purposes of these Articles "Associated
Person" means, in case of an individual, the
close relatives of the individual, as defined in
Section 685 b of the Civil Code or any person
or persons who, pursuant to an agreement or
understanding (whether formal or informal)
actively cooperate with the individual through
the holding or acquisition by any of them of
shares in the Company fo obtain or
consolidate control of the Company.

For the purposes of these Aricles
"Associated Person" means in case of a body
corporate (be it a legal person or a company
without legal personality) a person or body
corporate

(i) who owns at least a 15 per cent
Interest in the body corporate; or
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{ii) amely Lényeges Befolyassal bir a
tarsasag makédésére; vagy

(iii) amely valasztott vezeld
tisziségviseléje vagy elsd szadmi
vezetdje vagy képviseldje annak a
tarsasagnak, amely a fenti 16.5 (i)
€s (i) pontok alapjan Tarsult
Személynek mindsiil; vagy

(iv) amelyben a tarsasag legalabb 15
szazalékos Erdekeltséggel
rendelkezik; vagy

(v) amelynek mikddésére a tarsasag
Lényeges Befolyassal bir; vagy

(vi) amely a tarsasdg  Térsult
Vallalkozésa; vagy

{vil) amely valamely (irasos vagy
szobel) megéllapodas alapjan
aktivan egylttmikodik az adott
tarsasdggal a  Téarsasagban
meglévé részvénytulajdonan
keresztll vagy ilyen
megszerzésével annak érdekében,
hogy a Tarsasag iranyitasa felett
ellenbrzési jogot szerezzen vagy
aztilyen modon konszolidalja.

"Erdekeltség” jelenti azt, ha valaki egy
tarsasdghan  szavazati jogot biztositd
tulajdonhanyaddal rendelkezik.

"Lényeges Befolyas” az adolt tarsasag
iranyitasanak, ellendrzésének jogat jelenti
oly mddon, hogy a tarsasag alapszabélya,
tarsasagi szerz8dése vagy alapitd okirata
(vagy mas olyan szerzGdése, amelybea a
tarsasag félként szerepel) értelmében képes
a tdrsasag egy vagy tobb vezeld
tisztségviseljét kijeldini vagy ha valaki a
tarsasag dontéseihez szukséges egyetértési
joggal rendelkezik.

A jelen Alapszabalyban a "Tarsult
Vallalkozasra" vonatkozd hivatkozasok egy
adott tarsasag vonatkozasdban azt a
tarsasagot jelentik, amely annak Holding
Véllalata vagy az adott tarsasagnak, illetve
Holding Vallalatanak a Leanyvallalata. Ezen
meghatarozasok tartalma a kdvetkezd:

Egy adott tarsasag egy méasik tarsasagnak,
iletve Holding Véllalatnak a Leanyvallalata,
ha ez a masik tarsasag:
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(i) who has a Material Influence on
the operation of the body
corporate; or

{iii) who is the elected senior official
or, chief executive officer or
representative  of a  body
corporate which is a Associated
Person by virtue of Sections 16
(5) (i) and (ii) above; or

{iv) in which the body corporate owns
at least a 15 per cent Interest; or

v) over which the body corporate
has a Material Influence on its
operations; or

{vi) which is an Associated Company
of the bedy corporate; or

{vii) who, pursuant to an agreement or
understanding (whether formal or
informal), aclively co-operates
with the body corporate through
the holding or acquisition by any
of them of shares in the Company
to obtain or consolidate, controf of
the Company.

An "Interest" exists if a person owns shares in
a company, which carry with them a right to
vote.

"Material Influence” means if a person has the
right to manage and control a company either
by an ability to appoint one or more senior
officers of the company under the constitution
of the company or under any contract to which
the company is a party or otherwise or if a
person has a consenting right which is
required for the decisions of a company.

References in these Articles to "Associated
Company" mean in relalion to a company, a
company, which is its Holding Company or a
Subsidiary of it or of its Holding Company, as
these terms are defined below.

A company is a "Subsidiary" of another
company, or its "Holding Company”, if that
other company:
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16.6

(i) a szavazati jogok tobbségével
rendelkezik az adott tarsasagban;
vagy

(i) az adott tarsasag tagja s képes a
vezetd tisztségviseldk
tobbségének  megvélasztasardl

vagy visszahivasardl sz06 déntést
kieszkdzdlni; vagy
(iii) az adott tarsasag tagja és egyedul
vagy mas részvényesekkel vagy

tagokkal Kkotott megéllapodasa
alapjdn, a szavazali  jogok
tobbsége  felett  ellendrzést

gyakorol az adott tarsasagban,

vagy ha az adott tarsasag egy olyan
larsasédg Leanyvallalata, amely maga is
ennek a masik tarsasagnak a Leanyvallalata.

Bérmelyik Fiiggetlen Igazgatd a szavazatok
1710-6t  képviseld .részvényesek  irasbeli
kérelmere, a kérés kézhezvételétdl szamitott
tizendt (15) napon belll kételes a Tarsaség
szervezetével vagy milkddésevel kapcsolatos

barmely (gyet megvizsgalni. Barmelyik
Figgellen  Igazgatd  jogosult a  sajét
kezdeményezésére is  ilyen  vizsgalatot

lefolytatni. Barmely Fliggetlen Igazgatd ezen
felnataimazasa keretében jogosult a Téarsasag
konyveit megvizsgalni és az Igazgatosag, a
Feligyel6  Bizottsag  tagjaival és a
kdnyvvizsgaloval, valamint a Tarsasag barmely
alkalmazottjaval megbeszéléseket folytatni. Az
lgazgatdsag tagjai kotelesek minden segitséget
megadni a Fuggetlen lgazgatd(k) részére ezen
eljarasa lefolytatasahoz. A vizsgalat eredményét
jelentés formajaban az Igazgatosag elé kell
terjeszteni. Az Igazgatosag a jelentés
kézhezvételetdl szamitott harminc (30) napon
belll hatéroz a jelentésrdl.

Barmelyik Fuggetlen Igazgatd jogosult a kdzgydlésen

16.7

beszamolni  barmely olyan kérdésben, ami
megitelese szerint a részvényesek
tajékoztatasa szempontjabdl sziikséges.

A Tarsasag vezérigazgatojanak kinevezésérél

és visszahivasarol az lgazgatdsag dént. A
vezérigazgatd az  lgazgatdsagtdl  kapott
felhatalmazas alapjan jogosult a Térsasag
dolgozdi felett a munkaitatoi jogok gyakorlasara,
mely jogat a Tarsasag Szervezeti és Miikddési
Szabalyzataban foglalt keretek kozétt és
feltételekkel a Tarsasag egyes alkalmazottaira
atruhazhatja.

16.6

16.7
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(i) holds a majority of the voting rights
init; or

(i)  is a member of it and has the right
to appoint or remove a majority of its
Board of Directors; or

is a member of it and controls alone,
or pursuant to an agreement with
other shareholders or members, a
majority of the voting rights in it;

(i)

or if it is a Subsidiary of a company which is
itself a Subsidiary of that other company.

Any Independent Director, within 15 days from
the date it receives the written request, shall
gxamine any corporate or business issue if -
shareholders representing at least one-tenth
of the votes of the Company so request. Any
Independent Director shall have the right to
conduct such examination at his or her
initiative at any time. Within this authorization,
any Independent Director shall have the right
to investigate the records of the Company and
prepare interviews with members of the Board
of Directors, the Supervisory Board and the
Auditor and any employee of the Company
and the members of the Board of Directors
shall use their best efforts in giving their
support to the Independent Director in this
procedure. The results of the investigation
shall be submitted in the form of a report to
the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors shall make a decision or statement
whichever is appropriate about the submitted
report within 30 days from the date it receives
the report.

The Independent Director shall be entitled to
report to the General Meeting on any matters,
which he or she considers should be brought
to the attention of shareholders.

The Board of Direclors shall decide on the
appointment and dismissal of the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and shall
exercise the employer's rights over the Chief
Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer
shall have the right to exercise the employer's
rights based on the authorization of the Board
of Directors, which right may be transferred to
certain other employees of the Company
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17. Az lgazgat6sag hataskore és feladatai

17.1 Az lgazgatdsadg hataskdre és feladatai a

~ . kOvetkezbk:

(a)

a jelen Alapszabaly ‘9. pontjaban
felsorolt, a kdzgy(lés kizardlagos
hataskorébe  tartozd  (gyekre
vonatkozd javaslatok elkészitése
és kdzgyilés elé terjesztése;

a  Cégbirosadghoz  intézendd

bejelentések megtétele;

a Tarsasag Szervezeli és
Mdkodési Szabalyzatanak
elfogadésa;

gondoskodas a Tarsasag Uzleti
kényveinek vezetésérd!;

déntés és intézkedés mindazon a
kérdésekben,  amelyek  nem
tartoznak a kdzgyllés kizardlagos
hataskdrébe;

dbntés a Tarsasag éves és
kézéptava konszolidalt terveirdl;

a Tarsasag vezérigazgatojanak, az

Operacios vezérigazgato-
helyettesnek és a pénzigyi
vezérigazgalo-helyettesnek a

kinevezése, visszahivasa tovabba
hataskdrének és  bérezésének
meghatarozasa,

a Tarsasag dolgozdi cégjegyzési
jogosultsaganak meghatarozasa a
jelen Alapszabaly 22. pontjaval
dsszhangban;

dontés az 0] részvényesek
Részvénykdnyvbe torténd
bejegyzésérdl;

a jelen Alapszabaly 8.5 pontja
szerint jogosult és kdteles a
nyilvanos vételi gjanlatot
véleményezni;

a vezetli részvény programmal
osszhangban a jogosult személy

subject to the restrictions and in accordance
with the provisions of the Organizational and
Operational Rules of the Company.

17. Powers and duties of the Board of Directors

171 The Board of Directors shall have the
following powers and duties:

(a)

22128

making proposals concerning issues
falling within the exclusive scope of
authority of the General Meeting
according to Section 9 of these
Articles, and presenting them to the
General Meeting;

submission of documents and
reports to the Court of Registration;

adoption of the Organizational and
Operational Rules of the Company;

keeping of financial records of the
Company;

decision on any issue and carrying
out any duties not falling within the
exclusive competence of the
General Meeting;

decision on the Company's
consolidated annual and medium-
term plan;

appointment and dismissal as well
as determination of the authority
and remuneration of the Chief
Executive Officer, The  Chief
Operational Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company;

authorization of employees of the
Company to sign on behalf of the
Company in accordance  with
Section 22 of these Articles;

decision on registration of new
shareholders in the Register of
Shares;

obliged and entitied, in accordance
with Section 8.5 , to give its opinion
on the public purchase offer;

offering to eligible persons the
option to acquire shares in
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részére jogosultsag felajanlasa
reszvenyek jegyzesére,

0] a részvényosztalék programmal
osszhangban valasztasi lehetbség
felajanlasa a részvényeseknek
arra nézve, hogy az osztalékot
részvenyek  formdjdban  vagy
készpénzben keérik;

{m) dontés alaptoke emelésrél a 17.2
pontban foglaltakkal 6sszhangban;

{n) a 16.4 pontban meghatarozott
tarsult  Ggyletek  jovahagyasa
(amennyiben az adott lgylethez a
tarsasagi  térvény alapjdn a
kdzgytlés vagy a Fellgyeld
Bizottsag jdvahagyasa szikséges,
akkor azt a jovahagyast is be kell
szerezni);

(0)  negyedévente a  Feliigyeld
Bizottsag, évente pedig a
kozgylilés  reszére  jelentés
készitése az (gyvezetésrdl, a
Tarsasag vagyoni helyzetérdl es
izletpolitikajardl;

(p) a jelen Alapszabaly egyeb
rendelkezéseiben és a vonatkozd
jogszabalyokban  meghatarozott
egyéb kotelezettségek teljesitése
£s jogok gyakorlasa;

) a Tarsasag izleti  évének
meghatarozasa; és

{n a Tarsasag kizarolagos tulajdonaban
lévé Leanyvallalatok  fol6tti
tulajdonosi jogok gyakorlasa.

172 Az Alapszabaly ezennel felhatalmazza az

lgazgatosagot arra, hogy a Tarsasag
alaptdkejét 1999, oktober 4-16l évente az adott
egy éves periddus elsdé napjan bejegyzett
alaptéke maximum 25 szazalékaval felemele,
amely felhatalmazéds 2004, oktéber 3-ig
érvényes. Az  alaptbke-emeléshez az
Igazgatosag kétharmados tobbséggel elfogadott
hatarozatara van szikség. Az lgazgatdsag nem
jogosult  Uj  részvénysorozathoz  tartozd
részvények kibocsatasat elrendelni. Az
lgazgatdsag ezen alaptdke-emeléseknel sajat
hataskdrén  belll jogosult meghozni a
szlikséges  hatdrozatokal, az  alaptSke
emeléshez szlkséges dokumentumokat alairni
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accordance with the Management
Share Option Plan of the Company;

0] offering to shareholders the option
to receive their dividends in shares
or in cash in accordance with the
Stock Dividend Plan of the
Company;

(m)  decision concerning share capital
increase in accordance with Section
17.2 below;

(n)  approval of related  party
transactions as defined in Section
16.4 (if such transaction requires the
approval of the General Meeting or
the  Supervisory Board in
accordance with the Companies
Act, than such approval must also
be obtained);

(o)  preparation of a report quarterly to
the Supervisory Board and annually
to the General Meeting on the
management, financial condition
and business policy of the
Company;

{(p)  performing obligations and
exercising rights set out in other
Sections of these Articles or by faw;

(q) determining the Financial year of
the Company; and

n exercising the ownership rights over
the Subsidiaries that are in the
exclusive  ownership of the
Company.

17.2 The Articles of Association authorize the

Board of Directors to increase the Company's
share capital from 4 October 1999 yearly up to
a maximum of 25 per cent of the share capital
registered on the first day of the yearly period
in question such authorization is valid until 3
October 2004. The Board of Directors shall
approve the resolution by a two-third qualified
majority to increase the registered capital. The
Board of Directors is not authorized to issue a
new series of shares. The Board of Directors
within its power lo increase the share capital
is authorized to bring all necessary resolutions
and submit to the Court of Registration the
documents relating to the increase and to



* ALAPSZABALY

\"N AB I *: ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

és szerz8déseket megkdtni, valamint benyujtani
az alaptéke emeléssel kapcsolatos
dokumentumokat a Cégbirésaghoz.

FELUGYELO BIZOTTSAG

18.

.

18.1

18.2

18.3

18.4

19.

19.1

A Fellgyeld Bizottsag tagjai

A Felugyeld Bizottsag 3-7 tagbdl all, tagjait a
dolgozék &ltal valasztott tag kivételével a
kdzgydles valasztia meg hérom (3) éves
idStartamra. 1dokdzi valasztassal valasztott
felligyeld bizottségi tag megbizatasa a
Felligyeld Bizottsag tagjai megbizatasanak
lejartaig tart.

A Feligyeld Bizottsag tagjai maguk kdzdl
egyszerd szotdbbséggel elndkét valasztanak.

A Feliigyeld Bizottsag elndke &sszehivia és
vezeli a Feliigyeld Bizottsag Uléseit, kijeldli a
jegyzékonyvvezetdt, elrendeli a szavazast és
megallapitja annak eredményét.

A Felagyell Bizottsag llését annak barmely
tagja is &sszehivhatia az ok és a cél
megjelbiésével, ha ez iranyu kéréstiket az elndk
nyolc (8) napon belll nem teljesiti.

A Felugyeld Bizottsag hataskére és feladatai

A Feliigyeld Bizottsag hataskére és feladatai a
kovetkezdk:

(a) 4 kbzgylles elé terjesztendd
valamennyi  fontos  jelentés,
tovabba a pénzlgyi jelentések
(mérleg, eredménykimutatds és
cash-flow kimutatas)
megvizsgalasa és arrdl jelentés
tetele a kdzgy(lésnek;

{b) a kbzgylilés haladéktalan
Osszehivasa abban az esetben, ha
a jogszabalyokba vagy a jelen
Alapszabalyba tkozé
intézkedéseket vagy a Tarsasag
érdekeit  sértd  mulaszltasokat
avagy visszaéléseket tapasztal;

(c) a Tarsasag vezetésének

enter into contracts and sign documents which
pertain to such share capital increase.

SUPERVISORY BOARD

18.

181

18.2

18.3

18.4

19

191
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Members of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board shall consist of 3 - 7
members, who shall be elected by the
General Meeting (except for the employee
delegated member) for a term of three years.
The term of a member of the Supervisory
Board elected as a member of the
Supervisory Board through an interim election
shall be extended to the date of expiry of the
term of the members of the Supervisory
Board.

The Supervisory Board shall elect a chairman
from among its members by majority votes.

The chairman of the Supervisory Board
convenes and presides over the meetings of
the Supervisory Board, assigns the person
who keeps the minutes of the meetings,
orders voting and determines the outcome of
voting.

Any member of the Supervisory Board may
convene a meeting of the Supervisory Board
by indicating the reason and objective, if their
relevant request is not safisfied by the
chairman within 8 days.

Powers and duties of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board shall have the
following powers and duties:

(a) reviewing each important report
submitted to the General Meeting,
examination of the financial
statements  (balence  sheet
figures, profit and loss statement
and cash flow statement), and
submission of a relevant report to
the General Meeting;

{b) convening a General Meeting
without delay in case measures
taken by the Company in
contravention of laws or these
Articles, or defaulyabuse of
authority within the Company is
revealed that interfere with the
Company's interest;

(c) controlling of Company
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fellgyelete; és

(d) a jogszabalyokban és a jelen
Alapszabalyban  elGirt  egyéb
feladatainak ellatasa.

19.2 A Feligyeld Bizottsag maga &llapita meg
*. Ugyrendjét és azt a kdzgyllés elé terjeszti

jovahagyasra.

KONYWVIZSGALO

20. A Téarsasagnal egy kdnywvizsgald mlkodik. A
kénywizsgald megbizataisa harom  éves
idotartamra szdl.

21, Akonywvizsgalo hataskére és feladatai

(a) a Téarsasdg (zleti kényveinek
ellendrzése;

{b) a Térsasag szamviteli t6rvény
szerinti  beszadmoldjanak és az
adézott eredmény felhasznalaséra
vonatkozd igazgatdsagi javaslat
megvizsgalasardl szold jelentés
elkészitése,

(¢) a jogszabélyokban és a jelen
Alapszabalyban meghatarozott
egyéb kotelezettségek teljesitése.

A TARSASAG CEGJEGYZESE
22.  ATarsasag cégjegyzésére jogosultak

2) az lgazgatosag eindke és a vezér-
igazgatt Snalldan;

{b) két igazgatdsagi tag egylttesen;

{c) az lgazgatosag barmely tagja (ide
nem értve az aj pontban foglalt
esetet) egy erre felhataimazott
tarsasagi alkalmazottal
egyuttesen;

(d) az  lgazgatdsdg  ltal  erre
felhatalmazolt  két  tarsasagi
alkalmazott egylttesen.

23. A Tarsasag cégjegyzése akként térténik, hogy a

géppel vagy kézzel eldirt, eldnyomtatott cégnév

ala a jegyzésre jogosult személy, illetve

management; and

{d) other duties as stipulated by
these Articles of Association and
the law.

19.2 The Supervisory Board shall adopt its own

rules of procedure and shall submit them to
the General Meeting for approval.

THE AUDITOR

20.

21,

(@)

The Company shall have one Auditer elected
for three years.

Powers and duties of the Auditor.
The Auditor shall have the following powers
and duties:

supervision of Company records;

preparation of a report on the examination of
the annual financial report of the Company
prepared in accordance with the Accounting
Act and the proposal of the Board of
Directors on the appropriation of after-tax
profits; and

other duties as stipulated by these Articles of
Association and the law.

SIGNING ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY

22,

23.

25128

The following persons shall be entitled to sign

on behalf of the Company:

(a) the Chairman of the of Directors
or the Chief Executive Officer
individually;

(b) two other Board of Directors
members jointly;

(c) any Board of Directors member

(other than those described in 24
a) above) together with a duly
authorized Company employee;

(d) two  Company  employees
together, if duly authorized by
the Board of Directors.

The authorized person or persons shall join
his/their own signatures to the pre-written,
pre-typed or pre-printed official name of the
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személyek, a hiteles cégaldirasi nyilatkozat
szerinti sajat névalairasukat csatoljak.

A PENZUGYI JELENTESEK JOVAHAGYASA
ES A NYERESEG FELOSZTASA

24

28.

26.

27.

28.

28.

30.

A Tarsasag uzleti éve januar 1-t8l december 31-
ig tart.

Minden pénzigyi év végét kdvetd négy (4)
honapon belil a Tarsasagra vonatkozo
pénziigyi jelentést (mérleget,
eredménykimutatast és cash-flow kimutatast) el
kell késziteni angol és magyar nyelven a
magyar (mind konszolidalt, mind pedig nem
konszolidalt formaban), valamint az egyesiilt
atlamok-beli szamviteli szabalyok ("US GAAP")
szerint konszolidalt formaban. A Tarsasag
szintén  koteles negyedéves  konszolidalt
pénziigyi jelentést késziteni a US GAAP szerint.
A Térsasag tfovabba elkésziti a Tpt. altal
meghatarozott jelentéseket, valamint azon
tozsde &ltal eldirt pénzlgyi jelentéseket,
amelyre a Tarsasdg részvenyei bevezetésre
kerltek.

Az alaptéke terhére a részvényeseknek
osztalékot vagy kamatot megéllapitani vagy
fizetni nem szabad.

Osztalékra  azok  jogosultak, akik a
Részvénykdnyvben az osztalékfizetés
kezddnapjan részvenyesként szerepelnek 2
tarsasagi torvénnyel, a jelen Alapszaballyal és a
KELER szabalyzataival 6sszhangban. A fel nem
velt osztalék kovetelésére valo jog az osztalék
esedékességétdl szamitott 6t év elteltével évil

el,

Az osztalékfizetés kezdbnapja az osztalékot
megaliapitd évi rendes kézgyllés napjat kovetd
21. munkanap.

Az lgazgatosag dontésének flggvényében a
részvényesek jogosultak az Oket megilletd
osztalekot részvények forméjaban kérni, amely
eselben az Igazgatosag a Tarsasag alapiokéjét
a 17.2 pontban foglaltaknak megfeleléen
felemeli.

A Tarsasag (a részvényosztalék esetét kivéve)
az osztalékot banki, postai alutaldssal vagy
készpénzben fizeli ki. A Tarsasag a banki,
postai atutalast a részvényes (k&z0s képviseld)
vagy az allala megjeldlt személy(ek) részére

APPROVAL  OF

Company the same way as his/their signature
is certified by a notary and submitted to
the Court of Registration for registration.

THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND DISTRIBUTION OF
PROFIT

24,

25.

26.

21

28,

29.

30.

26128

The business year of the Company extends
from 1 January until 31 December.

Within four {4) months from the end of each
business year financial statements (balance
sheet, profit and loss statement and cash-flow
statement) must be drawn up both in English
and Hungarian in accordance with Hungarian
accounting laws (both consolidated and
unconsolidated) and US GAAP (consolidated).
In additicn the Company shall prepare
quarterly consolidated financial statements in
accordance with US GAAP. The Company
shall also prepare the relevant reports
required by the Capital Market Act and such
interim financial statements as are required by
any stock exchange on which its shares are
listed.

No dividend or interest shall be provided or
paid to shareholders from the share capital.

Those sharehalders are entitled to dividends
who are registered in the Register of Shares
as shareholders on the commencement date
of the payment of dividend in accordance with
the Companies Act, these Articles and the
rules of KELER. The right to unclaimed
dividends shall lapse in five years following its
due date.

The commencement date of the payment of
dividend shall be the 21t business day
following the Annual General Meeting
declaring the dividend.

At the discretion of the Board of Directors
shareholders may be offered the opportunity
to receive their dividends in the form of shares
in which case the Board of Directors shall
increase the share capital of the Company in
accordance with Section 17.2.

With the exception of dividends paid in
shares, dividends shall be paid by the
Company by bank remittance, postal transfer
or in cash. The Company shall make out (or
have it made out) the remittance, postal order
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teljesiti a részvényesnek a Részvenykdnyvben
feltintetett cimére vagy mas, a részvényes altal
megjeldlt cimre vagy a részvényes Altal
megjeldit bankszamléra, Az osztalék dsszegét a
Tarsasag pénztaranal személyesen is at lehet
venni, ha ilyen szandékrdl a részvényes az
esedékességet  megeldz6en  legaldbb 8

~ . munkanappal irasban értesitette a Tarsasagot.

31

Az osztaléknak a részvényes altal torténd
késedelmes felvétele mialt a Téarsasagot
kamatfizetési kdtelezettség nem terheli,

HIRDETMENYEK

32

33.

Amennyiben jogszabély kifejezetten mast nem
ir el6, a Tarsasag a hirdetményeit a Magyar
T6kepiac cimi orszégos napilapban egy izben,
valamint a Budapesti Ertéki6zsde www.bet.hy,
valamint a Tarsasadg www.nabihu cimen
elérhetd Internet honlapjan teszi kbzze.

A jelen Alapszabalybdl eredf, a részvényesek
kozdtt vagy a részvényesek és a Téarsaség
kdzott felmerlld valamennyi jogvita elddntésére
a Tarsasag és a részvényesek alavetik magukat
a Magyar Kereskedelmi és Iparkamara mellett
szervezett Allandd Valasztottbirosag, Budapest
kizérolagos  dontésének azzal, hogy a
Vélasztottbirdsag a sajat Eljarasi Szabalyzata
szerint jar el.

A TARSASAG MEGSZUNESE,
VEGELSZAMOLAS

34.

A Tarsasag megszlnik, ha

(a) a kozgy(ilés elhatarozza jogutdd
nelkili megszinését;

(b) a Tarsasdg mas tarsasaggal
egyesul, abba beolvad, szétvalik
vagy mas tarsasagi forméba
atalakul;

(c) a  Cégbirdsag
nyilvanitja; vagy

megsz(intnek

(d) a birdsdg felszamolasi eljaras

31,

to the shareholder (joint representative) or of
the person(s) indicated by the shareholder
and shall send them to the address of the
shareholder indicated in the Register of
Shares or to any other address specified by
the shareholder, or to the bank account
indicated by the shareholder. The sum of the
dividend also can be obtained personally at
the cashier's office of the Company, if the
shareholder notified the Company in writing at
least 8 business days before the dividends
become due of his intention.

The Company shall not be obliged to pay
interest on dividends if the shareholder takes
the dividends after the due date.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

32.

33.

Unless the law stipulates otherwise, the
Company shall publish its announcements in
the natonal daily newspaper Magyar
Toékepiac once, and also on the Internet
homepage of the Budapest Stock Exchange
available at wwwbsehu or the internet
homepage of the Company available at
www.nabi.hu .

In case of each and every legal dispute arising
from these Articles between the shareholders
or between the shareholders and the
Company, the parties submit themselves to
the exclusive authority of the Permanent
Arbitration  attached to the Hungarian
Chamber of Industry and Trade which acts in
accordance with its own Rules of Procedure,

WINDING UP OF THE COMPANY

34,

27128

The Company shall cease to exist if

(a8) .the General Meeting decides to
cease operation without having a
legal successor,

(b}  the Company merges with another
company, becomes a part of
another company, dissolves or is
transformed into another company
form;

{c)  the Court of Registration declares
the Company as having ceased to
exist;

(d)  the court dissclves the Company
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soran megszunteti. in the course of liquidation
proceedings.

35 Ha a Tarsasdg felszamolasi  vagy 35. In case the Company ceases to exist due to
végelszamolasi eljdras sordn megszinik, a liquidation or winding-up, the part of the
részvényes a  felszamolds vagy a proceeds of such liquidation or winding-up
végelszamolas  eredményeként  jelentkezd remaining after satisfaction of claims against

- feloszthatd vagyon részvényeivel aranyos the Company shall be apportioned among the
hanyadara jogosult. shareholders in proportion to their shares in

the share capital of the Company.

Ellenjegyezte: Countersigned by:

L

M“m“ﬁé’mﬁrﬁaku&mm
i Wédilroda
062 at 102,

Tel: 302 3330 Fex: 302 333]
Dx. Siegler Koaréq
Ogyved
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